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GLOSSARY 
OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ACFO Acting Chief Financial Officer
AFS Annual Financial Statements
AGM Annual General Meeting
AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
ARC Audit and Risk Committee
B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
CAE Chief Audit Executive
CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
Co-Act Companies Act 71 of 2008
CSI Corporate Social Investment
DAFF Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
DIFR Disabling Injury Frequency Rate
DPE Department of Public Enterprise
DRDLR Department of Rural Development and Land Reform
EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation
ECD Early Childhood Development
EE Employment Equity
ESD Enterprise and Supplier Development
FITP Forestry Industrial Technology Park
FP&M SETA Fibre Processing and Manufacturing Sector Education and Training 

Authority
FSC® Forest Stewardship Council®
GROUP SAFCOL, together with its subsidiaries, namely, Abacus SOC Ltd, Kam-

hlabane SOC Ltd and KLF SOC Ltd with its subsidiary, IFLOMA.
ha hectare(s)
HC Human Capital
HRIS Human Resources Information System
ICT Information and Communication Technology
IFLOMA Indústrias Florestais de Manica, SARL
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
IGEPE Instituto de Gestão das Participações do Estado

IPAP Industrial Policy Action Plan
IR Integrated Report
ISO International Organization for Standardization
JCF Joint Community Forum
KLF Komatiland Forests SOC Ltd
KPA Key Performance Area
KPI Key Performance Indicator
KZN KwaZulu-Natal
L&D Learning and Development
LMS Learner Management System
MSFA Management of State Forests Act (No 128 of 1992)
MoI Memorandum of Incorporation
MoU Memorandum of Understanding
NDP National Development Plan
NFA National Forests Act (No. 84 of 1998).
NGP New Growth Path
NSF National Skills Fund
NT National Treasury
OD Operational Enablement

PEFC Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification

PFMA Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999
PWD People with Disabilities
R&D Research and Development
SAFCOL South African Forestry Company SOC Limited, also referred to as the 

Company
SAFFCAWU South African Forestry Farming, Catering and Allied Workers Union
SETA Sector Education and Training Authority
SHEQ Safety, Health, Environmental and Quality
SINTAF Sindicato Nacional dos Trabalhadores Agropecuos e Florestais
SMF Significance and Materiality Framework
SOC State Owned Company
TU Temporarily Unplanted Area
TUP Temporarily Unplanted Percentage
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S AFCOL’s Integrated Report is prepared based on the principles contained 

in the International Integrated Reporting Framework published by the 

International Integrated Reporting Council, some elements of the National 

Treasury Annual Report Guide for Public Entities and the King IV Report on 

Corporate Governance for South Africa (2016). 

A.1.  Scope
This Integrated Report presents the financial, technical, operational, social and 

environmental performance of the company for the 2019/20 financial year (1 April 

2019 to 31 March 2020). Our progress towards integrated thinking is reflected in 

our performance indicators that cover financial and non-financial matters, as well 

as our strategy, material matters and associated risks. This Report should be read 

in conjunction with our full set of Annual Financial Statements (AFS) as this offers a 

comprehensive overview of our financial performance. The information contained 

herein refers to the performance of SAFCOL, which includes the Komatiland Forests 

SOC Ltd and its subsidiary operations of Indústrias Florestais de Manica, SARL, based 

in Mozambique.

A.2.  Forward-Looking Statements
This Intergrated Report may contain certain forward-looking statements that are 

neither reported financial results nor based on historical fact, but constitute current 

expectations based on reasonable assumptions, data or methods, and are not a 

guarantee of future results. These forward-looking statements are, by their nature, 

subject to significant known or unknown risks and uncertainties. They include, without 

limitation, statements relating to SAFCOL’s business prospects, future developments, 

trends and conditions in the forestry and related industries and geographical markets 

in which we operate. SAFCOL neither intends to, nor assumes an obligation to update 

or revise any forward-looking statements, arising from either new information, future 

events or otherwise. 

A.3.  Assurance Providers
SAFCOL’s assurance is provided to the Board of Directors by management, internal and 

external assurance providers which include:

a) SAFCOL Risk, Compliance and SHEQ functions

b) SAFCOL Internal Audit function

c) Independent Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment verification agencies

d) Forest Stewardship Council® Certification

e) Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA).

A.4.  Board Responsibility and Approval
The Board is accountable for the integrity and completeness of the Integrated Report 

and any supplementary information, and is supported by various Board Committees.

The Board approved the 2019/20 Integrated Report and Annual Financial Statements 

on the  08th of December 2020, after having considered the completeness of the 

material items dealt with and the reliability of information presented and the 

assurance process followed. The consolidated financial statements were prepared and 

audited in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as well as the 

requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of 1999 and Companies Act of 

2008.

ABOUT
THE REPORT
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public enterprises public enterprises

B.1.  Who we are 

SAFCOL was established in 1992, under the Management of State Forests Act No. 128 of 1992 (MSFA). In terms of Section 3 of the MSFA, the objectives of SAFCOL are described as, 

‘the development in the long-term of the forestry industry according to accepted commercial management practice.’  The entity is an integrated forestry business operating in South 

Africa and has a footprint in Mozambique.

Figure B.1: SAFCOL’s current organisational structure

Government of the 
Republic of South 

Africa through 
Minister of Public 

Enterprises

Government of the 
Republic of South 

Africa through 
Minister of Public 

Enterprises

Figure B.2: SAFCOL’s proposed organisational structure

ABACUS
FORESTRIES Mozambique 

operations
SA forestry 
operations

SA pole treatment 
operations

SA processing 
operations

ABACUS
FORESTRIES

KAMHLABANE 
TIMBER

KAMHLABANE 
TIMBER

100%

100% 100%

80%

80%

100%

100%

100% 100%
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The SAFCOL Group 
consists of:

Komatiland Forests SOC Ltd with 
its subsidiary Indùstrias Florestais 
de ManicaI (IFLOMA)

Abacus Forestries SOC Ltd

Minority shareholder in 
Siyaqhubeka Forests (Pty) Ltd 
(9%)

Kamhlabane Timber SOC Ltd

SAFCOL further 
holds minority 

shares on behalf 
of community 

beneficiaries in 4 
these companies:

Siyaqhubeka Forests (Pty) Ltd 
(16.00%) 

 Amathole Forestry Company (Pty) 
Ltd (16.00%) 

MTO Forestry (Pty) Ltd (11.30%) 

Singisi Forest Products (Pty) Ltd 
(10.49%)

SAFCOL is in the process of repositioning IFLOMA to be a direct subsidiary and 
operationalise dormant entities (Abacus and Kamhlabane) to grow the business

Figure B.3: Figure B.4: 

15SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT
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B.1.1.   Our Operations 

SAFCOL conducts its business through the sustainable management of plantation 

forests and other assets. Revenue is generated from the sale of logs and lumber, as well 

as other non-timber related products.

KLF (Komatiland Forests) is the main operating entity and generator of income within 

SAFCOL and manages 15 prime timber plantation assets in Mpumalanga, Limpopo and 

KwaZulu Natal. KLF’s commercial and non-commercial operations cover a land area 

of 189 747ha. In addition to the management of the 189 747ha of plantations, KLF 

manages a Research and Development (R&D) facility, a tree nursery, Timbadola Sawmill, 

Platorand Training Facility as well as ecotourism facilities, which include among others, 

Lakenvlei Lodge and a forestry museum in Sabie.

These plantations are clustered into three regions: Highveld, Central and Northern. KLF 

is certified by the international, non-profit organisation Forest Stewardship Council® 

(FSC® – C013832 – Forest Management and FSC® – C007806 – Chain of Custody). Their 

primary role is to monitor and ensure that KLF practises responsible management of 

its plantations, in a way that preserves the natural ecosystem and benefits the lives of 

local communities and employees whilst ensuring that it sustains its economic viability.

KLF owns and operates the Timbadola Sawmill, a softwood processing sawmill located 

in Limpopo province. Additional processing capacity is derived from outsourced 

processing initiatives. SAFCOL’s state-of-the-art R&D Centre outside Sabie conducts 

research on:

a) Silviculture practices

b) Wood-quality testing

c) Pests and diseases control

d) Engineered wood products

e) Yield and growth modelling

f ) Genetic improvements

The Tweefontein Plantation houses a nursery which supplies KLF plantations with 

seedlings and cuttings, thereby ensuring sustainable feedstock for all our plantations 

as well as seedling sales to the private sector.

IFLOMA manages a total area of 82 547ha in Mozambique, 46 145ha of 

which is plantable for commercial plantation forestry. The IFLOMA 

forestry operations is comprised of four plantations, Rotanda, Bandula, 

Penhalonga and Mavonde. It is situated in the west of Manica 

province with a warehouse in Maputo as well as a sawmill in 

Messica. Part of the IFLOMA forestry operations is the Fibre 

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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Project located in Muanza District – Galinha plantation.

SAFCOL has a responsibility to care for the ecosystem by protecting the environment in which it operates. We are, therefore, 

fully committed to the continual improvement of environmental performance across all our business activities and recognize 

the key environmental impact of our business. Within the Ecotourism Business unit, SAFCOL manages hiking trails, picnic sites, 

waterfall sites, Lakenvlei Forest Lodge as well as the Sabie Forestry Museum. These are located in the Limpopo and Mpumalanga 

provinces.

SAFCOL total operations are outlined in Table B.1 below:

Areas of operation
Total 

area

Plantable 

area
Planted area TU (ha) Conservation

South Africa (KLF) 189 747  120 870  117 272  3 598 68  877

Mozambique (IFLOMA) 82 547 17 477 15 728 1749 65 070

Total SAFCOL Group 272 294 138 347 133 000 5347 133  947

Table B.1
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OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY

Research and development
Genetics, Tree, wood and log properties

Processing and performance characteristics

Value adding activities
Thinning and pruning

Nursery
Seedlings and cuttings

Harvesting operations

Planting /establishment
Preparations for planting the seedlings or 

cuttings

Logs to clients
Logistic & Transport

Tending and protection
Weed control, Fire management 

Environmental management 
Pests and diseases

B.1.2.   SAFCOL’s value chain
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Logs on road side
Loading and transport

Sawing in wet mill
According to cutting patterns 

according to the log diameters

Off-cuts
Burned in boiler or sold to 
communities as fire wood

Log sorting
According to diameters

Kilns
Drying

Delivery to mill
Short/long hauling from log 

bank

Wet boards (lumber)
Stacked per diameter for kiln 

drying

Final lumber product
Stored, sold and dispatched to 

end users

De-barking 
Bark used to generate steam or 
sold to compost manufacturers

Dry lumber
De-staked in dry mill, 

end trimmed and graded. 
Final product bundled per 

dimensions and grade

Chips
Sold to pulp/biofuel industry
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B.1.2.   Where we operate

An overview of SAFCOL’s operations is depicted in Figure B.5 below. This provides 

details of regionalised operations, including plantation locations and size.

IFLOMA Muanza District Snapshot

Central Region Snapshot

Highveld Region SnapshotNorthern Region Snapshot

IFLOMA Messica District Snapshot

Genus
Plantations
Area
Size

Genus

Plantations

Area

Size

Genus
Plantations

Area

Size

Genus
Plantations

Area

Size

Genus
Plantations

Area

Size

: Gum
: Galinha
: Muanza district
: 59% of Total Area Under        
Management of which    
3.9% is  planted now

: Predominantly Pine and    
  Eucalyptus
: Tweefontein, Bergvliet,    
  Brooklands, Witklip, Uitsoek
: Graskop, Sabie, Hazyview,    
  Lydenburg
: 37% of Total Area Under     
  Management

: Pine, Eucalyptus and Wattle
: Berlin, Belfast, Nelshoogte,    
  Jessievale, Roburnia, Ngome
: Mpumalanga Highveld around    
  Ermelo, Belfast, Kaapschehoop,  
  Barberton, Warburton, as well as  
  Nongoma in KwaZulu-Natal
: 38% of Total Area Under     
  Management

: Pine and Eucalyptus
: Entabeni, Woodbush, Blyde,    
  Wilgeboom
: Graskop to Limpopo
 (Tzaneen, Vhembe District)
: 25% of Total Area Under     
 Management

: Pine and Gum
: Rotanda, Bandula, Penhalonga
 and Mavonde plantations
: Manica district and Sussundenga
District in Manica Province
: 50% of Total Area Under    
  Management

Figure B.5: Overview of 

SAFCOL’s operational areas.

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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: Gum
: Galinha
: Muanza district
: 59% of Total Area Under        
Management of which    
3.9% is  planted now

: Predominantly Pine and    
  Eucalyptus
: Tweefontein, Bergvliet,    
  Brooklands, Witklip, Uitsoek
: Graskop, Sabie, Hazyview,    
  Lydenburg
: 37% of Total Area Under     
  Management

: Pine, Eucalyptus and Wattle
: Berlin, Belfast, Nelshoogte,    
  Jessievale, Roburnia, Ngome
: Mpumalanga Highveld around    
  Ermelo, Belfast, Kaapschehoop,  
  Barberton, Warburton, as well as  
  Nongoma in KwaZulu-Natal
: 38% of Total Area Under     
  Management

Table B.2.

• Unqualified audit opinion

• FSC® certification achieved for the 23rd consecutive year

• Achieved the temporary unplanted target in South African operations

• IFLOMA achieved breakeven after a long care and maintenance period 

• Conducted a successful Log Customer Conference with all logs clients

• Improved stakeholder management 

• SAFCOL is working to replace old technology and equipment in forest 

and processing

• Revision of the high Timbadola cost structure 

• SAFCOL is working with relevant industry and other role players to 

combat timber theft  

• Operations had 2 fatalities 

• The budgeted revenue per head was not achieved 
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PM Makwana

Board Chairperson’s Statement

It is with great pleasure that I present the 2019/20 Integrated Report. It is widely estab-

lished among corporate strategy experts that on the one hand “…culture eats strategy 

for lunch…” while on another front corporate strategy has to be responsive to Volatile, 

Complex, Uncertain and Ambiguous (VUCA) local and global macroeconomic environ-

ments.

As a State-Owned Company (SOC), SAFCOL has a dual mandate of commercial viabili-

ty, as well as that of socio-economic development; that being to conduct commercial 

forestry business and realise an effective return to our Shareholder, whilst also con-

tributing to the economic development of the country, mainly in rural areas. As the 

SAFCOL Board, we place an important premium on this responsibility entrusted upon 

us by the Shareholder, as represented by the Hon. Minister of Public Enterprises, Dr. 

Pravin Gordhan, MP.

The financial year in review is the second for the current SAFCOL Board; we sought to, 

(1) ensure that we cultivated the correct corporate culture so as not to have a counter-

productive culture that “…ate our strategic efforts for lunch…”(2) set the correct tone 

of corporate governance and most critically placed a lot of effort in achieving optimal 

cost competitiveness relative to other key players in the forestry sector.

Culture shaping is fundamental to corporate success, the past SAFCOL culture of spiral-

ing irregular expenditure, misalignment between previous strategies vis-a-vis National 

Priotities pursued by the Shareholder on behalf of South Africa’s best growth and de-

velopment objectives and also dissonance of values between that status quo and the 

executive team meant that fertile ground had been cultivated to undermine successful 

implementation of any strategy seeking to move SAFCOL forward. 

We are mindful of the fact that we are custodians of state assets, and therefore need to 

ensure that we deliver sustainable value for the fiscus of the country. We set the tone 

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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from the top as the Board with zero tolerance for reckless expenditure and corruption. 

We are also invested in a dual process of a long strategy which embed a new culture 

that will drive solid organisational performance, and prevent value erosion at SAFCOL. 

We continuously ensure that our strategy is aligned with the objectives of the Forestry 

Masterplan, which include; encouraging sector growth, investment, job creation, and 

competitiveness. 

During the year under review, the Board held several working meetings with the Hon. 

Deputy Minister of Public Enterprises, Mr. Phumulo Masualle, MP wherein key matters 

that impact the performance of SAFCOL were deliberated on and specific interven-

tions were agreed upon. For this, we are eternally grateful to the Deputy Minister for 

his continued support and guidance. With positive EBIDTA achieved as we ended an 

intense implementation of a turn around plan the financial year 2019/20 and leading 

into 2020/2021 year end, we are confident as a board that financial year 2021/2022 will 

be a positive financial story to tell.

Along with the solid governance and organisational culture created, these are other 

highlights worth mentioning in the regards to the Board of Directors:

• The Board coagulated and worked well as a collegial oversight collective. 

• We delivered stable financial performance.

• We stemmed financial irregularities and wasteful expenditure. 

• Achieved an unqualified audit with findings as per Auditor General’s report.

• Obtained positive financial turnaround from our subsidiaries, like IFLOMA and

• Had a successful Board evaluation conducted by an independent service provider.

It goes without saying that 2019/20 was a phenomenally challenging year. The 

COVID-19 pandemic in the last quarter put tremendous pressure on our customers, 

which had an effect on the performance of SAFCOL and successful implementation of 

our turnaround strategy. As a Board, we acted decisively when the first effects of the 

pandemic became apparent. We are pleased with this immediate response; where we 

have begun laying a foundation to support the Executives in navigating this unknown 

challenge. Towards the end of the financial year as we ushered in the 2020/2021 finan-

cial year, we started with a scenario planning project to understand how COVID-19 

may further affect the business. While top priority remains the health of our employ-

ees, as evidenced by work of  the Health & Safety Committee in the past year, we also 

worked with equal zeal to preserve the economic sustainability of SAFCOL. 

The economic and social disruption caused by the pandemic forced us to determine 

whether the current strategy was still relevant. The scenario planning project identi-

fied short, medium and long-term scenarios, which provided the basis for a roadmap 

to ensure that the company remains resilient and improve its financial performance, 

amidst the unfortunate effects of the pandemic.

In the short and medium-term, we focused on the three scenarios which are likely to 

pan out in the next two years. We sought to unpack how the company would navigate 

complexity and uncertainty to stay on course in the event that any of the identified 

scenarios materialised. Priority shall be on maintaining revenue, containment of costs, 

sustainable cash flow and profitability. 

In the long-term, the three predicted scenarios will be monitored closely. Should any 

of them occur, then the company can be agile enough to respond to the cross-winds 

and head-winds while maintaining the course of a financially sustainable SOC; opera-

tions would be automated, mechanised and digitised, and employees will be geared 

towards a high-performance culture. An innovative culture will continuously transform 

the company into a technologically modern operation which will include neighbour-

ing communities in this success journey. The future SAFCOL shall continue to invest in 

Research and Development, achieve planned performance targets with an admirable 

employee value proposition, adequate risk management, and good governance.   
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Key vacant positions, like that of the CFO, stretched us, but the Acting-CFO and CEO 

led the team admirably in mitigating against this. A new CFO search was embarked 

upon and concluded in close partnership with the Shareholder. As a Board, we also 

agreed to freeze Executive salary Increases and benefits, as well as zero increase on 

Non-Executive Directors fees, due to the missed revenue target. We had to explore new 

sources of revenue and innovative ways for SAFCOL to derive more value from its trees. 

Allow me to applaud our Research and Development team in Mpumalanga, who are 

making incredible headway on this forestry innovation front. We are also proud of the 

strides made in managing relationships with communities who border SAFCOL opera-

tions, which are still in the development stage and will be shared with our stakeholders 

in the near future. 

Public-private partnership is another glowing illustration of SAFCOL as a responsible 

corporate citizen. As a Board, we will continue to drive ongoing dialogue and initia-

tives that contribute meaningfully to the benefit of the communities. 

On a bitter-sweet note, one Board member, Ms. Portia Debby, left us at the end of the 

financial year, I take this opportunity to congratulate her on her new path and thank 

her for her significant contribution over the last two years.  Ms Derby’s role as Chair 

of FINCO was sterling in steering this Company through downturn in a prudent and 

responsible way. Her efforts have helped ensure that SAFCOL is well placed and in a 

better position to take advantage of opportunities that are mashed within the current 

economic challenges. 

Lastly, we thank our Shareholders and all other valued stakeholders for their continued 

support to SAFCOL. Our Minister, the Hon Dr. Pravin Gordhan, has shown great faith in 

the work of the Board, we also appreciate the oversight and supportive role he played. 

The inclusive approach he has taken in facilitating cross-pollination of best practices 

among SOC’s and ensuring alignment with the priorities of the SA Government and 

DPE is commendable.

It is the duty of every Board of Directors to maximise value, not only for the sharehold-

er(s) but to maximise sustainable value to the benefit of all stakeholders. 2019/2020 

was a year of delivering against all odds, and as a Board, we rose to the challenge. All in 

all, this was a year of modelling and laying foundations for the organisation to ensure 

financial stability going forward. I am sure I echo the sentiment of the Board when I say, 

we are very optimistic that we laid a solid foundation to deliver an even more success-

ful performance in 2020/2021. 

Our new CFO commence his duties on 01 April 2021 and will hopefully pick the baton 

from where Mr John Maruma, Acting CFO, would have left off. John, we take this op-

portunity on behalf of the Board for your brave and professional stewardship of our 

financial community in a tough, VUCA COVID19 strategic environment.

As a Board, we remain steadfast to position SAFCOL to contribute towards and max-

imise shareholder value from government’s Economic Reconstruction and Recovery 

Plan.

Mr Mpho Makwana

SAFCOL Board Chairperson
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Chief Executive Officer’s Overview
Performance Review 

It is truly an honour to present the overview of the company’s performance during the 

financial year under review. 2019/2020 was a difficult year. It is remarkable how much 

we were able to achieve, not only in terms of financial performance but also in our 

efforts to stabilise the Business. This was a period of a depressed business environment, 

with the construction industry at its lowest in the modern days. The industry entered 

its third consecutive quarter of negative growth.  The saw mills were unable to get 

an increase in selling price for structural lumber products from the retail customers, 

and as a result, customers demand for higher priced class logs remained very poor. 

SAFCOL had to decrease the price of logs for the year against increased operating 

costs. We restructured our costs to still realise our margins and generate cash from the 

operations. It should not be about quick wins, that is why we also made a decision to 

not contract forward sales and start 2021 on a clean slate, fixing the business. But it 

was not all doom and gloom. SAFCOL realised improved cash reserves by 61%, relative 

to prior year.

Operations

Our objective remains to ensure that the company becomes self-sufficient in the short 

-term and achieves sustainable excellence and growth in the medium to long term. 

This focus, which is already bearing fruits, is evident in the state of our balance sheet. 

SAFCOL management will continue to inculcate a culture of excellence, driven by cus-

tomer centricity, respect for all stakeholders and ethical behaviour among employees.

Some of our biggest challenges include the slow progress to invest in Enterprise 

Resource Planning system due to affordability. 

Sadly, we had injuries at work and this resulted in two employees losing their lives. May 

their souls rest in peace. SAFCOL remains committed to operating in an environment of 

zero fatalities. We are investing in new technology, infrastructure, training and finding 

the crucial balance between manual labour and technology. 

OT Monaheng
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Strategy

Leadership is very critical at this phase in which SAFCOL is because we are in transition 

to a sustainable business. My leadership philosophy is about aligning all employees

 in the Company to focus their energy towards realising the vision through compliance 

with the Company policies and adhering to ethical conduct. To successfully sustain 

the state forests and derive maximum commercial value from the trees and timber 

products, all stakeholders have to be taken into consideration. We have to succeed 

in our inclusive economic collaboration with the communities neighbouring the 

plantations, the services / products suppliers supporting our value chain, responding 

to all the customers to their satisfaction and the resultant creation of value for the 

shareholder. For the Company to be successful in implementing the strategy, I believe 

in continuously strengthening our values-based culture amongst all employees, 

without exception.

During the financial year under review, we initiated an operating model to achieve 

success. This is a long-term project to get employees to subscribe to a values-based 

culture. We are already seeing the impact, as they are motivated to excel, which is great 

for the overall performance of the company. We need to all understand the objectives 

in our Strategy and ensure that we remain aligned at all times. 

SAFCOL supports economic transformation to achieve a more inclusive, effective and 

efficient economy in the communities where our operations are based. We work to 

ensure that those small and medium enterprises which were previously excluded in 

the main stream of the economy, have equitable opportunities to participate in the 

economy. During the financial year under review, SAFCOL implemented a partnership 

agreement with the United Nations Industrial Development Organisation (UNIDO). 

This last phase of the UNIDO programme was funded by the Ministry of Foreign Af-

fairs in Finland with the aim to support the development of forestry training centres 

for green employment in the SADC region. The programme contributed in narrowing 

the gap between supply and demand of skilled labour by harnessing the expertise, 

know-how and resources of the cooperatives to tackle the important global industrial 

development agenda. 

The company developed a formal Contractor Development Programme which sup-

ported 15 black owned businesses (9 Black Women Owned and 6 Youth Owned) within 

the forestry value chain to ensure equitable access to opportunities. The programme 

was supported by the University of Mpumalanga (UMP) and has assisted beneficiaries 

to improve their performance and expand capabilities.  Having all successfully grad-

uated in August 2019 from this structured skills programme, these SMMEs have been 

empowered with technical, entrepreneurial and business management skills thereby 

ensuring their success and sustainability. 

SAFCOL and UNIDO provided the same enterprises with a range of useful business 

equipment, enabling them to successfully execute contract work within the forestry 

value chain. This has led to more than 1500 jobs created by the 15 suppliers.  

Strategy implementation

SAFCOL manages 120 870 ha of mainly Pine trees on sustainable forestry practices by 

conducting regular enumerations to improve the quality of the growing stock data. 

New internally developed growth models are used in the harvesting scheduling sys-

tem to determine the long term sustainable volumes, and the acceptable annual cut 

volume available for internal consumption and the broader South African sawmilling 

industry. The accuracy of the plantable area improves through the re-mapping of plan-

tations from high-resolution digital images annually. Forestry activities are now re-

ported on the Forest Planning System that will further enhance the accuracy of the 

growing stock data. 
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Another feather in our cap, our South Africa operations retained the (Forest Steward-

ship Council (FSC®) certificate for the 23rd year in a row including the Chain of Custody 

certification at the Timbadola Sawmill. 

In implementing the first phase of the strategy, namely fixing and stabilising the busi-

ness, the focus was placed on key areas of performance. There is positive progress on 

the identified areas, as shown in the table below:

Key Performance Areas in fixing the 

Company

Financial Year 

2018/19

Financial Year 

2019/20

EBITDA -R66m R35m

Total Cash at end of the year R156m R252m

Audit Opinion Qualified Unqualified

The company could have been in the net profit position if it were not because of the 

IFRS-16 finance costs amounting to R223m.

In the period under review, IFLOMA Board approved the establishment of a creosote 

pole treating plant at Messica in partnership with a Zimbabwean company. The pole 

treating plant has been commissioned and is operational. This will result in a further 

contribution to the increase in sales. 

IFLOMA has invested in a new Sawmill, which will be commissioned during the 2020/21 

financial year and this will increase the lumber sales. This subsidiary is fully operational 

and achieved a breakeven performance.

Responsible to the Environment

SAFCOL joined forces with local and provincial authorities in a project funded by 

Global Environmental Facility (GEF) to identify and declare protected nature reserves 

in natural forest areas, specifically in Mpumalanga.

Protection of the environment is an integral and essential part of SAFCOL’s operating 

philosophy, and is achieved through interventions aligned with certification by the 

Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®). Approximately one third of the land occupied by 

SAFCOL is designated as conservation areas. Requirements for the control of alien and 

invasive species, responsible and minimised use of chemical pesticides, prevention of 

soil erosion, and protection of indigenous forests and grasslands are included in all op-

erating plans and processes. SAFCOL routinely monitors the impacts of its activities on 

watercourses, wetlands, threatened and endangered species, heritage sites and areas 

of high conservation value. Where adverse impacts are identified, management inter-

ventions are implemented to address the causes and repair any significant damage.  

The Carbon Tax came into effect on 1 June 2019; the tax applies to all processing in-

dustries that conduct activities with the carbon dioxide (CO2) equivalent of green-

house gas emissions above a combined capacity threshold of 10MW (thermal). Efforts 

to address climate change have been made by the international community through 

greenhouse gas (GHG), emission reduction programs with avoided deforestation and 

forest degradation through the afforestation/reforestation

SAFCOL plans to participate in carbon credit trading in which credits may be earned as 

the trees grow. In order to trade carbon credits, SAFCOL will identify and gain access 

to the carbon market.

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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Future SAFCOL

Even though it was a difficult year, it gave us an opportunity to design and develop 

the future SAFCOL. The leadership team also showed agility by creating a turnaround 

strategy that will ensure that the company is sustainable when hard times hit. We re-

vised the structure of our revenue to diversify from dependency on logs. We are ex-

ploring huge opportunities with strategic partners, which will see the company diver-

sify into biochemical/ advanced processing. We are also nurturing partnerships with 

the private sector while supporting key customer base, the construction industry. The 

future SAFCOL will also manage forests sustainably for future generations. I remain 

very proud to be associated with a company that is conscious of climate change and 

contribute positively to reverse the impact thereof. 

The covid-19 pandemic is impacting lives, economies and ways of conducting business 

around the world, we, unfortunately, have not been spared. While we drive growth, we 

will ensure that employees and the business are safe. Transformation towards more 

inclusive business models will provide resilience as we navigate this unknown trading 

environment. 

Looking ahead, I am optimistic that SAFCOL is on the path to be a happy place for the 

employees, get more people to be aware of what we do and most importantly be an 

entity South Africans are proud of. I want to thank our clients, suppliers, employees, 

Board of Directors and the shareholder representative, Hon. Minister of Public Enter-

prises, Dr. Pravin Gordhan, MP for their support. We remain committed to delivering 

on the mandate that government, through its shareholder representative, has tasked 

us with.

OT Monaheng

Chief Executive Officer
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OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY

Acting  Chief Financial Officer’s Report

In the current year the Group implemented a costs management strategy in its 

operations. The strategy has strived to improve cost effectiveness within the Group. In 

an environment of increase operating costs, it has become extremely important for the 

business to derive maximum benefit for each cash outlay. 

The Group has done well in improving its performance in the current year. In an 

environment characterised by low economic growth and increased operating costs, 

the Group has delivered an improvement in its financial performance. The improved 

financial performance has been achieved through management of margins, cost 

management, working capital and stakeholder management. 

Financial Performance

Despite the difficult economic environment, the Group has posted strong financial 

results in the year under review. There has been significant improvements in a number 

of financial indicators. The table below shows comparisons of current year results with 

prior year results. 
J Maruma

20.1%

222.8%

89.4%

25.6%

Revenue

Cash Generated

Operating Loss

Loss for the year

2020: R824m
2019: R1 042m
The Group discontinued 
standing sales in the 
current year.

2020: R161.2m
2019: R49.9m
Prudent working capital management 
strategy resulted in more than 
doubling the cash generated from 
operations.

2020: R13.7m
2019: R130.2m
The company reduced 
operating loss by 89.4%.
This is mainly due to cost 
containment strategy 
implemented.

2020: R54m
2019: R72m
Losses have been reduced by 
25.6% from current year.
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The Group started applying IFRS 16 Leases in the current financial year. Lease relating 

to Land used by the Group was recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. A 

corresponding Right of Use was recognised as a Non-Current Asset. The Group is in 

discussion with DEFF to finalise a lease agreement over land in use.

Asset Maintenance

The balance sheet of the company remains strong and largely unencumbered. The 

Group has not been able to raise significant finance to complement its own resources 

to fund major capex acquisitions. In the current year, the company has used a mixture 

of finance lease and own cash resources to finance capex. 

Despite funding challenges, the Group has maintained the value of its assets. Growth 

in biological asset value has been driven by replanting and maintenance activities 

carried out by the Group. Despite the decrease in selling prices, volumes realised 

from harvested logs has increased due to investment made in operating activities. 

The Group maintains one of the best silviculture practices in the country. The Group is 

committed to ensuring sustainable forestry practices in its operations.

Operating Expenses

The Group continues to experience significant pressures on its operating costs. In 

the current year the company implemented cost containment measures to ensure 

efficiency and effectiveness of costs incurred. 

Employment costs continues to be the single largest expense of the Group. In the 

current year, a moratorium on hiring of new or vacant positions has resulted in the 

decrease in employment costs. In order to improve capacity, new contracts have 

been signed in the current year. This has resulted in an increase in contractors costs. 

The ageing equipment of the Group requires constance maintenance. The Group has 

however been strongly implementing cost effectiveness measures to ensure that 

maximum benefit is obtained from each cash outlay. This has resulted in a decrease in 

the repairs and maintenance costs.

Compliance

The company embarked on a successful exercise to identify and resolve completeness 

of irregular expenditure. The process covered the last 5 years. The company will strive 

to continue to improve the internal control environment to ensure that irregular 

expenditure and fruitless and wasteful expenditure are not incurred. 

Irregular Expenditure Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

2020: R627m

2019: R443m

Increase in current year irregular expen-

diture was mainly due to prior year con-

tracts identified as irregular expenditure 

in the current year which are continuing.

2020: R2.6m

2019: R0.50m

This relates to fines and penalties that 

were levied by tax authorities on provi-

sional tax assessment.

Future Projections

Despite the impact of covid-19 on the economic outlook of the country, future 

prospects of the Group remain positive. The Group products are essential or are used in 

the production of essential goods. The demand for Group products currently outstrips 

production. The Group strategy is to improve and expand its capacity to be able to 

service the market. The company intends to invest in technology and mechanisation 

to be able to achieve its strategy. 

J Maruma

Acting Chief Financial Officer
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B.5.  Our Strategy

B.5.1.  SAFCOL’s 50:50 Strategy

The vision is to increase lumber processing and value-adding activities to contribute 

50% of the revenue over five years, reducing the dependence on log sales and ensuring 

sustainability of the business. Various initiatives are being deployed to achieve 

growth, including but not limited to, acquisitions and partnerships with the industry. 

This is to ensure commercial sustainability to contribute GDP growth and national 

developmental objectives focused on communities

B.5.2.  Strategic overview

B.5.2.1. Vision

To be a leader in sustainable forests and 

commercial forest products 

Figure B.6: Mission
SAFCOL strives to:

Maximise 
stakeholder value 
through strategic 

partnershipsMaintain 
practises that are 

economically viable, 
environmentally 
acceptable and 

socially beneficial

Grow our business 
in the forestry 

value chain

Figure B.7:  Values

SAFCOL strives to perform its functions in a transparent and professional 

manner that is guided by the highest levels of integrity, whilst delivering high 

quality products and services as well as being accountable to its stakeholders. 

The following values are central to SAFCOL operations:

We are passionate 
about forests and 
our communities

We respect 
and value our 

employees

We strive for 
excellence and 

innovation in our 
business

We conduct ourselves 
with honesty and 

integrity

We strive for customer 
satisfaction

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY

Facilitate 
sustainable 
economic 

transformation of 
the forestry industry 
and thereby uplifting 

communities
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SAFCOL 
Strategic Intent

Leveraging State 
capabilities to improve 
sustainability and 
economic viability

Securing the economic 
future of the community 
and stakeholders it 
serves

IFLOMA: optimisation of 
the existing operations 
and investment for 
growth

Enhancing co-ordina-
tion between SOC’s 
to unlock real value 
in support of the NDP 
goals

Vertical Integration: 
participation in 

processing activities 
within the timber 

value chain

Optimising the social 
and economic impact 
of all interventions 
undertaken in the SOC 
in the achievement of 
these objectives

Horizontal Integration: to 
increase the management 

of plantation areas to 
ensure the sustainable 

supply of sawlogs to the 
country

1

27

3

45

6

Figure B.8: Strategic Intent Statement



34 SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

B.5.4.  Strategic Horizon

SAFCOL’s defined outcomes of  ‘Improvement in Financial and Operational Sustainability’ and ‘Development of 

South Africa and the communities neighbouring the operations’ will be delivered in 3 phases:

Phase 1: Stabilise

Phase 2:  Revenue growth off existing base

Phase 3:  Revenue growth through expansion

Phase 4:  Continuously striving to create shared value for communities and stakeholders

Each phase describes the strategic realisation in the short, medium and long-term. The 3 phases are underpinned by a commitment 
to continuously strive to create shared value for communities and our stakeholders.

2019/20                   2020/21   2021/22     2022/23      2023/24

Stabilise
Stabilise the business (values-based culture, no qualified audit 
opion, profitable, working systems and processes)
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  2
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  3
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  4

Revenue growth off existing base
Grow revenue based on current product portfolio 
(increase sales with efficient processing, profitable 
growth in Ecotourism and Property)

Revenue growth through expansion
Grow revenue through Phase 2 + growing product portfolio and 
market share (a dynamic company creating value for all stakeholders, 
business expansion through acquisitions and partnerships)

Revenue growth through expansion
Continuously striving to create shared value for communities and stakeholders

Table B.3: Strategic Horizon
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B.5.4.1.   SAFCOL Strategic Horizon Phases

Phase 1:  Stabilise

The first phase of SAFCOL’s Strategic Horizon prioritises stabilising the business and 

returning to profitability by improving working systems, processes and instilling a 

value-based culture across the organisation. The successful implementation of the 

first phase provides a solid base to proceed to Phase 2 and Phase 3.  

Phase 2:   Revenue growth off existing base

Phase 2 seeks to extract greater value from current product portfolio and other 

revenue streams. This entails focusing on working to successfully and profitably 

increase sales and improve processing to increase value addition. The second phase 

also entails further operationalising Ecotourism, property unit and IFLOMA to achieve 

profitable growth.

Phase 3:   Revenue growth through expansion 

The third phase is an extension of Phase 2 plus expansion into new product 

categories by optimising product portfolio across the value chain. Investment into 

R&D and market intelligence are strong enablers in this phase. 

Phase 4:   Continuously striving to create shared value for communities and 

stakeholders

SAFCOL, as a SOC and a member of the broader community, is committed to 

facilitating sustainable economic transformation and maximising stakeholder value. 

This commitment is considered and carried out at each phase of the strategic horizon. 

This includes, but is not limited, to facilitating and implementing initiatives to upskill 

local community members to become future staff, suppliers and partners.
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Table B.4: Strategic goals

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY

B.5.5.   Strategic goals
SAFCOL’s consolidated strategic framework is aligned to the National Treasury Framework. Organisational goals are categorised into Financial Sustainability (focus on financial sustainability 
and organisational enablement), Operational Excellence, Strategic Initiatives (focus on growth and business development), and Socio-Economic Impact (focus on stakeholder and 
economic transformation).

Each organisational goal has a set of strategic objectives to achieve defined outcomes of improved sustainability (financial and operational) and development of South Africa and the 
communities neighbouring the operations. 
This includes the following strategic objectives that are linked to the goals.

Strategic Goals Strategic Objectives

Financial Sustainability 

(Organisational Enablement)

%� Improve SAFCOL’s financial sustainability

%� To ensure the company’s liquidity levels are adequate

%� To ensure the company is profitable and shareholder value is improved.

%� Development and implementation of an appropriate operating model inclusive of: Development and Optimisation of Business; 

structural and operating alignment between functions (lines of reporting, capacity, OD, etc.) and System Specification

Operational Excellence
%� Adopt appropriate processing technologies to reduce cost & maximise value addition

%� Increase biological asset value 

Strategic Initiatives (Growth & 

Business Development)

%� Improve Business Development and Market Intelligence capabilities to extract maximum value from products

%� Invest in R&D for new products and optimise product portfolio across the value chain (Strategic Focus, i.e. planning)

%� Increase market share through strategic acquisitions and partnerships (Horizontal and Vertical opportunities)

Socio-Economic Impact (Stakeholders 

& Economic Transformation)

%� Creating shared value initiatives with a focus on:

�» Industry Transformation

�» Local community economic development 

• Commitment to generating value for shareholders (dividends)
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B.5.6.  How we create value

For the purposes of SAFCOL’s Integrated Report, the six 

capitals can be categorised and described as follows:

Table B.5: The six capitals

The six capitals Progress

Human Capital

SAFCOL continuously invest in its people and the below are the key value attributes;

Connecting People to the Business 1 546 permanent KLF employees and 606 permanent 

IFLOMA employees

• Defined Company Values and Culture  to create an enabling environment where all 

employees can thrive

• Employee development to cater for both company and individual employee personal 

needs 

• Market-related Rewards and Remuneration 

• Performance Management and Optimisation

• Talent Management and Succession Planning Strategic Initiatives

Financial Capital

• Never required State bailout 

• Long-term capital investment programme

• Total assets = R4.991billion

Manufacturing Capital

• 121 293ha commercial plantations in SA 8–30 year harvesting cycle internal/

outsourced processing capability (10% logs)

• Established nurseries>10mil seedlings/cuttings per year

Intellectual Capital
• World-class R&D facilities in Sabie

• Research on best in-house genetic material

Natural Capital

• Majority of 189 760ha land leased from the State

• One third of SAFCOL’s area is managed as conservation areas

• Two-thirds of the area is under commercial forestry

• Approximately 57% of SAFCOL land is under claim

• SAFCOL manages Ecotourism facilities (hiking trails, picnic sites, waterfalls, etc.)

Social Capital

• Support around 30 000 people in neighbouring communities

• Overall, R11 million invested in socioeconomic development

• L&D programmes for communities

• Developed relationship with potential future land owners
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B.6.  Risk and opportunities
SAFCOL’s risk management process includes the continuous identification and management of risks to our business. Indicated in the following two sections are the key risks 

that affect our ability to create value in the short, medium and long-term, as well as the key opportunities that could contribute to the achievement of our mandate and 

objectives.

Table B.6:  Our key risks

Risk Why is this a risk? The SAFCOL solution

Fire risk Unfavourable weather conditions and 

human activities render our plantations 

vulnerable to fires.

SAFCOL worked with Forestry South Africa and the Fire Protection Association and integrated 

firefighting strategies for the industry. We also conducted fuel reduction activities during the 

rainy season, using the latest scientific methods to reduce the risk of fires.

Illegal harvesting 

(timber theft) and illegal 

mining

The geographical spread of our plantations 

makes theft and other illegal activities on 

SAFCOL operated land a significant risk.

 

SAFCOL engaged with various stakeholders to incorporate them in our holistic timber theft 

mitigation strategies as well as mitigation of illegal mining activities at SAFCOL plantations. 

This included exploring the latest technologies to monitor all plantations’ daily operational 

activities, engaged surrounding communities in the benefaction of opportunities, work with 

law enforcement authorities and deployed security services at our plantations. 

Pests and diseases Baboons, that severely damage the bark of 

trees, and diseases affecting our plantations 

result in lower than expected volumes. 

SAFCOL worked with the Baboon Damage Working Group and other industry stakeholders 

on sustainable solutions for damages caused by animals and pests. Our R&D focus areas 

include development of disease resitant species.

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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Risk Why is this a risk? The SAFCOL solution

Climate change and 

natural disasters

Changing weather patterns have a 

detrimental impact on forests, given that 

tree life cycles span up to 30 years. Since 

forestry, by its nature, is a sequester of 

carbon, we do not contribute materially to 

climate change. However, climate change 

impacts like drought, heavy storms and 

flooding, could be catastrophic to our assets.

SAFCOL worked with experts in the industry and academia to identify major trends in climate 

change and developed climate change mitigation and adaptation strategies. Our R&D team 

worked toward the development of drought-resistant species to better withstand the effects 

of climate change. Our Plantation Managers continuously reviews and updates our strategies 

and protocols to mitigate the impact of climate change and natural disasters specific to the 

location of each plantation.

Infrastructure 

maintenance

Our ageing infrastructure could present a 

safety risk and could result in inefficient 

operations.

We are pursuing strategic partnerships to expedite the upgrade of our key infrastructure, to 

improve productivity and enable us to deliver higher quality products more effectively and 

efficiently to our customers

Loss of productive land 

due to land reform

SAFCOL leases most of the land on which it 

operates from the Department of Forestry, 

Fisheries and the Environment. There are land 

restitution claims in Limpopo, Mpumalanga 

and KwaZulu Natal, on approximately 57% 

of the land on which we operate. These 

claims are at different stages of the Land 

Claims Commission’s (LCC) land restitution 

process. When the land is transferred to the 

claimants, SAFCOL could potentially lose its 

access to forestable land, or face uncertain 

negotiations for leases with the  new owners.

SAFCOL works closely with the LCC and monitors the LCC’s processes on the research and 

validation of land claims. We identified opportunities for partnerships with land reform 

beneficiaries to accelerate the transformation of the forestry industry by increasing 

participation of previously disadvantaged individuals in the forestry value chain. We continue 

to position SAFCOL as the partner of choice to such beneficiaries, support community 

forestry and agroforestry initiatives and develop Black industrialists in the forestry sector. 

We also explored various economic empowerment initiatives at local, provincial and national 

levels to fully integrate neighbouring communities into the forestry business value chain. 

Table B.6: Our key risks continued
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Risk Why is this a risk? The SAFCOL solution

Water risk Climate change may significantly disrupt 

rainfall patterns which will affect growing 

stock and the water table / aquifers / 

watercourses from which SAFCOL draws 

water.

SAFCOL is further exposed to reputation risk 

due to public perception that commercial 

forests deprive downstream users of water, 

particularly during dry periods.

SAFCOL holds valid Water Use Licences for all its operating sites and complies with all 

legal requirements. Before replanting after harvesting, SAFCOL assesses and implements 

delineation requirements to establish and maintain proper buffer zones beside wetlands and 

watercourses. SAFCOL monitors the condition of streams and watercourses, and the quality 

of water in all the catchments where it operates. In addition to implementing interventions 

as recommended by independent assessors, SAFCOL’s data is made available to the National 

River Health database at the Department of Water Affairs and Sanitation. Initiatives to reduce 

water usage are incorporated in SAFCOL’s Climate Change Response Action Plan.

Table B.7:  Our key opportunities

Opportunity Why is this an opportunity? SAFCOL’s response

Land Reform As a state-owned company, SAFCOL is committed to ensuring 

that land beneficiaries progressively increase their contribution 

in the growth and performance of the South African economy 

in critical areas such as job creation, equity and access to 

markets. We aim to provide such beneficiaries economic 

opportunities in our forestry value chain. This strategy aims to 

empower land beneficiaries to establish independent business 

enterprises and provide services to plantation management 

and related businesses. SAFCOL prioritises land claimants to 

ensure that preferential procurement is realised

SAFCOL has developed a land claim business (settlement) model that was approved 

by our Board for implementation. The primary aim of this model is to ensure that 

the continued commercial sustainability of our mandate and business objectives is 

achieved through the integration of land beneficiaries into viable business relationships 

with SAFCOL. The model serves as a baseline approach in dealing with beneficiaries 

of Government’s land reform programme. Through the model, SAFCOL negotiates, in 

good faith, medium to long-term relationships with land beneficiaries through the use 

of dedicated resources to assist, support and work with land beneficiaries to ensure 

future business successes. Jointly, land beneficiaries and SAFCOL identify business 

opportunities in the forestry sector to achieve economic expansion that are mutually-

beneficial to the participants in the process

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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B.7.   Stakeholder engagement report 

SAFCOL meaningfully engages with its identified stakeholders to:

• Align mutual interests 

• Reduce risk

• Advance the Company’s long-term business objectives and interests

This process assists SAFCOL to proactively build new relationships and 

strengthen existing ones in line with the business strategy.

Figure B.9:  Our stakeholder  universe 

The stakeholder management process shares insights on:

• How to excel in the management of the organisation’s biological assets

• How the shareholder value SAFCOL for driving the governments developmental agenda 

• Employees of SAFCOL and how they appreciate and drive the organisation’s corporate 

culture

• SAFCOL’s partners, such as the suppliers, value the organisation and its compliance to 

trade and ethical regulations when conducting business 

• Competitors admire SAFCOL for fair-trading and customers preference of the 

organisation for delivering good quality products 

• The respect the media/analysts afford the organisation for the transparency when 

dealing with matters of public interest

Stakeholders Engaged

Government of 
Republic of South Africa

Employees

Board of DirectorsAcademic Institutions

 ShareholderForestry Industry

ParliamentOrganised Labour

DPELand Claims

RegulatorsCompetitors

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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Table B.8: Detailed stakeholder engagement report

Stakeholder Communication message
/Area of interest

Communication channel Key engagements Key highlights 

Department of Public 
Enterprise 

• SAFCOL is a strong and 
sustainable business

• SAFCOL complies with 
accepted business practices 
and adheres to the forestry 
industry regulations 
and PFMA and other 
government policies

• Monthly and Quarterly Reports
• Integrated Report
• Shareholders’ Compact
• Corporate Plan
• Annual General Meeting (AGM)
• Event and project involvements

• Presentation of SAFCOL Quarterly Reports 
• Deputy Minister of Public Enterprises 

orientation of SAFCOL

• Compliance and good 
working relationship post 
Annual General Meeting 
(AGM)

Parliament and 
Portfolio Committees 

• SAFCOL is a strong and
• sustainable business
• SAFCOL delivers on its 

legislative mandate

• Parliament appearances
• Responses to Parliamentary
• enquiries
• Integrated Report
• Meetings 

• DPE Budget Vote 
• Briefing by SAFCOL on the annual report 

and financial statements for 2018/19

• Presentation of SAFCOL’S 
annual report and financial 
statements for oversight of 
the company as a government 
entity

Spheres of 
Government (Other 
departments, 
provincial government, 
local municipalities 
and other) 

• SAFCOL is a partner of 
choice 

• Meetings
• Events 

• SAFCOL built upon the relationship 
with the United Nations Industrial 
Development Organisation (UNIDO) in 
developing internal capacity in skills 
development through the National 
Certificate in Occupationally Directed 
Education, Training and Development 
Practices (ODETDP)

• State of SOC’s and the rating agencies
• Competition issues, timber industry, 

industrialisation, areas of collaboration 
and transformation

• SAFCOL contributed to 
narrowing the gap between 
supply and demand of skilled 
labour 

Customers • SAFCOL is a supplier of 
good quality products at 
market-related prices

• Events 
• Direct selling
• Face-to-face contacts
• Forestry events/exhibitions
• Brochures
• Customer days
• Website
• Mainstream media and social media

• Annual Customer Conference 
• Discussion on partnership opportunities
• Expansion of revenue stream for IFLOMA
• Pulp and saw timber supply and 

collaboration on technology, skills, and 
capacity

• Improved working relationships and 
honouring of auction commitments on 
volumes

• Improve customer relations and 
management

• Formalised long term 
agreements for the 
sustainability of SAFCOL  
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Stakeholder Communication message
/Area of interest

Communication channel Key engagements Key highlights 

Suppliers • SAFCOL is open to doing  
business with suppliers

 

• Newspapers (i.e. tenders)
• Website
• E-tender portals
• Face-to-face contact

• Entrepreneurs Day conference 
• Women in forestry annual conference

• Enterprise Development 
events which contributed 
towards SAFCOL’s BBB-EE 
scorecard for designated 
groups

• Achieved SAFCOL’s strategic 
objective to provide support 
to previously marginalised 
groups within the forestry 
value chain 

Communities • SAFCOL is a catalyst of rural 
development and cares 
about its communities

• Joined Community Forum (JCF) 
meetings

• Community events
• Website
• Media

• Invited external stakeholders which 
include funding agencies (SARS, SEDA, 
NYDA, LEDA and FNB) in the business 
development sector who presented 
various business support programmes for 
entrepreneurs

• Completed 8 social infrastructure projects 
through the Joint Community Forum

• Facilitated access to finance 
for our beneficiaries to meet 
their contractual obligations 
with SAFCOL

• Positioned SAFCOL as a caring 
organisation

Media • SAFCOL is a vehicle for Rural 
and Economic Development

• SAFCOL is a strong and 
sustainable business

• Meetings 
• Press releases
• Events
• Website
• Social media 
• Interviews
• Responses to media enquiries

• SAFCOL Sabie Classic cycling race against 
gender-based violence

• Sod-turning event of Graskop Clinic 
• Mpumalanga lifestyle event 
• SAFCOL dignity drive (distribution of 

sanitary towels to schoolgirls)
• School shoe drive for Mandela Day 
• SABC stakeholder engagement event 

• Positive coverage on events: 
Sod-turning event

• Dignity Drive event
• Tourism Month campaign 
• Brand resonance 
• Increased social media 

followers 

Table B.8: Detailed stakeholder engagement report continued

OUR BUSINESS
AND STRATEGY
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Stakeholder Communication message
/Area of interest

Communication channel Key engagements Key highlights 

Organised labour • SAFCOL cares about its 
employees and their needs

• SAFCOL adheres to the 
country’s labour laws

• Meetings • Wage negotiation
• Employment Equity meetings

• The parties have reached a 
wage settlement without a 
strike

• A new EE committee has 
been appointed and trained. 
Analysis of  Company 
Policies, procedures and 
Practices is being conducted 
in preparation for the 
development of the new EE 
plan. The current plan lapses 
at the end of September 2020

Employees • SAFCOL cares about its 
employees’

• SAFCOL strives to adhere to 
the country’s labour laws;

• Meetings
• Events 
• Website 
• SAFCOL News
• Newsflash
• Branding
• Legal Bulletin 

• CEO/ Employee engagement  Roadshow
• Updated Policy Workshops
• Heritage Day
• Women’s Day
• Wellness Programme.
• Call to action for Mozambique Cyclone 

victims 
• Core Values campaign
• Compliance and performance culture 

campaign
• Long Service Awards 
• Health and Safety in the workplace
• Policy Communication 
• Presentation of SAFCOL Strategy 

• Employees understand 
company’s position and 
policies 

• Employees participated in 
call-to-action

• Women were motivated and 
empowered during Women’s 
Month events

Academic institution • SAFCOL is a partner to 
academic institutions 

• Meetings and events • Awards ceremony for SAFCOL suppliers 
who completed a business course with 
the University of Mpumalanga

• SAFCOL, with the support of UNIDO, 
supported a benchmarking exercise 
for TUT to Finland to establish the 
comparability of their developing Higher 
Certificate in Forestry.

• Continued relevance of 
Forestry tertiary qualifications

• SAFCOL is represented on 
the Curriculum Advisory 
Committees of the following 
tertiary institutions: UP 
(SAFCOL Forestry Chair), NMU, 
UniVen, and Fort Cox

Land claims • SAFCOL is a partner of 
choice for land claimants 

• Meetings
• Events 

• A committee has been put in place with 
members from the beneficiaries, SAFCOL 
and Department of Rural Development 
and Land Reform to work on the 
Mmamahlola land claim 

• Parties agreed to work 
together post settlement. A 
draft Lease Agreement has 
been developed

Table B.8: Detailed stakeholder engagement report continued
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C.1.  Auditor’s report: Predetermined objectives
The AGSA performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance 

information to provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. 

The audit conclusion on the performance against pre-determined objectives is 

included in the report to management.

Refer to pages 116 to 118, Part H: Auditor-General’s Report.   

Overall performance against Shareholder’s compact

SAFCOL concluded a Shareholder’s Compact for the 2019/20 financial year with 

the Minister of Public Enterprises (Shareholder). This agreement sets out agreed 

performance objectives, measures and indicators in line with the Treasury 

Regulations issued under the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). SAFCOL 

submits progress reports to the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE) on all 

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

The SAFCOL Group performance was measured by 25 KPIs for the 2019/20 

financial year. During the year under review, 14 out of the 25 KPIs were achieved. 

This equates to an achievement of 56% against target, which is similar to the 

56% target achievement in 2018/19 financial year. 

PERFOMANCE
 INFORMATION Graph C.1: Comparison of quarterly and annual perfomance information for 2019/20 

financial year.

1 The percentage was based on the number of targets achieved and not weighted.
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C.2.  2019/20 Performance information

C.2.1.  Financial Sustainability

Table C.1:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation from 
planned target to 
Actual Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Financial 
Sustainability 
(20%)

Liquidity 1) Trade receivables days 60 78 Not Achieved -18 The target is not met due to standing 
sales contracts that were concluded 
last year with extended credit terms 
in excess of 60 days

Profitability 2) EBITDA Margin 5% 4.3% Not Achieved -0.7% Due to the generated loss on 
earnings as a result of missed sales 
targets

Efficiency 3) Revenue/Employee R0.38m R327, 110 Not Achieved -R52 890 The rate is below the budgeted rate 
due to the missed sales targets



PERFOMANCE
 INFORMATION

C.2.2.   Operational Excellence

Table C.2: Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Operational 
Excellence (30%)

Research and 
Development

Total expenditure on R&D as a 
percentage of revenue

1.5% 1.69% Achieved 0.19% Better/higher than anticipated research 
money, spend against the total revenue of the 
company

Safety Fatalities Index 0 2 Not Achieved -2 Trainee Chainsaw Operator at Ngome 
Plantation sustained fatal injuries in August 
2019 during practical tree felling training. 
The Chainsaw Operator injured at Roburnia 
in April 2019 passed away from medical 
complications on 12 March 2020 despite 
positive prognosis for recovery. The injury was 
reclassified from Disabling Injury to Fatality

Disabling Injury Frequency 
Rate (DIFR)

1.80 1.62 Achieved 0.18 Improved performance as compared to the 
previous financial year

Productivity

Total gross stocked area

Plantable commercial forestry 
area (South Africa)

120 700ha 120 870ha Achieved 170ha Less area was excised than anticipated

Plantable commercial forestry 
area (Mozambique) - Manica

16 225ha 16 317ha Achieved 92 Current plantable area is above target 
due to open areas that were converted to 
compartments

Temporarily Unplanted Proportion (TUP) %

TUP South Africa 3% 3% Achieved 0% N/A

TUP Mozambique - Manica 
operations

4% 7% Not Achieved -3% Lack of rain experienced throughout the 
financial year contributed to the under 
achievement of the planting targets

FSC®® Certification

Percentage of KLF South 
African operations fully 
certified to FSC® standard and 
submission of annual FSC® 
report

100% 100% Achieved 0% N/A
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C.2.3.  Strategic Initiatives

Table C.3:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Strategic Initiatives 
(30%)

Timbadola Reinvestment Bankable business case 
approved 

Section 54 (S54) 
approval process 
concluded 

Turnkey provider 
appointed; construction 
commenced

The bid was 
advertised 
twice and were 
non-responsive; 
obtained 
approval from 
National Treasury 
(NT) to advertise 
again; bid 
specifications 
and evaluation 
criteria were 
reviewed

Not Achieved Bankable business 
case was not 
approved

S54 approval 
process was not 
concluded

Turnkey provider 
not appointed

Construction not 
yet commenced

Approval was received from the National 
Treasury to re-issue the tender

IFLOMA Fibre Project Bankable feasibility 
study/business case 
with implementation 
plan submitted for 
Board approval

Procurement 
processes 
completed and a 
service provider 
was appointed

Not Achieved Implementation 
plan could not 
be developed 
as bankable 
feasibility study 
not yet completed

An award was made for the updating of 
the Bankable Feasibility Study (BFS) and 
the development of a Bankable Business 
Plan (BBP) in February 2020. Due to capital 
management initiatives, projects will start in 
the new financial year 2020/21
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C.2.4.  Socioeconomic Impact

Table C.4:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Socioeconomic 
Impact
(weighting: 20%)

Skills 
Development

Percentage of training spend 6% 6.9% Achieved 0.9% The training budget has been exceeded 
mainly due to the trench payments for 
learnership service providers

Number of Apprenticeship 
trainees

14 14 Achieved 0 N/A

Number of Sector specific 
Learnerships

100 100 Achieved 0 N/A

CSI Total spend on Corporate 
Social Investment (CSI) 
initiatives

R7 500 000 R7 819 046 Achieved R319 046 Budget exceeded due to the discrepancy 
between actual cost of projects and budget 
allocated

Local 
Procurement

Spend on BEE compliant 
companies

80% 51% Not Achieved 29% The company is in possession of B-BBEE 
Certificates that are either invalid, non-
compliant or non-existing; this has had a 
negative e!ect on the performance

Procurement spend on 51% 
Black-Owned entities as a 
percentage of TMPS

40% 40% Achieved 0 N/A

PERFOMANCE
 INFORMATION
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Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Socioeconomic 
Impact
(weighting: 20%)

Local 
Procurement

Procurement spend on 30% 
Black Women-Owned entities 
as a percentage of TMPS

12% 18% Achieved 6% Management introduced measures to ensure 
that this target is achieved by ensuring that 
Request for Quotations (RFQ’s) and Bids 
attracts as many Black Women Owed entities 
as possible when procuring goods and 
services

Procurement spend on Black 
Youth-Owned entities as a 
percentage of TMPS

6% 8% Achieved 2% Management introduced measures to ensure 
achievement of the target by ensuring that 
(RFQ’s and Bids attracts as many Black Youth 
Owed  entities as possible when procuring 
goods and services

Procurement spend on People 
with Disabilities owned 
entities as a percentage of 
TMPS

2% 0% Not Achieved -2% A list of companies owned by PWD’s was 
compiled  and SCM team was instructed 
to issue RFQ’s mainly to these designated 
groups, however the response is always 
poor/negative thus rendering  RFQ’s to be 
non-responsive. 
Management considered it prudent to 
issue an advert inviting companies owned 
by PWD’s in order to enhance the current 
supplier list. Furthermore, as part of capacity 
building as well as expanding the pool, a 
workshop on PWD’s was planned in the 
first quarter of the financial year, however 
could not take place due to the lockdown 
regulations. 25% of the Total Procurement 
Spend is earmarked for PWD’s, an annual 
procurement plan would be used as an 
instrument to drive and monitor the target

Table C.2:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements continued
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Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Procurement spend on QSE/
EME entities as a percentage 
of TMPS

30% 36% Achieved 6% Management introduced measures to 
ensure that this target is achieved by 
ensuring that RFQs and Bids attracts as 
many QSE/EME’s entities as possible when 
procuring goods and services

Local Content Total local content as a 
percentage spend

55% 8% Not Achieved -47% Cost containment measures had an 
impact on the under achievement of 
this target. There was a drastic decrease 
in the procurement spend for March 
2020, the goods and services that were 
procured were mainly through contracts 
that were recently procured and special 
commodities where application of local 
content and production was not feasible

An application to enable SAFCOL to self-
designate certain commodities that are 
not designated industries/ commodities 
was submitted to the Department of  Trade 
and Industry and the National Treasury 
respectively as the strategy to improve 
the local content target. Furthermore an 
annual procurement plan will be used as 
an instrument to assist management by 
identifying projects that are earmarked 
for local content and production, a total of 
70% of the total procurement spend has 
been earmarked as local content  in the 
procurement plan

PERFOMANCE
 INFORMATION

Table C.4:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements continued
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Element of 
Strategic 
Intent

Key 
Performance 
Area (KPA)

Key 
Performance 
Indicator (KPI)

Planned 
Target
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement
2019/2020

Status Deviation 
from planned 
target to Actual 
Achievement for 
2019/2020

Comments on deviations

Enterprise 
and Supplier 
Development

Annual value of all Enterprise 
Development and Supplier 
Development contributions 
made by SAFCOL

R 4 000 000 R3 004 174 Not Achieved R995 826 Cost containment agreed on and not 
enforced had an impact on the under 
achievement of this target.

Table C.4:  Key Performance Indicators, planned targets and actual achievements continued
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SAFCOL was established in 1992, in terms of the Management of State Forests Act of 1992. 

It is a registered state-owned company in terms of the Companies Act No. 71 of 2008 (as 

amended), and listed as a Schedule 2 entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act 

(PFMA) of 1999. The report presented is in accordance with the provisions of the prescribed 

legislation and related regulations and addresses both the performance and statutory 

information requirements. The Board is the accounting authority, as prescribed by the PFMA.
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D.1.  Legislative framework and other 

mandate

Statutory Mandates 

a) Management of State Forests Act (No. 128 of 

1992).

b) National Forests Act (No. 84 of 1998).

Governance Frameworks 

a) Constitution of the Republic of South Africa.

b) Public Finance Management Act (No.1 of 1999).

c) Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008).

d) Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI).

e) Significance and Materiality Framework (SMF).

f ) Shareholder Compact.

g) King IV on Corporate Governance for South 

Africa, 2016.

h) Protocol on Corporate Governance for the Public 

Sector 2002.

i) SOC Remuneration Guidelines.

j) Delegation of Authority Framework.

National Policy Frameworks Guidelines

a) The New Growth Path (NGP).

b) The National Development Plan (NDP) Vision 

2030.

c) The Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP).

d) Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF), 

(2014-2019).

Table D.1: Composition of Board of Directors and meeting attendance

D.2. The Board of Directors
The SAFCOL Board is appointed by the Minister of Public Enterprises as the Shareholder representative, with the Chief Executive 

Officer and the Chief Financial Officer being only Executive Directors. The rest are Non-Executive Directors to ensure independence 

and objectivity in decision-making and oversight.

Board Members Gender Race Tenure Status

M F A I C W Executive 
Director

Non-Executive 
Director

PM Makwana 
(Chairperson) 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

MF Baleni 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

N Balton 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

P Derby 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 
to  03 February 2020 9

B Hanise 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

L Mnisi 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

Adv L Mokgatle 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

Y Pillay 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

J Yawitch 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

ZP Zatu 9 9 E!ective from 01 October 2018 9

Mr OT Monaheng 
(CEO) 9 9

E!ective from 01 December 
2017 9

Mr J Maruma 
(Acting CFO) 9 9

E!ective from 1 June 2018 to 
31 August 2019, and from 01 
March 2020 to 31 March 2020

9

Mr D Hlatshwayo 
(CFO) 9 9

E!ective from 01 September 
2019 to 29 February 2020 9

TOTAL 8 5 10 2 0 1 3 10

GOVERNANCE



61SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

D.2.1.  Composition of Board of Directors

• CA (SA)
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D.2.1.  Composition of Board of Directors continued

GOVERNANCE

Notes
1 Resigned on 03 February 2020

P Derby1

Non-Executive Director

B Hanise

Non-Executive Director

L Mnisi

Non-Executive Director

Adv. L Mokgatle

Non-Executive Director

Appointed:  01 October 2018 - 3 February 2020 Appointed:  01 October 2018 Appointed:  01 October 2018 Appointed: 01 October 2018

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• Master of Business Administration 

(MBA)

• BSC (Hons) Economics

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• B Com, BCom Honours

• Postgraduate Certificate in 

Accounting 

•  CA(SA)

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• LLB

• B. Proc

• Admitted Attorney of the High 

Court of South Africa

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• LLB

• Admitted Advocate of the High 

Court of South Africa
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D.2.1.   Composition of Board of Directors continued

Y Pillay

Non-Executive Director

J Yawitch

Non-Executive Director

Appointed:  01 October 2018 Appointed: 01 October 2018

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• Postgraduate Diploma in General 

Management

• Bachelor of Social Science (Political 

Science and Economics)

• Certificate in Cybersecurity

• MBA (Master of Business Administration)

 Qualifications and/or Profession

• MSc (Agricultural Development) 

• MA (Development Studies)

• BA Honours

• BA
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GOVERNANCE

Notes
2 Resigned on 29 February 2020

OT Monaheng

Chief Executive Officer

LED Hlatshwayo2

Chief Financial Officer

J Maruma
Chief Financial Officer (Acting)

Tenure: 01 December 2017 Tenure: 2 September 2019-29 February 2020 Tenure: 01 June 2018- 31 August 2019 & 
01 March 2020-31 March 2020

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• MBA 
• BSc (Electronic Engineering) 
• BSc Ed (Physics and Mathematics)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• Chartered Director (SA) (IoDSA) 
• MBA
• BCompt (Honours)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• CTA
• BCom (Hons) Banking 
• CA(SA)

D.2.1.   Composition of Board of Directors continued
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D.2.2.  Board Attendance
The following Board meetings took place and were attended by Directors for the period under review.

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage 

PM Makwana

(Chairperson)

10/10 100%

MF Baleni 6/10 60%

N Balton 8/10 80%

P Derby1 8/10 80%

B Hanise 9/10 90%

L Mnisi 10/10 100%

Adv L Mokgatle 9/10 90%

Y Pillay 6/10 60%

J Yawitch 9/10 90%

ZP Zatu 9/10 90%

OT Monaheng (CEO) 10/10 100%

J Maruma (Acting CFO)2 4/10 40%

D Hlatshwayo (CFO)3 6/10 60%
Notes
1Date employed, 01 October 2018. Resigned, 03 February 2020
2 Date employed  1 March 2020
3 Date employed, 01 September 2019. Resigned, 29 February 2020

Table D.2. 
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1. SAFCOL performance report for the 4th quarter

2. Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy

3. ICT Security Policy Accounting policies

4. Request to abandon KLF and ESKOM SOC Limited, Mpumalanga Provincial 

Department of Public Works and Transport (“MPDPW”) and Thaba Chweu 

Municipality (“TCM”) 

5. Wage mandate for the 2019/20 financial year 

6. Administration and Management annual increase for the 2019/20 financial year 

7. Review of the SAFCOL structure 

8. Appointment of panel of silviculture contractors for a period of 3 years 

9. Pole Treatment Plant Feasibility Study Report

10. HIV/AIDS Policy

11. Culture survey report 

12. Board Annual Work Plan for the 2019/20 financial year 

13. Board Development Plan for the 2019/20 financial year 

14. Appointment of Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

15. Annual financial statements of SAFCOL and subsidiaries for the 2018/19 

financial year 

16. SAFCOL performance Information against Shareholders Compact for the 

2018/19 financial year

17. ICT Strategic Plan for the 2019/20-2023/24

18. SAFCOL performance report for the 1st quarter

19. SAFCOL Centralised Business Continuity Plan

20. Work Outside SAFCOL Policy 

D.2.3.  2019/20 Board Activities 21. Proposed SAFCOL Executive pay scales and proposed TGP adjustments

22. SAFCOL Non-Executive Directors and Committee fees structure

23. SAFCOL Executive job evaluation and grading Project report

24. Proposed SAFCOL Prescribed Officers

25. Nomination of a SAFCOL Board member as a Director and Chairperson of IFLOMA 

Board

26. Integrated Annual Report of SAFCOL for 2018/19

27. Audited annual financial statements of SAFCOL Group for 2018/19

28. Final Management reports of SAFCOL Group for 2018/19

29. Direct and/or Indirect financial assistance to related and interrelated companies.

30. SAFCOL performance report for the 2nd quarter

31.  Delegation of authority framework

32. Fruitless, Wasteful and Irregular Expenditure Policy

33. Enterprise Risk Management Policy

34. Code of Conduct and related guidelines

35.  Long-term investment framework

36.  Short-term investment policy

37. Genus Conversion project at Berlin Plantation

38.  SAFCOL Strategic Plan: 2020/21-2024/25

39. CFO and CEO Performance Agreements: 2019/20

40. Procurement: Supply and delivery of fuel for a period of 3 years

41. Action plan for King IV Gap Analysis

42. Corporate plan and annual Budget: 2020/21

43. Shareholder Compact: 2020/21

44. Acceptance of resignation of two Directors (Mr LED Hlatswayo and Ms P Derby)

45. Extension of paid special leave in response to Covid-19

GOVERNANCE
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D.2.4.  Board Committees 

Board Committee Committee Members

Audit and Risk Committee ZP Zatu

B Hanise

L Mnisi

Y Pillay

J Yawitch

P Derby1

Human Resources and 
Remunerations Committee

B Hanise

L Mokgatle

MF Baleni

Y Pillay

PM Makwana

Board Committee Committee Members

Finance, Investments and 
Transactions Committee

P Derby1

ZP Zatu

N Balton

L Mnisi

Y Pillay

PM Makwana

Safety, Health, Environment and 
Quality Committee

MF Baleni

L Mnisi

L Mokgatle

J Yawitch

N Balton

Social and Ethics Committee J Yawitch

N Balton

MF Baleni

L Mokgatle

1Date employed, 01 October 2018. Resigned, 03 February 2020

Table D.3. 

Table D.3: Continued
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D.2.5.   Audit and Risk Committee

The Companies Act 71 of 2008 provides for the establishment of the Audit Committee 

as a statutory Committee of the Board. The independent Committee oversees SAFCOL’s 

monitoring and control systems and is accountable to the Board and Shareholders. The 

Committee doesn’t assume functions of management, which remain the responsibility 

of the Executive Management, officers and other members of senior management. The 

Committee has a role to ensure, amongst others, disclosure of risks is comprehensive, 

timely and relevant and that the internal control systems are operating effectively.

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage 

ZP Zatu 7/7 100%

B Hanise 3/7 42%

L Mnisi 7/7 100%

Y Pillay 5/7 71%

J Yawitch 4/7 57%

P Derby1 6/7 86%

1Date employed, 01 October 2018. Resigned, 03 February 2020

D.2.6.   Human Resources and Remunerations Committee 

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage

B Hanise 4/5 80%

L Mokgatle 5/5 100%

MF Baleni 5/5 100%

Y Pillay 4/5 80%

PM Makwana 4/5 80%

D.2.7.  Finance, Investments and Transactions Committee 

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage

P Derby1 7/9 77%

ZP Zatu 8/9 88%

N Balton 6/9 66%

L Mnisi 9/9 100%

Y Pillay 6/9 66%

PM Makwana 4/9 44%

1Date employed, 01 October 2018. Resigned, 03 February 2020

GOVERNANCE

Table D.4. 

Table D.5. 

Table D.6. 
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D.2.8. Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Committee

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage

MF Baleni 4/4 100%

L Mnisi 4/4 100%

L Mokgatle 4/4 100%

J Yawitch 2/4 50%

N Balton 3/4 75%

D.2.9.  Social and Ethics

Board Members Meetings Attendance Percentage

J Yawitch 3/4 75%

N Balton 4/4 100%

MF Baleni 2/4 50%

L Mokgatle 4/4 100%

D.2.10.  Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is responsible for all governance related matters within 

SAFCOL.

H Murovhi

Table D.7. 

Table D.8. 
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D.2.11.  Remuneration of Board Members 

Non-Executive Directors

Category and Position
April 2019 – March 2020

Board Fees (R) Reimbursements (R) 2019/20 (R)

PM Makwana (Chairperson) 914 678 0 914 678

MF Baleni 400 067 8 241 408 308

N Balton 307 737 6 803 314 540

P Derby1 280 591 16 717 297 308

B Hanise 336 709 20 753 357 462

L Mnisi 342 582 1 329 343 911

Adv L Mokgatle 307 737 2 476 310 213

Y Pillay 342 581 3 767 346 348

J Yawitch 382 728 4 592 387 320

ZP Zatu 342 959 13 104 356 063

1Date  employed, 01 October 2018. Resigned, 03 February 2020

GOVERNANCE

Table D.9. 
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OT Monaheng

Chief Executive Officer, 

Executive Director

LED Hlatshwayo

Chief Financial Officer , 

Executive Director

J Maruma

Chief Financial Officer (Acting),

Executive Director

Tenure: 01 December 2017 Tenure: 2 September 2019-29 February 2020 Tenure: 01 June 2018- 31 August 2019 & 
01 March 2020-31 March 2020

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• MBA 
• BSc (Electronic Engineering)
• BSc Ed (Physics and Mathematics)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• Chartered Director (SA) (IoDSA) 
• MBA
• BCompt (Honours)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• CTA
• BCom (Hons) Banking 
• CA(SA)

D.3.1.  Composition of SAFCOL’s Executive Committee

D.3.  The Executive Committee
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GOVERNANCE

D.3.1.  Composition of SAFCOL’s Executive Committee continued

T Moloi

Chief Operating Officer (Acting)

K Ross
Executive: Strategy, Innovation and 
Marketing (Acting)

J Maruma
Executive: Strategy, Innovation and 
Marketing (Acting)

Tenure:  18 June 2019
Tenure:  
09 November 2018 – 30 November 2019

Tenure: Tenure: 13 December 2019 – 28 
February 2020.

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• BSc (Forestry)
• MSc (forest Science)
• Senior management programme 

(SMP)
• Management development 

programme (MDP)
• Accelerated development 

programme (ADP)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• B. Eng. (Industrial-Electronic 

Engineering) 
• Candidate Professional Engineer 

(ECSA)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• CTA
• BCom (Hons) Banking
• CA(SA)
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D.3.1.  Composition of SAFCOL’s Executive Committee continued

ED  Motseko

Executive: Human Capital

SS Mpontshana

Executive: Legal Services

BF Sathekge

Head: ICT

Tenure:  02 January 2018 Tenure:  01 June 2018 Tenure: 16 November 2017

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• MBL
• Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) 

in Industrial Psychology
• Bachelor of Social Sciences in 

Industrial Psychology
• Advanced Programme in 

Organisational Development, 
Registered Psychometrist

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• LLB
• LLM in Commercial Law
• Admitted Attorney of the High 

Court of South Africa

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• MBA
• Management Development 

Programme (MDP)
• ND Information Technology
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L Mukwevho

Chief Audit Executive

T Xuza

Chief Audit Executive (Acting)

NN Mashego

Chief Audit Executive (Acting)

SS Mathe

Chief Risk Officer (Acting)

Tenure: 01 June 2018 - 14 June 2019 Tenure: 15 June 2019 Tenure: 1 December 20019 Tenure: 14 June 2019

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• Master in Business Administration 

(MBA)
• BCom: Internal Auditing
• BCom: Financial Accounting
• Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)
• Certification in Control Self-

Assessment (CCSA)

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)
• Certified Information Systems Auditor 

(CISA)
• Certified Government Auditing 

Professional (CGAP)
• Certification in Controls Self 

Assessment (CCSA)
• National Diploma in Internal Auditing 

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• B-Tech Degree in Internal Auditing 
• Certified Internal Auditor

 Qualifications and/or Profession
• LLB Degree
• Advance Diploma in Business 

Management–Enterprise Wide Risk 
Management

• Management Development 
Programme  (MDP)

• Admitted Attorney of the High 
Court of South Africa

GOVERNANCEGOVERNANCE

D.3.1.  Composition of SAFCOL’s Executive Committee continued
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D.3.2.  Executive Committee Remuneration

Executive Committee Members

Category and Position
April 2019 – March 2020

TGP (R) Acting Allowance (R) Reimbursements (R) 2019/20 (R)

Mr OT Monaheng 
Chief Executive Officer 3 060 396 0 13 787 3 074 183

Ms. ED Motseko
Executive: Human Capital 1 565 324 0 13 787 1 579 110

Ms. BF Sathekge 
Head: ICT 1 535 125 0 31 349 1 566 473

Mr. SS Mpontshana
Executive: Legal, Risk and Compliance 1 670 280 0 939 1 671 218

Mr LED Hlatshwayo 1

Chief Financial Officer 1 347 344 0 0 1 347 344

Mrs SS Mathe 2

Acting Chief Risk Officer 1 087 470 97 630
0 1 185 100

Mr J Maruma 3

Acting Chief Financial Officer 679 082 114 395 0 793 477

Mr T Moloi 4

Acting Chief Operating Officer 1 325 641 253 282 13 787 1 592 710

Ms. K. Ross 5

Acting Executive: Strategy, Innovation and Marketing 1 009 198 103 303 28 227 1 140 728

Ms. L Mukwevho 6

Chief Audit Executive 401 080 0 0 401 080

Mr. T Xuza 7

Acting Chief Audit Executive 412 089 50 162 10 967 473 218

Mrs. NN Mashego 8

Acting Chief Audit Executive 367 752 27 563 2 317 397 632

Mr J Maruma9

Acting Executive: Strategy, Innovation and Marketing 293 681 29 817 0 323 498

Notes
1 Resigned, 29 February 2020
2 14 June 2019 to 31 March 2020
3 01 April 2019 to 31 August 2019. 01 March 2020 to 31 March 2020

4 18 June 2019 to 31 March 2020
5 01 April 2019 to 30 November 2019 
6 Resigned, 14 June 2019

7 15 June 2019 to 30 November 2019
8 01 December 2019 to 31 March 2020
9 13 December 2019 to 28 February 2020
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Table D.10. 

D.4.   Combined Assurance

D.4.1.  Risk Management

The Companies Act 71 of 2008 provides for the establishment of the Audit Committee 

as a statutory Committee of the Board. The independent Committee oversees SAFCOL’s 

monitoring and control systems and is accountable to the Board and Shareholders. The 

Committee doesn’t assume functions of management, which remain the responsibility 

of the Executive Management, officers and other members of senior management. The 

Committee has a role to ensure, amongst others, disclosure of risks is comprehensive, 

timely and relevant and that the internal control systems are operating effectively.

D.4.2.  Internal Audit

SAFCOL’s Internal Audit has a specific mandate from the ARC which is to independently 

appraise the adequacy and effectiveness of SAFCOL’s risk management processes, 

internal controls and governance processes. It submits its findings to the Executive 

Committee, senior management, the external auditors and the ARC. The internal 

audit coverage plan is based on the results of the Group-wide risk assessment and 

the approved Group strategy. The coverage plan is updated annually considering risk 

assessments, internal and external emerging strategic issues and the results of audits 

performed. This ensures that the audit coverage focuses on identified risks.

D.4.3.  Fraud and Prevention

During the year in review the SAFCOL Fraud Hotline was managed by an external 

service provider. In this period, 28 fraud and corruption related allegations were 

recorded indicating an increase of 86% in the number of reported allegations 

compared to the previous corresponding period, the nature of the allegations is as 

follows:

Nature Number of allegations

Procurement irregularities 6

Human Resource irregularities 5

Theft 4

Fraud and Corruption 12

Other 1

GOVERNANCE

Table D.11. 
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D.4.4.   Code of Conduct

SAFCOL is committed to the highest standards of conduct and business ethics. We 

have adopted a code of conduct that compels the company to conduct all its business 

dealings in respect to laws pertaining to countries in which we operate. We believe 

that our success in markets in which we operate is built on integrity. Management as 

part of internal control ensures that all employees adhere to the appropriate code of 

conduct thereby enhancing the reputation of the company. SAFCOL strives to prevent 

any situation that may compromise these principles in its dealings with customers, 

suppliers and other stakeholders.

D.4.5.   Health, Safety and Environmental Issues

D.4.5.1.  Our Environmental Responsibility

SAFCOL’s purpose is the development of the forestry industry, according to accepted 

commercial management practice. SAFCOL maintains practices that are economically 

viable, environmentally acceptable and socially beneficial. is a sequester of carbon and 

contributes very little to the causes of climate change. 

Of greater concern, though, is the potential effect that climate change may have on the 

future growing of our feedstock, largely due to increased temperatures and reduced 

rainfall. This is being addressed through our established Research and Development 

programmes that seek to breed hybrid trees, which are more resistant to hot and dry 

conditions, and associated pests, which may occur as a result. SAFCOL is developing 

a 3-year Climate Change Response Plan, which includes optimal consumption of 

resources (electricity, water and fuel) at our Timbadola sawmill. 

We continue to monitor emission limits and compliance and, to this end, we rely as 

much as possible on technology. The age of existing sawmill technologies negates 

the economic installation of fixed continuous monitoring systems, and although 

opportunities for reduction under current operating conditions are few, this will form 

an integral part of our expansion or modernisation programme.

FSC®

Our FSC® Certification was retained for the 23rd consecutive year. An essential 

component of SAFCOL’s FSC® Certification is monitoring the impact of the forestry 

operations on the affected environments and ecosystems, as well as heritage sites and 

rare, threatened and endangered species. 12 monitoring projects were initiated in the 

2019/20 financial year. This included monitoring of water quality and stream conditions 

in identified catchments, assessment of grasslands, veld and grazing capacities, and 

ongoing monitoring of known rare, threatened and endangered species, both floral 

and faunal, on our plantations.

D.4.5.2.  Health and Safety

Two fatalities were recorded during the financial year under review, and internal 

measures were put in place to minimise such tragedies. SAFCOL achieved the 

Shareholder’s Compact target for the Disabling Injury Frequency Rate (DIFR) for the 

3rd consecutive year. This was achieved by recording a rate of 1.62 against an upper 

target of 1.80. SAFCOL also achieved its highest average compliance score on record 

at the annual external health and safety audit conducted across all South African 

business units by the National Occupational Safety Association (NOSA). Through the 

application of robust health and safety management systems, we remain focused on 

efforts to reduce and ultimately eliminate illness and injury in the workplace. 
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E.1.   Human Capital Management (Our people, our talent, our future)

Human Capital (HC) continues to play a crucial role in ensuring that SAFCOL meet its 

people objectives by continuously aligning the people practices across the group, 

setting the tone and direction for people agenda and for being the custodian of 

companywide people strategies and processes. The emphasis during the year under 

review was to improve business competitiveness and profitability. 

Human Capital, in consultation with business, prioritised the review and realignment 

of structures to SAFCOL’s strategy to synergise costs and time across all operations. 

Remarkable progress towards the achievement of Human Capital’s strategic objectives 

was made. However, as a company in transit, continuous improvement is at the centre 

of Human Capital agenda. The figure below contains Human Capital’s strategic drivers 

for the 2019/2020 financial year.  

Inculcate a high performance cultureChange management

Competence developmentEmployee wellness

Talent management & succession planningPartnership with institutes of higher learning

Leadership alignmentPerformance management

Building value-based cultureEmployee relations

Organisational enablement and alignment Figure E.1: HC Strategic Drivers for 2019/20 FY

HUMAN
MANAGEMENT
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E.2.   Human Capital Strategic Drivers and Key Deliverables

E.2.1.  Organisational Enablement

HC follows a phased approach to deliver on the set key strategic drivers. These strategic drivers were aimed at ensuring alignment between the group strategy and the people 

strategy and still remain relevant to date and are articulated in details below: 

2019/20 deliverables 

• During the year under review, a priority and 

focus for SAFCOL was to improve business 

competitiveness and profitability

• The Company embarked on improvement plans 

including business realignment to ensure better 

management and alignment of overheads 

to business strategy. To realise this effort, 

the Corporate and Operations structure was 

reviewed, approved and implemented

• Approval of  organisational design principles 

and framework to assist the company in 

realising its efforts to streamline processes and 

ensure organisational efficiency

• Change Management

Actions to enhance delivery 

• Conduct Company-wide Skills Audit to assess 

skills relevance 

• Conduct Full time Equivalent Study

•  Identify efficiency gaps and ensure continuous 

improvement 

• Continuous review of job roles to ensure 

alignment  to the strategy 

• Competency mapping 

• Automation of Human Capital Information, 

Systems and Processes 

Leadership related delivery actions 

• Coaching and Mentoring

• Leadership Alignment & Development 

• Focused Development of Leadership Team 

Successors 

 
Table E.1.
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In efforts to closely manage the 
headcount, SAFCOL has 1472 

permanent employees as compared 
to 1546 of the previous year. IFLOMA, 
previously at 606, has 447 permanent 

employees.

The consolidated staff turnover 
rate for permanent employees for 
SAFCOL was 0.49% and 0.36% at 
IFLOMA.

SAFCOL continuously  investment 
in community capacity building 

programmes and during 2019/2020  a 
total of 170 graduate programmes were 

implemented to  promote community 
development in line with Shareholder 

Compact, which include implementation 
of Learnerhsips, internships, bursaries and 

apprenticeship. 

SAFCOL invested R 26 534 045 in training during 
2019/20 financial year to promote higher levels 
of productivity and engagement. Additionally, a 
total of 3 701 forestry specific and safety training 
were implemented to build capacity within SAFCOL 
operations and Contractors upskilling.

A total of 511 employees underwent external 
training to enhance the pool of skills available to 
company’s future business needs. 

Head count 

Community 
capacity 

development 
investment

Staff turnover 

Training & 
development 

E.2.2.  Our people

HUMAN
MANAGEMENT

Chart E.1.



83SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

Actions to enhance delivery 

• Build  a strong leadership bench and talent pools across 

business to ensure sufficient talent supply for SAFCOL

2019/20 deliverables

• During the year under review, SAFCOL’s Talent Management 

and Succession Planning strategy and related policies were 

approved by Board

• Key strategic roles were identified and targeted for talent pools 

and succession planning

• The priority and focus during 2019/20 FY was to develop a 

leadership bench through a Succession Planning and Talent 

Mapping process

• Dual career pathing was introduced to strengthen the company’s 

recruitment and retention initiatives

E.2.3.  Talent Management and Succession Planning

Table E.2.
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E.2.4.    Our culture

2019/20 deliverables Actions to enhance delivery

During the year under review, SAFCOL:

� Communicated the Culture Survey results and recommendations to all employees across the business

�  Commenced with the implementation of Culture Change interventions. The following key interventions 

were prioritised: 

�» Structural realignment 

�» Creating a values based and ethical culture

�» Leadership development

�» Inculcating high performance culture by ensuring that teams and individuals understand their 

contributions towards the delivery on strategic objectives and goals

� The Group reviewed its values and introduced the behavioural indicators associated with each company 

value 

� A new set of people related policies were introduced during the year under review to support high 

performance culture

• Ensure strategic alignment by cascading and 

aligning corporate, divisional strategy and align 

individual performance objectives with functional 

and divisional objectives

• Drive continuous conversations and performance 

monitoring

• Introduce a change management framework to 

assist employees and the company navigate and 

manage change effectively

Table E.3.

HUMAN
MANAGEMENT
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E.2.5.   Reward and Remuneration

During the 2019/20 financial year, the company undertook the following Key Reward and Remuneration activities. These activities have been aimed in ensuring that Governance, en-

hancement of EVP, compliance and strengthening of SAFCOL’s attraction and retention of talented people.

Key reward and remuneration activities Detailed report of activities

Remuneration Alignment to Shareholder Guidelines The Board concluded all activities related to DPE alignment project. It was resolved at AGM that SAFCOL need to prioritise the 

following key initiatives for alignment project:

� Revised DPE SOCs sizing methodology and approach

� NED’s Board Fees Quantum calculations and methodology

� SAFCOL Pay Scales review and Report

Executive Job Grades Review Alignment Project During the year under review, SAFCOL successfully reviewed and completed the Executives and Senior Managers job evaluation 

and grading process. The review resulted into more streamlined and progressive alignment of key roles accountabilities and 

responsibilities and greater enhancement to the Executive hierarchical roles versus levels of accountability

Key Remuneration Policies Reviewed During the year under review, SAFCOL undertook and completed strategic review of its Key Remuneration Policies thus 

strengthening governance, applicability and changing business dynamics that impact on attraction and retention of talent. 

The following policies were successful reviewed and implemented across the business: SAFCOL Remuneration and Reward 

Policy, Conditions of Service, Leave Policy, Payroll Procedure and Manual, Performance Incentives Bonus Policy and Acting 

Policy

Employee Benefits The organisation updated and implemented the revolutionary 

Paternity Leave benefits in line with and in compliance with the 

new regulations signed into law by the President. SAFCOL has 

progressively implemented the full suite of paternity benefits 

for all its employees

The Company successfully reviewed and implemented 

the Long Service monetary awards amounts and added 

15, 25 and 35 years to the recognition categories to 

reward talent and knowledge masters

Board and Committee Fees During the year under review, there were no changes to the remuneration structure of the SAFCOL Board and Committee 

fees. Whilst the Shareholder had approved an inflationary adjustment of 4.5% for SAFCOL Board and Committees fees, 

the Board through its meeting, considered the Company financial position and agreed not to implement any inflationary 

aforementioned fees adjustments

Table E.4.
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E.2.6.   Human capital oversight and statistics

During the 2019/20 financial year SAFCOL had 1720 approved positions. The positions ranged from Top Management (F band) to unskilled employees (A band). On 31 March 2020, 

employee headcount reduced to 1472 permanent employees, creating 248 vacancies. 

The figure below reflect the Human Capital (Headcount) Statistics for the 2019/2020 financial year:

Employee by Occupational Level

0 100 500300 700200 600400 800 900

Unskilled

Semi-skilled

Skilled

Professional qualified

Senior Management

Top  Management Graph E.1: SAFCOL 

Employment by occupational 

levels for the past two years

2019/20 No. of employees

2018/19 No. of employees

431
       468

171
  178

82
80

7
8

4
5

777
           807
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Graph E.2: Disciplinary cases for the past 

three financial years

E.2.7.   Employment Relations and Wellness

E.2.7.1.  Integrated Health and Wellness

SAFCOL introduced an integrated Occupational Health and Wellness programme, which 

is aimed at ensuring a safe and healthy working environment.

E.2.7.2.   Employee Relations

During the period under review, SAFCOL continued to develop more productive 

and sustainable relationships with organised labour through several structures of 

engagement. The Company continued to foster employee participation in strategic 

conversations regarding the organisation’s performance and other strategic initiatives. 

As a result of this consultative and collaborative approach adopted by the company, the 

year under review marked eight (8) years in succession where SAFCOL recorded a zero 

man-hours lost due to industrial action. 

 A one-year salary and conditions of service agreement was concluded with the trade 

unions during the year under review. Central to the negotiations was a review of employee 

benefits wherein the key and critical benefit is the implementation of Medical Aid benefit 

across the company.

HUMAN
MANAGEMENT
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E.3.  Employee Equity

In complying with Employment Equity Act, SAFCOL developed a plan which was 

aimed at driving the company’s transformation and supporting employment equity ini-

tiatives. The Consultative Employment Equity Committee continued to provide its stat-

utory oversight on the EE programme through its quarterly consultative meetings. The 

company’s achievement report on Employment Equity targets for the financial year un-

der review are reflected in the below.

Graph E.3:  Employment Equity 

Representation as per 2019/20 

Employment Equity Targets

Occupational Levels

Targets  fy 2019/20 Actual Mar 2020

HUMAN
MANAGEMENT
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F.1.  Socioeconomic Deliverables

Skills Development

The Skills Development Act, Skills Development Levies Act and National Qualifications Framework Act were promulgated to address skills shortages in South Africa, as the shortage 

of skills has been cited as a major obstacle to economic growth, social development and sustainable employment opportunities and growth in our country. SAFCOL through Learning 

and Development has given significant attention in this area through implementing meaningful and impactful skills development interventions. The table below contains highlights, 

lowlights, challenges and future outlook as it relates to SAFCOL skills development strategic initiatives. 

F.1.1.   Highlights

Highlights

What we have Achieved 

• To comply with legislation which aims to increase the participation of Historically Disadvantaged individuals in the economy, the following was achieved during 2019/20 review 

period: 

 » Five learners living with disabilities across all graduate programmes were afforded an opportunity to gain knowledge and skills to enable them to be marketable, which in 

turn contributed to the achievement of the company’s BBBEE target

 » 101 learners from previously disadvantaged communities were placed on Forestry Related Learnership, including Silviculture, General Education and Training certificate in 

Forestry and Processing, this ensures that SAFCOL actively invests in socioeconomic activities to address poverty and unemployment within rural communities 

 » SAFCOL awarded 36 bursaries, which were splits amongst current employees, dependents of employees and Communities within the various field of study, primarily forestry 

related and as part of Company’s quest to inculcate the learning and continuous improvement culture

• As part of Work Integrated Learning programme, SAFCOL during the year under review, appointed 34 Interns within technical business areas like Forestry, Processing and Finance 

thereby affording unemployed graduates an opportunity for workplace experience which aims to enable them to compete in the labour market 

• Received SETA Discretionary and Mandatory funding 

• Partnered with Tshwane University of Technology (TUT) in the development of a Higher Certificate in Forestry to assist the company build the talent pool for entry level forestry 

related opportunities

• SAFCOL was afforded an opportunity to benchmark forestry related training and other forestry related business initiatives in Finland through funding and partnership with 

UNIDO

• Internal Forestry and Processing Technical short skills training programmes targets were met, SAFCOL employees operating in operations and contractors alike benefited from 

the programme and were capacitated accordingly with skills to assist them deliver on their mandate

Table F.1.

SOCIAL
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F.1.2.   Setbacks

F.1.4. Future Outlook

F.1.3.   Challenges

Setbacks

What did not Work

• Delayed process of implementing Timber frame structure building project for community learners 

• Due to company cost containment exercise, Community Training targets were revised and deferred and priority was given  to Corporate Social Investment (CSI) and Enterprise 

Development (ED) projects

Future 

Outlook

Exciting upcoming skills development strategic projects

• Repurposing Platorand Training Centre as the SAFCOL Forestry Academy of Excellence

• Expansion of Sector Education and Training Authority (SETA) scope to other SETA’s for programme accreditation such as Health and Welfare SETA and obtain accreditation with 

Quality Council for Trades and Occupation for occupational qualifications

• Introduction of Learner Management System (LMS) for effective delivery of training interventions

Challenges

There was  limited capacity to absorb learners from all programmes upon completion due to the following reasons: 

• No opportunities to absorb all learners upon completion of programmes due to cost containment measures in place 

• Limited representation of learners from certain designated groups, like PWDs, Indians and Coloureds 

• Inability to implement Learner Management System (LMS)

Table F.2.

Table F.3.

Table F.4.
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F.2.  Enterprise and Supplier Development (ESD)

SAFCOL is committed to drive transformation by facilitating 

sustainable economic development for previously-

marginalised communities. One way of facilitating the 

objective is through ESD interventions which assist Small 

Medium and Micro Enterprise Sectors (SMMEs) operating 

within the forestry value chain with facilitation of funding, 

access to the market, capacity building, job creation and 

effective business management skills. These interventions 

have a strategic focus on designated groups (youth, women 

and PWDs) and businesses based in rural areas to ensure 

that they form part of the Economically Active Population 

(EAP).

F.2.1.   Supplier Development

A total of R1 835 346 was invested in supplier development 

initiatives in the 2019/20 financial year, as categorised in 

the following contributions:

• Direct costs incurred in supporting suppliers: 40.22% 

of the total invested

• Time of employees assisting beneficiaries: 32.49% of 

the total invested

• Shorter payment periods: 25.28% of the total invested

The below table details the ESD projects undertaken

SOCIAL
CAPITAL 
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Project Description

Contractor Development Programmes • The programme was piloted during 2019/20 in partnership with the University of Mpumalanga to enable efficient business 

management and capacity building for SMMEs owned by designated groups

• A total of 20 Contractors took part in the programme and subsequently, created approximately 1000 jobs

Safety, Health, Environment and 

Quality (SHEQ) Training

• The Company conducted Safety, Health, Environment and Quality training for forestry contractors. Furthermore, training 

was provided to catering service providers on Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points (HACCP) management systems in the 

preparation of food

• A total of 20 forestry Contractors and 12 catering suppliers were trained. They created approximately 1050 employment 

opportunities through their entities

Business Workshops conducted for the 

year 2019/20

• SAFCOL’s hosted workshops in Mpumalanga, Limpopo and KwaZulu Natal provinces for existing and potential suppliers 

to network and explore business opportunities within the forestry value chain. These also served as information-sharing 

on various financial and non-financial support offered by other government institutions. The workshops resulted in the 

implementation of Pest Control Operator (PCO) training for emerging forestry business entities in Sabie. The PCO certificate 

has been identified as one of the barriers-to-entry for Black-owned businesses within the forestry industry.

• A total of 357 business owners attended the workshops

 Facilitation of access to finance • SAFCOL coordinated the facilitation of access to funding opportunities for its Silviculture and gardening Contractors 

through Small Enterprise Finance Agency (SEFA) and Mpumalanga Economic Growth Agency (MEGA)

• 3 contractors received funding through SAFCOL intervention

Table F.5.
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F.2.2.   Enterprise Development (ED)

A total of R1 215 624 was invested towards ED initiatives.  The types of ED initiatives undertaken during the financial year can be summarised by the following contributions: 

• Direct costs incurred in supporting Enterprises: 94.48% of total investment

• Costs incurred towards overhead costs for ED beneficiaries: 5.52% of total investment

The following table details ED projects undertaken. 

Project Description

Mgadzeni Primary Cooperative Limited Weeding operations in the conservation compartments at Bergvliet plantation were afforded to the Mgadzeni 

community as part of the Company‘s Forestry Enterprise Development. The Company provided the Cooperative with 

basic forestry training, protective clothing and business mentorship

At least 30 people benefited from the job opportunities created by this initiative

Sidlasonke Multipurpose Primary Cooperative The Cooperative is 100% owned by 5 Black women who saw an opportunity in the manufacturing of garments in their 

community. The Cooperative does not only serve as a source of income for its members, it also creates part-time jobs 

for the local community. SAFCOL has supported this Cooperative with industrial sewing machines and basic business 

skills training in partnership with SEDA, Richards Bay

The Cooperative has created temporary employment for 10 people

Table F.6.
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F.3.   Corporate Social Investment (CSI)

SAFCOL, through its CSI, continues to change lives and create hope for the less privileged within the communities where it operates. The CSI projects are aligned to the govern-

ment’s developmental mandate and objectives of the National Development Plan 2030. Within the perimeters of its commitment for ‘Social Capital’ and being a catalyst for rural 

and economic development, SAFCOL invested R7 819 046 towards the delivery of various community projects. 

The following table details the CSI initiatives undertaken.

Project Description

New Glory Hill Clinic • SAFCOL invested about R2 500 000 to build a much-needed clinic for the Graskop community. This state-of-

the-art building will provide quality primary health centre and relief as the services were previously rendered 

in an old community hall

• This project created  12 jobs  for the community

Expanded Public Works Programme 

(EPWP)

• The programme was implemented in consultation with the Joint Community Forum as the recruitment 

agents

• The project created more than 200 EPWP job opportunities for various cluster communities in Kwa-Zulu 

Natal, Mpumalanga and Limpopo

Robbinsdale and Dundonald Timber footbridges • In line with empowering communities around our operations, SAFCOL built 2 footbridges in Robbinsdale 

and Dundonald

• The footbridges allow learners to get to schools and the rest of the community access to basic services, 

markets and general freedom of movement

• This has created 17 jobs for the local community

Images: New Glory Hill Clinic
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98 SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

Project Description

 Hlushwana community borehole • SAFCOL drilled and equipped a new borehole in Hlushwana community in KwaNongoma, KwaZulu Natal. 

Previously, the community collected water from a local river. That posed health challenges and criminals 

targeted women and children walking to the river. Fetching water from the borehore continues to keep the 

community safe from crimanal elements

• The borehole supplies over 70 households with clean water

Dignity Drive Campaign • SAFCOL has supported schools adjacent to its operations with over 3 800 dignity packs, which consists of 

sanitary towels and toiletries for young girls

• The initiative reduced absenteeism in schools and restored dignity to the girls

Khuphukani Women Agricultural Cooperative • The Cooperative is owned by 5 women and operates in Redhill village on a 5ha farming project that grows a 

variety of crops. SAFCOL has supported their initiative by providing seedlings and an irrigation system

• The project fosters economic growth, reduces poverty and improves food security in the area.   

Ngome Primary School Computers • The Company equipped a computer centre for the Ngome Primary School in Ntendeka village, KwaZulu Natal 

with 10 computers in an e!ort to introduce Information Technology to the learners. As a direct result of this 

project, rural learners now have vast access to knowledge and other Information Technology

Table F.7: Continued
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F.4.   Agroforestry Projects

Agriculture plays a vital role in economic development and contributes significantly to household food security in South Africa. It also forms part of the NDP as it contributes to-

wards the elimination of poverty and unemployment. Over the years, SAFCOL’s agroforestry and related projects, such as beekeeping, groundnut farming and firewood collection 

have yielded economic benefits for local communities.

The table below details the agroforestry projects undertaken.

Project Description

Hlabekisa Agricultural Project • A 2ha farm was cultivated by a group of 5 women in the Moremele village outside the Graskop town in Mpumalanga. SAFCOL invested 

towards skills development and the supply of seedlings and irrigation. The farm has produced beans and maize which was sold to the 

local market

Tzaneen Agroforestry Project • The project involved cultivation of groundnuts and jugo beans on a 22ha clear-felled eucalyptus compartment. SAFCOL allowed 

utilisation of its operational land for the project and also supplied seeds for the community

• The project benefited more than 190 members from communities adjacent to the JDM Keet Plantation. After harvest, beneficiaries sold 

their harvest to the informal market

Images: Footbridges

Table F.8.
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We are committed to overseeing a fair, responsible, transparent and open approach regarding the 

SAFCOL’s remuneration framework and policy. My role is also to oversee and continuously monitor 

human resources and remuneration related risks, which could potentially have a negative impact on 

the execution of the Group’s strategic objectives.

Objectives of the Committee

The responsibilities of the Committee are, among other things, to determine Human Capital strategy, 

practices and policies and regarding remuneration, mainly to assist the SAFCOL Board to discharge its 

responsibility of oversight of the management of reward and remuneration matters. This includes the 

responsibility to ensure that SAFCOL remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently to promote the 

achievement of SAFCOL’s strategic targets, goals, and objectives.

Furthermore, the Committee’s objective is to provide a level of comfort to the Board that SAFCOL’s 

reward and remuneration practices and structures support the Group’s strategy and performance 

goals and enables the attraction, retention and motivation of executives and all employees.

The primary role of the Committee is:

• To ensure that an appropriate reward and remuneration policy is developed in alignment with 

SAFCOL’s overarching business strategy and aligned to the Shareholder’s (DPE) Remuneration 

Guidelines and ensure implementation thereof;

• Make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration philosophy and strategy 

from company-wide perspective;

• Ensure that the Company’s ethical standards are applied to the processes for the evaluation of 

performance and the reward of employees;

• Ensure that there are succession plans in place for the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), CFO and 

executive management on an annual basis and provide for succession in both crisis management 

situations and over the long-term; and

• Ensure that a continuous training and development policy is developed for Committee members 

and executive management (including executive directors of the Company) to enable them to 

remain relevant and competent in the fast changing environment they are required to lead.

G.1.  Human Resources and Remunerations Committee

BOARD COMMITTEE
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The Committee’s objectives are summarised in a figure below.

Endorse & make recommendation to the 

Board on the Company’s remuneration 

philosophy.

Review the remuneration and 

incentive policies that drive individual 

and company performance

Talent Management and Succession 

planning strategy. Review the system 

and process for succession planning for 

the CEO and other executives

Ensure alignment of executive 

management incentives to Company’ 

strategic goals and objectives

Sets the tone and administer 

remuneration matters at all levels 

within the company

Ensure applicability of individual and 

the Company Shareholder’s compacts 

and scorecards

Review the development and/or 

implementation of human capital 

strategies, policies, processes and 

systems

Provide oversight in the 

implementation of the remuneration 

policy

Women Executive Development/ 

Empowerment

Composition and Functioning of the Committee

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee of the Board consists of non-

executive directors, namely: Ms B Hanise (Chairperson), PM Makwana, Mr Y Pillay, Adv 

L Mokgatle and Mr MF Baleni. Its members including the Chairperson are appointed 

by the Board. Executive directors (CEO and CFO) and key executives participate in the 

meeting by invitation. Five meetings were held during the year, across the tenure of 

both the previous and current Board.

HR & REMCO Strategic focus for 2019/2020

Organisational effectiveness

• Following the approval of the Group strategy, HR & REMCO initiated the review of 

the SAFCOL Group structure to ensure it is capable to:

 » Supports the company strategy,

 » Enables delivery and achievement of strategic goals; and

 » Enable the achievement of targets and company objectives and strengthen 

corporate governance.

• Reviewed the organisational structure to align with the new strategy and ensure 

proper delegation of authority, well defined chain of command, and that roles and 

responsibilities are properly assigned.

Figure G1:  Objectives of the Human Resources and Remunerations Committee
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SAFCOL Remuneration (REM) Philosphy

• The Rem policy is board-approved and forms part of our operating philosophy, 

policies and standards. It sets out how total remuneration must be managed in the 

group and is supported by detailed operating policies, procedures and practices 

at business level.

• Rem policy was review and approved to enable appropriate transparency in the 

development of remuneration programmes and the distribution of individual 

remuneration awards to ensure equity and fairness (ethical outcomes) based on 

valid and appropriate external and internal benchmarks.

• Alignment with the principles of good corporate remuneration governance and 

DPE guidelines.

• Reviewed other HC strategic and people related policies to align with best 

practices.

• A comprehensive pay structure and earnings ranges with clear and transparent 

process for matching remuneration data to market benchmarks.

• Facilitated filling of the key executive positions of the CFO and COSEC to support 

the company’s turnaround strategy of strengthening and capacitating the finance 

and secretariat governance functions.

• Approval of employee benefits for SAFCOL group – the process is underway to 

appoint the service provider for the provision of medical scheme benefits.

Talent focus intiatives

• Approval of the Group’s Talent Management and Succession Planning strategy, 

policies and framework.

• Approved SAFCOL leadership competency framework and leadership pipeline to 

ensure focused development of SAFCOL leaders across all levels.

• Approval of Leadership pipeline framework and levels of work.

HC&REMCO Governance

• Nominated a SAFCOL Board member to serve as the member and the Chairperson 

of the IFLOMA Board as evaluation of the reporting lines to have more visibility on 

the IFLOMA operations directly from SAFCOL as opposed to KLF level.

• Review the NED’s fee for proper benchmarking and align to best practice.

• Alignment of remuneration and incentives policies for EDs, POs and NEDs with the 

2018 DPE guide.

• There is a dedicated and skilled remuneration committee to provide independent 

oversight and

• direction on remuneration, with clear roles and responsibilities set out in the 

committee’s charter.

Learning and development

• Achievement of Shareholder’s compact target, which serves as a feeder to the 

company Talent pipeline through the implementation of youth development 

programmes including people living with disabilities as the company’s drive to 

fulfil its duty to society.

• Ensured professional registration of Executive and Directors with the Institute 

of Directors (IOD) to strengthen Governance, sound business leadership and 

development.

• Capacitated and upskilled management on PFMA and BID committee training to 

ensure sound financial practice within the Company.

• Benchmarked forestry best practice at Finland through the UNIDO partnership.

• Reviewed the TOR for bursaries and skills development initiatives to prioritise 

women leadership development.

BOARD COMMITTEE
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Employee relations and wellness

• Enhanced employee participation in strategic conversations regarding the 

company’s performance and other strategic initiatives.

• Continued to build and maintained a productive and sustainable relationships 

with organised labour through several structures of engagement within SAFCOL.

• The 2019/20 wage negotiations were resolved without an industrial action. During 

the year under review, SAFCOL recorded a zero man-hours lost due to industrial 

action since financial year 2013/14.

• Management of the integrated occupational health and the wellness programme 

which ensured that all employees are fully engaged (healthy, productive and 

resilient).

• Introduction of the surveillance programme which enabled SAFCOL to detect and 

eliminate the underlying medical conditions has significantly contributed to the 

success of workplace health and safety programmes.

Challenges

• Human Capital intelligence :

 » Automation of Human Capital processes.

 » Automation of L&D learning platforms such as Learner Management System

• Employee Value Proposition - as it relates to key employee benefits such Medical 

aid scheme and the 13th Cheque to compete fairly and for talent attraction 

purposes.

Conclusion

The committee has adopted an appropriate terms of reference as its charter, 

has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged its 

responsibilities as contained therein.

Ms B Hanise

Chairperson of Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
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The Committee comprises of the following Non-Executive Directors: Ms. ZP Zatu (Chairperson), Ms. 

J Yawitch, Ms. B Hanise, Ms. L Mnisi, and Mr. Y Pillay. The Board of Directors, in consultation with the 

Shareholder, appoints the members, including the Chairperson. Executive Directors namely the CEO, 

CFO, and other key Executives participate in the meetings by invitation.

Objectives of the Audit and Risk Committee:

• Oversight of integrity in the preparation of financial statements in compliance with all applicable 

laws and regulations.

• Oversight regarding the integrity of the financial reporting system. 

• Oversight of the organisation’s assurance functions including external assurance providers, 

internal audit, and the finance function. 

• Monitoring, assessing, and managing financial and other risks. 

• Assist the Board in carrying out its functions relating to safe-guarding SAFCOL’s assets, the 

operation of adequate risk management, and ensuring the effectiveness of the Company’s 

internal controls.

• Support the Board in carrying out its role relating to information and communication technology 

(ICT) by ensuring the ethical and responsible use of ICT, compliance with relevant laws, ensuring 

an appropriate control environment and managing material ICT risks.

Key Challenges:

%� A high amount of irregular expenditure stemming primarily from the previous years.

%� ICT control environment not performing optimally, stemming from the inability to upgrade or 

replace the JDE system. This leaves the entity vulnerable from an IT cybesecurity and service 

continuity point of view.

%� Profitability and liquidity challenges in the entity were exasperated by the constrained  South 

African and global economy.

%�  Lack of capacity within internal audit resulted in delays in finalising forensic investigations and 

the inability to provide assurance over the previous audit findings.

%� Lack of capacity within the finance department resulted in insufficient oversight over procurement 

processes and compromised the quality of submitted financial statements.

%�  Delays in the implementation of recommendations from the forensic reports, which resulted in a 

lack of consequence management.

%� The NPA declined to prosecute cases that were referred to them in 2017.  The company is 

following-up on these matters.

G.2.    Report of the Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee

ZP Zatu 
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Progress to date:

%� Improved the audit opinion from a qualified to an unqualified audit opinion.

%� Monitored cost improvement and revenue enhancement initiatives to ensure 

improved liquidity and profitability of the entity. EBITDA improved from a loss of 

(R66 million) to a profit of R35 million.

%� With the support of the Board and EXCO, appointed a Chief Audit Executive. The 

recruitment process for a permanent CFO is in the final stages.

%� The process of engaging funders to assist in funding of the IT system is afoot.

%� Performed an independent review of Annual Financial Statements to address 

issues raised by the AG, particularly material misstatements, incorrect application 

of accounting policies and disclosures contained in the financial statements, and 

irregular expenditure. 

%� Embarked on the implementation of recommendations of all finalised forensic 

investigation reports, which included: conducting disciplinary processes 

against the employees implicated; flagging companies that were found to have 

committed wrongdoing; assess the identified financial losses for purposes of 

testing the viability of legal recovery processes; implemented internal controls as 

recommended by the forensic investigation reports.

%� Engaging with the NPA in terms of both the Constitution and National Prosecuting 

Authority Act for a review of their decisions not to prosecute 26 of the 29 criminal 

cases that were opened with the SAPS by SAFCOL.

%� Approved the Fraud and Corruption policy, ICT security policy, including the ICT 

governance framework.

%� Continuously addressing weaknesses relating to capacity constraints and 

assurance.

%� Increasing oversight on policies and frameworks that will assist SAFCOL in 

preventing some of the governance failures of the past. 

Conclusion

The Committee has adopted appropriate terms of reference as its charter, regulated 

its affairs in compliance with this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as 

contained therein.

Ms ZP Zatu 

Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
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J Yawitch

The composition of the Committee remains unchanged from the previous financial year. The Com-

mittee is made up of the following non-Executive Directors: Ms. J Yawitch (Chairperson), Adv. L Mok-

gatle, Mr. MF Baleni, and Mr. NI Balton. The members, including the Chairperson, are appointed by 

the Board of Directors in consultation with the Shareholder. Executive Directors, including the CEO, 

CFO, and other key Executives participate in the meetings by invitation.

The objective of the Committee is to augment SAFCOL’s Socio-Economic Transformation impera-

tives, as well as its drive to instill an ethical culture across the organisation at all levels. Crucially, this 

Committee has a responsibility towards ensuring that the Board has a sound fraud and anti-corrup-

tion policy in place. 

The Committee adopted an action plan that is intended to achieve the acceleration and adoption of 

social and transformation initiatives in communities in which SAFCOL operates, as well as establish 

the building blocks necessary to guarantee the Company’s ethical base. 

Objectives of the Social and Ethics Committee:

Ensure SAFCOL is a socially-responsible corporate citizen, reflected in policies and practices. Ensure 

core business is leveraged to achieve socioeconomic benefit and maximum impact. Matters consid-

ered include: ethics and values, relationships with surrounding communities,  workers, and enter-

prise development.SocioEconomic initiatives that support public safety, HIV/AIDS, environmental 

management, corporate social investment, equality, and ethics.  

Key Challenges 

%� Ensuring speedy implementation of the strategies and policies that have been put in place. 

%� Ensuring a common understanding, buy-in and common enforcement of the systems and 

policies to build an ethical culture across the many sites that house SAFCOL operations. 

%� Covid-19 enforced lockdown and the effect of social distancing on organising meetings in the 

last quarter of the financial year. 

G.3.  Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
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Progress to date include:

%� Reviewed the SAFCOL structure to include an Ethics Officer position with a man-

date to deal with and ensure that the values, policies and systems necessary for a 

sound ethical culture are embedded.

%� Reviewed the HIV/AIDS policy and Work Outside SAFCOL policy.

%� Reviewed the Code of Conduct to align with best practices. 

%� Working to embed a values-based culture as a building block of the new strategy.

%� Supported management in applying for B-BBEE Facilitator Status in response to 

the undertakings of the Amended Forest Sector Code Gazetted 21 April 2017, and 

Section 9 (1) of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, (Act No.53 of 

2003).

%� Supported management in considering how best to engage constructively with 

Land Claims and create potential relationships with Land Claimants.

%� Working to inculcate a high-performance culture, based on accountability for per-

formance. 

Conclusion

The Committee has adopted appropriate terms of reference as its charter, and has reg-

ulated its affairs in compliance with this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities 

as contained therein. Going forward the Committee will prioritise oversight of SAFCOL’s 

internal and external transformation initiatives, including work to ensure that recom-

mendations from the Culture Survey are implemented by Management, a Leadership 

Charter is introduced, and that the organisational values are embedded in behavioural 

indicators. 

The Committee will also monitor the organisation’s community beneficiation, 

enterprise & SMME development initiatives and will ensure work is done to in-

crease the organisation’s impact in relation to this. The Committee will also over-

see and support Management in taking forward work to resolve land claims.  

Ms. J Yawitch

Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
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N Balton

The composition of the Committee includes the following Non-Executive Directors: Mr. N. Balton 

(Chairperson), Mr. PM Makwana, Ms. L Mnisi, Mr. Y Pillay and Ms. Z. Zatu. Executive Directors including the CEO, 

CFO and other key Executives participate in the meeting by invitation. 

The Committee reviews, reports and recommends Executive Management proposals to Board for approval. It 

also sits on a quarterly basis but also manages urgent matters on an ad hoc basis. 

The objective of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in providing oversight of investment 

and financial planning, funding models, implementation of major projects and investments and proposed 

partnerships. In support of these objectives, it reviews and approves: 

%� SAFCOL’s annual budget. 

%� Funding models, including their respective funding sources in line with the approved delegation of 

authority. Procurement transactions that are above the mandate of Executive authority. 

%� The Company’s financial performance and highlights any areas of concern to the Board, 

%� Management proposals, considers progress reports and reports on these to the Board.

%� Maintains oversight and obtains assurances on the robustness of the Company’s key income sources and 

contractual safeguard. 

%� The Committee started the process of developing an investment framework that will serve as a guide for 

management when proposing strategic investments and partnerships. This will improve the quality of the 

investment proposals and SAFCOL’s capital allocation decisions. In conjunction with the Audit and Risk 

committee, the Committee reviews the short-term and long-term funding plan, as well as the Treasury 

mandate.  

Key Challenges 

%� Revenue and costs - cost increases are not aligned with revenue growth. 

%� Major delays in the Timbadola Sawmill upgrade – absence of techno-economic feasibility. 

%� Many investment proposals presented without a clear funding plan; the Investment framework should 

alleviate this problem. 

%� Non-compliance with Treasury Regulations with regards to the non-submission of annual procurement 

plan.  

G.4.  Chairperson of the Finance, Investment and Transactions Committee
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Progress to date include:

%� There have been extensive e!orts in the Company to identify opportunities to lift 

EBITDA and improve the Company’s cash position. The cost reduction drive has been 

carefully balanced with the need to protect operationally critical expenditure in the 

drive towards sustained profitability. Thus to protect operations and revenue, the 

awarding of silviculture contracts was accelerated, following a proper procurement 

process.

%� Real improvements have been achieved in cash conservation. We have not reached a 

point where the Company is adding to the reserves but there has been a significant 

decrease in the draw down on these reserves; 

%� With regards to cost escalations not aligned with revenue growth, operating costs are 

being reduced as a percentage of revenue through resource optimisation; 

%� Cost containment initiatives on employment costs, travel and accommodation costs, 

contractors and professional fees continue and should get more impetus with the 

appointment of the CFO. The objective is to find internal resources to fund some 

of the critical operational investments that should lead to revenue enhancement. 

The issues raised by the Auditor General in the previous financial year have been 

prioritised, i.e. the description of Technical Indicator in the Shareholder’s Compact 

and the associated evidence documentation. 

%� Procurement’s speed and technical competence in ensuring that we procure exactly 

what we need and then negotiate hard to get the best price is an area of critical 

importance for the Company as it has a very direct impact on Company performance. 

Much work is still to be done in the area of procurement, but we anticipate real 

improvement as people skilled in the area of procurement and supply chain 

management are appointed to critical posts; and the annual procurement plan has 

been submitted to National Treasury, ensuring compliance with regulations. 

%� Plans to upgrade Timbadola Sawmill have been muted for many years, however 

in the absence of a techno-economic study or detailed feasibility, no progress has 

been made. This project is not fundable by the balance sheet and will require project 

funding or a partnership. A technical expert has finally been appointed to develop 

the feasibility study. In this financial year, key decisions will be made that should 

move us closer to project implementation and if the project is feasible, in the new 

financial year.  

%� There are new opportunities on the table whose development is being fast-

tracked such as the Strategic Partnerships both in SA and Mozambique. The recent 

appointment of a permanent CFO should significantly speed up the Investment 

Framework and its approval by the Board after due consultation with the Shareholder. 

This framework should assist in fast-tracking the following potential partnerships: 

%� Exploration of a partnership to enable fast entry into the pole treatment business;  

Exploring a partnership with the Mpumalanga Provincial Government with regards 

to anchoring the Sabie forestry industrial techno park; SAFCOL and DPE entered 

into a collaboration agreement to implement six identified projects, namely timber-

frame structures for public facilities, furniture manufacturing, broadband Wi-Fi for 

communities, pole treatment, charcoal commercialisation and science schools; and 

%� SAFCOL partnered with UNIDO to support the development of forestry training 

centres for the generation of green jobs and sustainability of the domestic forest 

industry.  

In the next year the Company must make real progress in settling the issue of the 

remaining minority holdings of the previously privatised Forestry parcels. Good 

progress is being made with the Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries 

on the proposal for SAFCOL to manage state forests with commercial prospects.  

Conclusion 

The Committee members have performed their roles admirably in what was a challenging 

year. I am satisfied in how the Committee adopted an appropriate terms of reference 

as its charter, regulated its a!airs in compliance with this charter and discharged its 

responsibilities as contained therein.

Mr N Balton

Acting Chairperson
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MF Baleni

The composition of the Committee remains unchanged from the 2018/2019 financial year. The SHEQ 

Committee consist of of the following non-Executive Directors: Mr. MF Baleni (Chairperson), Ms. J 

Yawitch, Ms. L Mnisi, Adv. L Mokgatle and Mr. NI Balton. The members of this committee, including the 

Chairperson, were appointed by the Board of Di- rectors. Executive Directors, which include the: CEO, 

CFO and other key Executives participate in the committee meetings by invitation.

Objectives of the SHEQ Committee are to:

Assist the Board in ensuring that continuous safety of employees and other stakeholders.

• Review frameworks, policies and guidelines for; safety, health, environment and quality 

management.

• Assess the impact the business has on the environment and the mitigation thereof.

• Assist the Board in discharging its duties by reviewing safety, health, environment and quality-

related strategies, policies and processes.

• Monitor key indicators on accidents and incidents, and communicate where appropriate.

• Review high severity accidents and incidents, and ensure that accurate and consistent internal 

reporting systems are in place.

• Monitor key indicators on accidents and incidents, and communicate where appropriate.

• Consider substantive national and internal regulatory and technical developments in the field of 

safety, health, environment and quality.

In the year under review, SAFCOL recorded a fatality-free period due to its proactive approach on 

maintaining safety and security related risks. The future focus of the committee is to ensure that the 

Company operates in an environment that is consistently free of fatalities.

G.5.  Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) Committee Report
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Challenges

SAFCOL had been operating without a SHEQ Committee for some time, which was a 

huge risk considering the nature of the business. There were incidents and injuries 

at the areas of operations due to the health and safety matters that needed to be 

addressed. No corrective actions were put in place to address the failures in the health 

and safety system, as well as the action steps to improve preventative measures.

Progress to date includes:

SAFCOL now has policies that set out mandatory guidelines in all areas of SHEQ. These 

policies commit to valuing the health and safety of employees and all who come into 

contact with the business, and also not to harm the environment at all times. These 

policies further commit to the supply high quality and safe products to our customers. 

It remains the Committee’s top priority to reduce the number of incidents and injuries. 

We believe that all incidents, no matter how small or big, can be avoided. Through 

corrective and preventative actions taken, we aim to reduce the number of incidents.

All employees in the organisation are required to take personal responsibility for 

SHEQ, and are expected to demonstrate this in their everyday actions. Unsafe 

practices and conditions must be addressed by all personnel through taking direct 

action. Employees must work together as a team and value each other’s well-being by 

adopting the correct SHEQ behaviour in their individual workplaces, thereby creating 

an interdependent behavioural culture. Corrective actions have been implemented to 

prevent incidents and injuries at the areas of operations. There were two (2) fatalities 

reported for the 2019/20 financial year.

Conclusion

The committee has adopted an appropriate terms of reference as its Charter, and 

regulated its affairs in compliance with the charter, and has also discharged its 

responsibilities as contained therein.

Mr MF Baleni

Chairperson of the Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Committee
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D1.2 People

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Opinion

1. I have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of the South 

African Forestry Company SOC Limited (Safcol) and its subsidiaries (the group) set 

out on  pages 124 to 228, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement 

of financial position as at 31 March 2020, consolidated and separate statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, 

and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the 

consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of the 

group as at 31 March 2020, and the group’s financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of 

South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and Companies Act of South Africa, 

2008 (Act No. 1 of 2008) (Companies Act).

Basis for opinion 

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing 

(ISAs). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements section of this auditor’s report. 

4. I am independent of the group in accordance with sections 290 and 291 of the 

Code of ethics for professional accountants and parts 1 and 3 of the International 

code of ethics for professional accountants (including International Independence 

Standards) of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA 

codes) as well as the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit in South 

Africa. I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the IESBA codes. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matters

6. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of 

these matters.

Restatement of corresponding figures

7. As disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated and separate financial statements, the 

corresponding figures for 31 March 2019 were restated as a result of an error in the 

consolidated and separate financial statements of the group at, and for the year 

ended, 31 March 2020.

Events after the reporting period

8. I draw attention to note 47 in the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

which deals with subsequent events and specifically the possible effects of the 

future implications of covid-19 on the group’s future prospects, performance and 

cash flows. Management have also described how they plan to deal with these 

events and circumstances. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S 
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Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the consolidated and separate 

financial statements

9. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible 

for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements in accordance with the IFRS and the requirements of the 

PFMA and the Companies Act, and for such internal control as the accounting 

authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

10. In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the accounting 

authority is responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure 

either intends to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements

11. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 

and separate financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated and separate financial statements. 

12. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements is included in the annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope

13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) 

(PAA) and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 

report on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 

against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual 

performance report. I performed procedures to identify material findings but not 

to gather evidence to express assurance.

14. My procedures address the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 

information, which must be based on the approved performance planning 

documents of the entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness 

of the performance indicators included in the planning documents. My procedures 

do not examine whether the actions taken by the public entity enabled service 

delivery. My procedures also do not extend to any disclosures or assertions 

relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future 

periods that may be included as part of the reported performance information. 

Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 

15. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 

in accordance with the criteria developed from the performance management and 

reporting framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected 

objective presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the 

year ended 31 March 2020:

Objectives Pages in the annual 

performance report

Objective 1.2 – operational excellence Page 52
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16. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance 

information was properly presented and whether performance was consistent with 

the approved performance planning documents. I performed further procedures 

to determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and 

relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to 

determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

17. I did not identify any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the 

reported performance information for this objective:

%� Objective 1.2 – operational excellence 

Other matter

18. I draw attention to the matter below. 

Achievement of planned targets

19. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 50 to 57 for information on the 

achievement of planned targets for the year.

 Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope

20. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have 

a responsibility to report material findings on the public entity’s compliance with 

specific matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but 

not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

21. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislation are 

as follows: 

         Annual financial statements, performance reports and annual reports

22. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance 

with the prescribed financial reporting framework, as required by section 55(1) (b) 

of the PFMA. Material misstatements of disclosure items identified by the auditors 

in the submitted financial statement were corrected, resulting in the financial 

statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Expenditure management

23. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure 

of R9 071 000 as disclosed in note 49 to the financial statements, as required by 

section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the irregular expenditure was 

caused by non-compliance with supply chain management processes.

Procurement and contract management

24. Some goods, works or services were not procured through a procurement process 

which is fair, equitable, transparent and competitive, as required by section 51(1)

(a)(iii) of the PFMA. Similar non-compliance was also reported in the prior year.

25. Some of the tenders that achieved the minimum qualifying score for functionality 

criteria were not evaluated further in accordance with the 2017 preferential 

procurement regulation 5(7).

Consequence management

26. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that disciplinary steps 

were taken against officials who had incurred irregular expenditure and fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure as required by section 51(1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA. This 

was due to proper and complete records not being maintained as evidence to 

support the investigations into irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure. 

Governance and oversight

27. Approved audited financial statements for the 2018-19 financial year were not 

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S 
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filed with the annual return, as required by section 33(1)(a) of the Company Act 

and section 30(2) of the Companies Regulation. 

Other information

28. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the information included in the annual report, which 

includes the directors’ report, the audit committee’s report and the company 

secretary’s certificate as required by the Companies Act. The other information 

does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements, the auditor’s 

report and those selected objectives presented in the annual performance report 

that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

29. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance 

information and compliance with legislation do not cover the other information 

and I do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

30. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the consolidated and separate financial statements and the selected objectives 

presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the 

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

31. If based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material 

misstatement in this other information; I am required to report that fact. 

32. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Internal control deficiencies

33. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, reported performance information and compliance with 

applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any form of 

assurance on it. The matters reported below are limited to the significant internal 

control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on compliance with legislation 

included in this report.

34. Executive management did not exercise effective oversight responsibility of 

financial reporting and compliance with legislation, as well as the related internal 

controls. Effective and appropriate measures were not implemented in a timely 

manner to prevent and detect material errors in the submitted annual financial 

statements, as well as to prevent and detect non-compliance with legislation.

35. The year-end review and reconciling processes were not always effective to detect 

and correct misstatements in the financial statements.

36. The public entity developed an audit action plan to address internal and external 

audit findings; however, actions implemented were not always effective to prevent 

non-compliance with supply chain management legislation.

37. The financial statements lacked an in-depth review as a number of errors were 

identified in the financial statements submitted for audit.
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 Other reports

38. I draw attention to the following engagements conducted by various parties which had, or could have, an impact on the matters reported in the public entity’s financial 

statements, reported performance information, compliance with applicable legislation and other related matters. These reports did not form part of my opinion on the financial 

statements or my findings on the reported performance information or compliance with legislation.

39. An independent firm was appointed to investigate allegations of improper conduct in supply chain management, at the request of the public entity, covering the period 26 

February 2018 to 21 September 2018. The investigation was concluded on 26 May 2020. At the date of reporting, disciplinary action as recommended had not commenced. 

Pretoria

01 December 2020
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement 

and maintain professional scepticism throughout my audit of the consolidated 

and separate financial statements and the procedures performed on reported 

performance information for selected objective and on the public entity’s 

compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also: 

%� identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and 

separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; design and perform 

audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations or the override of internal control

%� obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control

%� evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors, 

which constitutes the accounting authority

%� conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 

accounting by the board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, 

in the preparation of the financial statements. I also conclude, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists relating to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of Safcol and its subsidiaries 

to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 

am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 

the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify my opinion on the financial statements. My conclusions 

are based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause an entity to cease operating as a 

going concern

%� evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and determine whether the financial 

statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation

%� obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 

of the entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. I am responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit 

opinion.

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my 

independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 

safeguards applied. 
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)

Consolidated annual financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

These consolidated annual financial statements were prepared under the supervision of:

J Maruma

Acting Group Chief Financial Officer

These consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

Issued date: 30 November 2020



125SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Nature of business and principle activities Development in the long term of the South African forestry industry and the optimising of its assets and land value

Registered office Podium at Menlyn

43 Ingersol Road

Lynnwood Glen

Pretoria

0081

Business address Podium at Menlyn

43 Ingersol Road

Lynnwood Glen

Pretoria

0081

Ultimate shareholder Government of the Republic of South Africa represented by the Minister of Public Enterprises

Auditors Auditor General South Africa

Chapter 9 institution

300 Middel Street

New Muckleneuk

Pretoria, 0081

Secretary H Murovhi

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.1. Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain 
adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the 
consolidated annual financial statements and related financial information included 
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated annual financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the group as at the end of the financial 
period and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors 
are engaged to express an independent opinion on the consolidated annual financial 
statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. The 
appropriate framework to be used has also been assessed per Directive 12. Per the 
requirements of Directive 12, the appropriate framework to be used by the company is 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of 

internal financial control established by the group and place considerable importance 

on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 

responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk 

of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 

of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 

and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 

are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the 

highest ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner 

that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management 

in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 

of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group 

endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 

systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 

procedures and constraints.
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by 

management that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that 

the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated annual 

financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide 

only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for the period to 31 March 

2021 and, in light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied 

that the group has access to adequate resources and funding to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 

group’s consolidated annual financial statements. The consolidated annual financial 

statements have been examined by the group’s external auditors and their report is 

presented on pages 6 to 7.

Despite the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, which adversely affected the demand 

for the Group’s services and consequently its projected financial results, the directors 

believe that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation in the 

foreseeable future and accordingly the consolidated financial statements set out on 

pages 8 to 74 have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The consolidated annual financial statements were approved by the board on 30 November 2020 and were signed on their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

PM Makwana OT Monaheng

I.2.  Certificate by Company Secretary

The Company Secretary certifies to the best of their knowledge that the Group has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are re-

quired of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

H Murovhi
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

To the shareholder of South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated annual financial statements of South African Forestry 

Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries set out on pages 8 to 74, which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated annual financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated annual financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its 

subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated annual financial statements section 

of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the Independent 

Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 

(IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits 

of consolidated annual financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other 

ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 

consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 

the Directors’ Report and the Audit Committee’s Report as required by the Companies 

Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other 

information does not include the consolidated annual financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated annual financial statements does not cover the other 

information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated annual financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated annual financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 

this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, and for such internal control as 

the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annual 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

I.3.  Independent Auditor’s Report
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 

of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Annual Financial 

Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 

annual financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal 

control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 

of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 

However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue 

as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 

annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

____________________________________

Auditor General South Africa

I.3.  Independent Auditor’s Report
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.3.  Statement of Financial Position

Group Company

Note(s)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 1* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Assets

NonCurrent Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 216 902 229 414 4 118 5 014

Investment property 4 456 456 - -

Investment in subsidiary 5 - - 294 498 294 498

Biological assets 6 3 303 758 3 213 285 - -

Intangible assets 7 2 848 3 943 2 848 3 943

Other financial assets 9 2 735 3 096 992 1 353

Retirement benefit asset 10 - 201 - 13

Right of use asset 26 323 187 - 3 458  -

Deferred tax 12 114 367 107 900 62 820 64 402

3 964 253 3 558 295 368 734 369 223

* See Note 43
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.3.  Statement of Financial Position

Group Company

Note(s)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 1* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Current Assets

Biological assets 6 457 359 369 652 - -

Inventories 13 101 984 71 198 483 226

Loans to group companies 8 - - 85 798 154 632

Trade and other receivables 14 189 733 468 218 1 690 1 884

Current tax receivables 15 24 658 24 736 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 16 252 358 156 079 231 037 129 886

1 026 092 1 089 883 319 008 286 628

Noncurrent assets held for sale 17 673 - - -

Total Assets 4 991 018 4 648 178 687 742 655 851

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent

Share capital 18 318 013 318 013 318 013 318 013

Reserves  52 473 28 286 129 043 129 043

Retained income 2 830 131 2 898 649 85 361 84 747

3 200 617 3 244 948 532 417 531 803

Noncontrolling interest (61 368) (53 114) - -

3 139 249 3 191 834 532 417 531 803
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.3.  Statement of Financial Position

Group Company

Note(s)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 1* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Liabilities

NonCurrent Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 22 578 065 30 029 - -

Deferred tax 12 850 273 1 017 553 - -

1 428 338 1 047 582 - -

Current Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 22 140 665 19 754 3 771  -

Financial liabilities 22  - 1 333 - 1 333

Provisions 23 44 067 13 911 - -

Trade and other payables 25 238 699 373 764 151 554 122 715

423 431 408 762 155 325 124 048

Total Liabilities 1 851 769 1 456 344 155 325 124 048

Total Equity and Liabilities 4 991 018 4 648 178 687 742 655 851

_____________________________
* See Note 43 
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South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.4.  Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Group Company

Note(s)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 2* Restated *

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Revenue 27 824 318 1 042 114 166 232 170 083

Cost of sales 28 (819 882) (1 033 480) - -

Gross Profit / (Loss) 4 436 8 634 166 232 170 083

Other operating income 29 6 226 11 769 3 463 1 279

Fair value gain on biological assets 30 903 440 823 377 - -

Other operating expenses 31.34 (927 857) (973 988) (179 990) (188 578)

Operating Profit/ (Loss) (13 755) (130 208) (10 295) (17 216)

Investment income 35 7 087 6 412 14 828 13 230

Finance costs 36 - - - -

-          Other Finance Costs (1 795) (4 461) (1 352) (42)

-          IFRS 16 – Finance Costs (223 661) - (568) -

Profit/(Loss) before taxation  (232 124) (128 257) 2 613 (4 028)

Taxation 38 165 789 29 881 (1 581) 1 087

Profit/(Loss) for the year (66 335) (98 376) 1 032 (2 941)

* See Note 43
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Group Company

Note(s)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 2* Restated *

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 12 610 26 140 - -

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation 12 610 26 140 - -

Total comprehensive income for the year  (53 725) (72 236) 1 032 (2 941)

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to owners of SAFCOL Group arises from:

Owners of SAFCOL Group SOC Ltd  (55 908) (73 750) 

Non-controlling interests 2 183 1 514

 (53 725) (72 236)



I.5.  Statement of Changes in Equity

Share 

capital

Foreign currency 

translation 

reserve

Retirement 

fund reserve

Revaluation 

reserve

Other 

NDR

Total 

reserves

Retained 

income

Total equity of 

the Parent

Noncon-

trolling 

interest

Total equity 

Group

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Group

Balance at 31 March 2018 

restated*

318 013 (118 341) 64 000 - 65 043 10 702 3 010 508 3 339 223 (45 800) 3 293 423

Profit / (Loss) for the year - - - - - - (119 148) (119 148) 1 514 (117 635)

Movement in translation 

reserve

- (35 304) - - - (35 304)  - (35 304) (8 828) (44 131)

Reclassified from retained 

earnings

57 660 57 660 - 57 660 - 57 660

Balance at 31 March 2019 318 013 (95 985) 64 000 65 043 33 058 2 891 360 3 242 431 (53 114) 3 189 317

Prior period adjustment  -  - 2 517 2 517  - 2 517

Reclassification to retained 

earnings

(4 772) (4 772) 4 772 - -

Balance at 31 March 2019 

restated *

318 013 (100 757) 64 000 65 043 28 286 2 898 649 3 244 948 (53 114) 3 191 834

Profit / (Loss) for the year                    -                   -  (68 518)  (68 518) 2 183  (66 335)

Current year movement in 

translation reserve

 (44 020)  (44 020) -  (44 020) (10 437) (54 457)

Reclassified from retained 

earnings

68 207  68 207   68 207 - 68 207

Balance at 31 March 2020 318 013 (76 570) 64 000 - 65 043 52 473 2 830 131 3 200 617 (61 368) 3 139 249

Note(s) 19 20 - 21

____________________________
* See Note 43 

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Share capital Foreign currency 

translation reserve

Retirement fund 

reserve

Other NDR Total reserves Retained income Total equity of the 

company

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Company

Balance at 01 April 2017 318 013 - 64 000 65 043 129 043 68 524 515 580

Profit for the year 5 855 5 855

Prior period adjustment 10 793 10 793

Balance at 31 March 2018 

restated *

318 013 - 64 000 65 043 129 043 85 172 532 228

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - (2 941) (2 941)

Prior period adjustment - - - - - 2 516 2 516

Balance at 31 March 2019 

restated *

318 013 - 64 000 65 043 129 043 84 747 531 803 

Total comprehensive profit for the year - - - - - 1 032 1 032

IFRS 16 Right-of-use adjustment (418) (418)

Balance at 31 March 2020 318 013 64 000 65 043 129 043 85 361 532 417

. 18 - 20 21

_____________________________
* See Note 43



137SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.6.  Statement of Cash Flows

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 3* Restated *

Note(s) R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 37 156 181 64 987 15 563 51 939

Interest income 7 087 6 410 6 202 6 239

Dividend income 59 1 1 1

Finance costs (1 796) (4 461) (1 352) (42)

Tax received / (paid) 38 (338) (17 006) - -

Net cash from operating activities 161 193 49 931 20 414 58 137

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (27 575) (49 709) - (69)

Loans to group companies repaid - - 82 070 (73 129)

Net cash from investing activities (27 575) (49 709) 82 070 (73 198)

* See Note 43
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Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated 4* Restated *

Note(s) R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments (36 006) (24 658) - -

Financial liabilities (1 333) (1 333) (1 333) (1 333)

Net cash from financing activities (37 339) (25 991) (1 333) (1 333)

Total cash movement for the year 96 279 (25 769) 101 151 (16 394)

Cash at the beginning of the year 156 079 181 848 129 886 146 280

Total cash at end of the year 16 252 358 156 079 231 037 129 886

* See Note 43
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General information

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited (SAFCOL), a public company and holding 

company of the Group, is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. 

The Group’s main business is the development in the long term of the South African 

forestry industry and the optimising of its assets and land value

1.  Significant accounting policies

The  principal  accounting  policies  applied  in  the  preparation  of  these  consolidated 

financial statements are set out below.  These policies have been applied to all years 

presented which are consistent  with those of the previous year, except for new and 

revised standards and interpretations adopted per notes to the financial statements.

The preparation of the annual financial statements in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by 

the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the South African Companies Act No. 71 

of 2008 and the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 requires the directors 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 

and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 

the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The actual results may 

differ from these estimates. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

year in which the estimate is revised and future years, if it affects both the current and 

future years.

The level rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements is thousands.

1.1.  Basis of preparation

The consolidated and separate consolidated annual financial statements have been 

prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations issued and effective 

at the time of preparing these consolidated annual financial statements and the 

Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as amended.

These consolidated annual financial statements comply with the requirements of the 

Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 

Council.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic 

cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies, which follow and 

incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in 

Rand, which is the group and company’s functional currency.

1.2.  Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the consolidated annual 

financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities, 

which are controlled by the group.

The group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns 

from involvement with the entity and it has the ability to affect those returns through 

use of its power over the entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements 

from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

I.7.  Accounting Policies
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I.8.  Accounting Policies

Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated annual financial statements 

of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of the group.

All intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between 

group companies are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred.

Industrias Florestais de Manica SA (IFLOMA), is a company situated in Mozambique. It is 

fully controlled by Komatiland Forest SOC Limited with an 80% shareholding. Although 

KLF holds only 80% of the Share’s, it has an irrevocable option to acquire the minority 

interest at a fixed price of R1 641 949 (equivalent to USD $ 112,500). Noncontrolling 

interests is initially recognised at fair value. The net assets of consolidated subsidiaries 

are identified and recognised separately from the group’s interest therein, and are 

recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to noncontrolling interests 

are allocated to the noncontrolling interest even if this results in a debit balance being 

recognised for noncontrolling interest.

Transactions with noncontrolling interests that do not result in loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the Statement of 

Changes in Equity. 

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the 
movement in noncontrolling interest for such transactions is recognised in equity 
attributable to the owners of the company. Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a 
noncontrolling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured to fair 
value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal of the controlling interest. The fair value is the initial carrying amount 
for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group 
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.3.  Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated annual financial statements in conformity with 

IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 

future periods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Provisions

Provisions are inherently based on assumptions and estimates using the best 

information available. Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions are 

included in note 22.

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses 

which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract 

assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets 

have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss 

allowance at the reporting date to its recognised amount is recognised in profit or loss, 

as an impairment loss or a reversal of an impairment loss. Trade and other receivables 

are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovery.
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Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the 

present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the trade receivables. 

Expected credit losses on trade receivables are calculated by using the provision 

approach. Trade receivables are categorised by common risk characteristics that are 

representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the 

contractual terms. The provision is determined based on historical observed default 

rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking 

estimates. At every reporting date the historical observed default rates are updated 

and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses 

or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of 

a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as 

lifetime expected credit losses. 

Fair value estimate of biological assets

The methods and assumptions used in determining the fair value of the standing timber 

in the plantations can be described as follows and have been applied consistently in 

accordance with Group policy, and are reviewed every five years or when there are 

market conditions, which impact: 

• Current market prices:  

The market prices per cubic metre are based on market expectations per log 

class.

• Expected yield per log class: 

The expected yield per log class is calculated with reference to growth 

models relevant to the nominal planted area.

The growth models are derived from actual trial data that is measured 

regularly. A merchandising model, using the modelled tree shape at various 

ages, is used to split the treelengths into predefined products or log classes.

The nominal planted area is derived from the core forestry management 

systems.

• Volume adjustment factor:  

Due to the nature of plantation forestry, and more specifically its susceptibility 

to the environment, an adjustment factor is determined to reduce the modelled 

volumes to approximate marketable volumes. The percentage volume 

adjustment is based on factors such as baboon damage, as well as damage due 

to natural elements, such as wind, rain, hail, drought, fires, insect and fungal 

damage such as sirex and fusarium. Natural elements such as extreme wind, rain 

and hail conditions may damage the trees, as well as reduced rainfall or uneven 

rainfall affects tree growth. In the case of fires, the actual volume is recalculated 

per compartment.

• Rotation:  

The Group manages its plantation crop mainly on a 30year rotation for saw log 

production.

• Operating costs: 

Operating costs are calculated with reference to the maintenance and 

harvesting activities and the average annual unit costs per activity.

The activities are based on the prescribed silvicultural regimes and volume 

of timber to be harvested and extracted.

The operating costs per activity are based on the annual average unit costs 

as per the plantation operating statements and include relevant overheads.

»

»

»

»

»

»
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Discount rate: 

The current marketdetermined discount rate is based on the Weighted Average Cost 

of Capital model as calculated by an independent professional service provider, using 

the following:

Risk free rate which is updated with the market rates applicable at the 

valuation dates.

Market premium, which has been adjusted to compensate for increased risk 

factors.

Inflation assumptions, which have been adjusted to incorporate the market, 

view at the valuation date.

Taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in South Africa and Mozambique jurisdictions. 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income tax. There 

are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 

uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for 

anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 

due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 

were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

1.4.  Biological assets

Biological assets are measured at initial recognition and subsequently at their fair 

value less costs to sell. Fair value of plantations is estimated based on the present 

value of the net future cash flows from the asset, discounted at a current marketbased 

rate of the company. In determining the present value of expected net cash flows, the 

Group includes the net cash flows that market participants would expect the asset to 

generate in its most relevant market. Increases or decreases in value are recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

1.5.  Investment property

Investment properties are properties held for earning rental income or for capital 

appreciation or both, and are initially recognised at cost or deemed cost. Investment 

properties are subsequently measured at cost. Transaction costs are included in the 

initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or 

to replace a part of, or service, a property. Investment property is recognised as an 

asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that are 

associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the 

investment property can be measured reliably.

1.6.  Investment in subsidiaries

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited and ABACUS Forests SOC Limited are subsidiaries of 

SAFCOL Group. Significant judgements and assumptions relating to control relates to 

ownership of the subsidiaries. SAFCOL Group wholly owns the two subsidiaries. An 

assessment of control arises from the basis that SAFCOL Group wholly owns and has 

the ability to direct all the activities of the subsidiaries. In making judgement there are 

no limitations in terms of rights

SAFCOL entity applies the cost method for measurement of investments in subsidiar-

ies.

1.7.  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that the group holds for its own use 

or for rental to others and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group, and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably.

»

»

»
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Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, 
including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments 
in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements 
of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost 
can be measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the 
year in which they are incurred.

Owned Assets:
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost and subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less related accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, 
plant and equipment includes all costs that are incurred in bringing the asset into a 
location and condition necessary to enable it to operate as intended by management 
and includes the cost of materials, direct labour, and the initial estimate, where 
applicable, of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on 
which it is located.

Subsequent expenditure:

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item or part of property, plant and equipment 

is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with an 
item will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of the part that is replaced is derecognised in accordance with the principles set out 
below. Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are 
recognised in accordance with IFRS when they meet the definition of property, plant 
and equipment. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory. Costs of repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as an expense in the year in which it was incurred. 

Derecognition:

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 

at the earlier of the date of disposal or the date when no future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses on derecognition of items of 

property, plant and equipment are included in the statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income. The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

Depreciation:

Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income on a straightline basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of 

property, plant and equipment. Depreciation will not be charged to the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income if it has been included in the carrying 

amount of another asset. Land and capital workinprogress are not depreciated. The 

methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is 

accounted for as a change in accounting estimate annually and changes in estimates, 

if appropriate, are accounted for on a prospective basis. An asset’s carrying amount is 

written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Useful-life

Buildings and Utilities Straight line 20-50 years

Plant and machinery Straight line 4 -15 years

Furniture and fixtures Straight line 5-10 years

Motor vehicles Straight line 4-12 years

Computer equipment Straight line 3-10 years

Roads Straight line 25 years

Leasehold improvements  buildings and utilities Straight line 25 years

Leasehold improvements  telephone lines and fences Straight line 10 years

Leasehold improvements – roads Straight line 25 years

1.8.  Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss. Subsequent expenditure 

on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 

embodied in the specific asset to which it relates,  and all other subsequent expenditure 

is expensed as incurred.

Acquired computer software is capitalised based on the costs incurred to acquire 

and bring the specific software into use. Costs associated with maintaining computer 

software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income on a straightline basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

The methods of amortisation, useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually 

and changes in estimates, if appropriate, are accounted for on a prospective basis.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, 

to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life

Computer software 3 - 18 years

The carrying amount of an item or part of an intangible asset is derecognised at 

the earlier of the date of disposal or the date when no future economic benefits are 

expected from its use or disposal.  Gains or losses on derecognition of an item of an 

intangible asset are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset.



145SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

1.9.  Financial instruments

i.  Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are 

originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised 

when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 

component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not 

at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A 

trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the 

transaction price.

ii.  Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 

Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all 

affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 

following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 

conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

� it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows; and

� it contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as at FVTPL:

� it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

� Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial 

recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 

meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL 

if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 

otherwise arise.

Financial assets – Business model assessment:

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a 

financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business 

is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered 

includes:

� The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those 

policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on 

earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 

matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related 

liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of 

the assets;

� how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 

management;

� the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial 

assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
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� how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation 

is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows 

collected; and

� The frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the 

reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

The Group classified its financial assets into one of the following categories:

� loans and receivables;

� held to maturity;

� available for sale; and

� at FVTPL, and within this category as:

 » held for trading; or

 » Designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement, gains, and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial 

liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it 

is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured 

at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised 

in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains 

and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also 

recognised in profit or loss. The group applies amortized costs model for measurement. 

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently 

measured at amortized cost.

iii.  Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash 

flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of 

the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its 

statement of financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks 

and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not 

derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 

are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial 

liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 

substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified 

terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 

extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or 

liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

iv.  Offsetting
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 

statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally 

enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 

basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision 

for impairment. Other receivables constitute are amounts due from activities that 

are outside the ordinary course of business. A provision for impairment of trade 

receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 

be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 

bankruptcy, financial reorganization, and default, or delinquency in payments, are 

considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 

The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the present value of estimated future cash flow, discounted at the original 

effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced using an allowance 

account, and the amount of the loss is recognized in income. When a trade receivable 

is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statement 

of financial performance.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired 

in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as 

current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as 

noncurrent liabilities.

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Loans to group companies

Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including trade and other 

receivables, bank balances and cash) are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting 

is immaterial.

On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss when there is 

objective evidence that it is impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference 

between the loan’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. 

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the 

recoverable amount can be related objectively  to an event occurring after the 

impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 

loan at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost 

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Loans payable are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other 

shortterm highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 

of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts (if 

applicable) are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on statement of financial 

position.

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 

Borrowings are stated subsequently at amortized cost. Any difference between the 

proceeds (net of transaction costs), and the redemption value is recognized in the 

statement of financial performance over the period of the borrowings using the effective 

interest rate method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of 

financial position date.

1.10.  Tax

Current tax 

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a 

liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the 

amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the 

amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period.

Deferred tax

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 

extent that the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 

profit nor taxable profit or tax loss.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the 

time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or tax loss.

The Group shall disclose the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of evidence 

supporting its recognition, when: the utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent 

on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing 

taxable temporary differences; and the entity has suffered a loss in either the current 

or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred tax asset relates.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period.

Dividend Withholding Tax

Dividends withholding tax (DWT) is a tax levied on the beneficial owner of the share. 

The tax is withheld by the Company and paid over to the Revenue Authorities on the 

beneficiaries’ behalf.
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Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in 
profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to 

other comprehensive income, or
• Directly in equity.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income 
if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 
to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax 
relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly 
in equity.

1.11.  Leases
Initial Recognition
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Initial Measurement
Finance Lease
At the commencement of the lease term, lessees shall recognise finance leases as 
assets and liabilities in their statements of financial position at amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The discount rate to be used 
in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added to the amount 

recognised as an asset. 

Operating Lease
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income on a straightline basis over the period of the lease. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset.

Subsequent Measurement
Finance Lease
The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of 
the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Contingent rents shall be charged as expenses in the periods in which they 
are incurred.
Leased assets shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful 
life.

Finance leases – lessee
Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group are classified as finance leases.  Leased assets are 
measured at the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at inception of the lease, and depreciated over the shorter of the useful life 
of the asset and the lease term. The capital element of future obligations under the 
leases is included as a liability in the statement of financial position.  Finance charges 
are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the 
lease period to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each period. The discount rate used in calculating the present value 
of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease 

term to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the liability.
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Right of use

IFRS 16 was adopted 1 April 2019 without restatement of comparative figures. For an 

explanation of the transitional requirements that were applied as at 1 April 2019, see 

Note 26. The following policies apply subsequent to the date of initial application, 1 

January 2019. Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual 

payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with the discount rate determined by 

reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not 

readily determinable, in which case the company’s incremental borrowing rate on a 

commencement of the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only included in the 

measurement of the lease liability if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, 

the initial measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable element will remain 

unchanged throughout the lease term. Other variable lease payments are expensed in 

the period to which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:

• amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;

• the exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the company if it is 

reasonable certain to assess that option;

• any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been 

estimated on the basis of termination option being exercised. 

Right of use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced 

for any lease incentives received, and increased for:

• lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;

• initial direct costs incurred; and

• the amount of any provision recognised where the company is contractually 

required to dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset.

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest 

charged at a constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease 

payments made. Right-of-use assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 

remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, 

this is judged to be shorter than the lease term. 

When the company revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, 

it re-assesses the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being 

exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments 

to make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised discount rate. 

The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of 

future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate 

remains unchanged. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying 

value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortised over 

the remaining (revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is 

adjusted to zero, any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss. 

When the company renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, the 

accounting depends on the nature of the modification:

• if the renegotiation results in one or more additional assets being leased for an 

amount commensurate with the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use 

obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance with 

the above policy

• in all other cases where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether 

that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being 

leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the 

modification date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount
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• if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the lease, both the 

carrying amount of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the 

same proportion to reflect the partial of full termination of the lease with any 

difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted 

to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments 

over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments discounted at the 

rate applicable on the modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted by the 

same amount. 

For contracts that both convey a right to the company to use an identified asset and 

require services to be provided to the company by the lessor, the company has elected 

to account for the entire contract as a lease, i.e. it does allocate any amount of the 

contractual payments to, and account separately for, any services provided by the 

supplier as part of the contract.

1.12.  Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable 

value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other 

costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods 

or services produced and segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific 

identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. The same 

cost formula is used for all inventories having a similar nature and use to the entity. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as 

an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any writedown of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of 

inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the writedown or loss occurs. 

The amount of any reversal of any writedown of inventories, arising from an increase 

in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 

recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Cost is determined on the following bases:

• Finished goods and workinprogress comprises raw material, direct labour, other 

direct costs and related production overheads incurred in bringing the inventories 

to their present location and condition, calculated on the weighted average basis, 

based on the normal capacity for the period to eliminate the effect of changes in 

log distribution. Included in finished goods and workinprogress inventories are 

sawn timber, lumber and seedlings.

• Raw materials are valued at landed cost on the weighted average basis.

• Consumable stores are valued at cost on the weighted average basis.

• The cost of harvested timber transferred from biological assets is its fair value less 

costs to sell at the date of harvest.

1.13.  Noncurrent assets held for sale

Noncurrent assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying 

amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 

use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 

the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for 

recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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Noncurrent assets held for sale (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of its 

carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. A noncurrent asset is not depreciated 

(or amortised) while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal group 

classified as held for sale.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified 

as held for sale are recognised in profit or loss.

1.14.  Impairment of nonfinancial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s tangible and intangible assets are assessed at 

each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 

may have suffered an impairment loss.  If such an indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and 

value in use of the asset.  Value in use is estimated based on the expected future cash 

flows, discounted to their present values using a discount rate that reflects forecast 

market assessments over the estimated useful life of the asset.  Where it is not possible 

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of 

the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs is calculated.   Where an asset or 

a cashgenerating unit’s recoverable amount has declined below the carrying amount, 

the decline is recognised as an expense.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 

(cashgenerating unit)  is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 

to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the  asset (cashgenerating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.15.  Share capital and equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

1.16.  Employee benefits

Shortterm employee benefits

The cost of shortterm employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after 

the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and 

nonmonetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the 

service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as 

the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of 

nonaccumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense 

when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of 

past performance.

Defined contribution plans

The SAFCOL Provident Fund is a defined contribution plan. The contribution plan 

under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has 

no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not 

hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee services 

in the current and prior periods.
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The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance 

plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The contributions are recognised 

as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised 

as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is 

available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before 

the normal  retirement  date, or whenever an employee  accepts  voluntary  redundancy  

in  exchange  for  these  benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is 

demonstrably committed to a termination when the entity has a detailed formal plan 

to terminate the employment of current employees without possibility of withdrawal. 

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination 

benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the 

offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 

are discounted to their present value.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula 

that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Group and Company’s 

shareholders after certain adjustments.  The Group recognises a provision where 

obliged contractually, or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 

obligation.

1.17.  Provisions, contingencies and Commitments

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

because of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured by 

discounting the expected future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects the current 

market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and 

formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has either commenced or announced 

publicly. Costs relating to ongoing activities are not provided for.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be 

reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only 

when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles 

the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount 

recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are 

disclosed in notes to the annual financial statements. 

A commitment is an agreement or a pledge to assume a financial obligation at a future 

date. The company discloses commitment incurred by the company at year-end.

1.18.  Revenue

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised based on the satisfaction of performance 

obligations. In applying IFRS 15, entities would follow this five-steps process:

• Identify the contract with a customer;

• Identify the separate performance obligations in the contract;

• Determine the transaction price;

• Allocate the transaction price to the separate performance obligations; and

• Recognise revenue when (or as) each performance obligation is satisfied.
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Sales of Goods

The Group harvests, processes, and sells a range of timber and logs. Sales of goods are 

recognised when a Group entity has delivered products to the customer and there is 

no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. 

Sales of logs are recognised when the title is considered to have passed to the customer 

either when logs are delivered at roadside or when logs are delivered to the customers.

 All other sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Sales are recorded based on the price specified in the sales contracts. The provision for 

claims is based on actual returns by customers and includes volume, quality and price 

disputes.

Sales of Services

Where the Company charges management services to its subsidiaries, the fees are 

eliminated on consolidation level. Revenue arising from such services is recognised 

on the decimal basis over the period the services are rendered in accordance with the 

substance of the relevant agreements.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018. Information about the Group’s accounting 

policies relating to contracts with customers is provided in Note 27. The effect of 

initially applying IFRS 15 is described in Note 27.

1.19.  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 

production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until 

such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of borrowing costs 

eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining 

a qualifying asset less any temporary investment of those borrowings.

• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds 

generally borrowed for obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing costs 

capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• Expenditures for the asset have occurred;

• Borrowing costs have been incurred, and

• Activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are 

in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is 

interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 

qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 

incurred. 

1.20.  Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the Company’s 

functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 

otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional 

currencies of Group companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 

the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary 

assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency 

are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented within finance 

costs.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into rand at the exchange rates at 

the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into 

rand at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the translation 

reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI. The 

SAFCOL Group applies the proportionate share method for measurement and 

recognition of NCI.

1.21.  Reserves

Translation reserve

If the functional currency of a subsidiary is different to the presentation currency of 

the Group, the net effect of translating to the presentation currency is allocated to the 

foreign currency translation reserve.  

Revaluation Reserve

The revaluation of noncurrent assets and equity instruments are charged to the 

nondistributable reserve and therefore reflected as a gain or loss in the statement of 

financial performance.

Retirement Fund Reserve

Accelerated lump sum payments to reduce the retirement fund deficit are transferred 

to a distributable reserve being a retirement fund reserve, as far as cash generated 

through profits from trading activities is available for this purpose.

Capital Profit Reserve

Where profits made on disposal of assets and the proceeds from insurance claims are 

deemed exceptional, these profits are classified as distributable reserve.

1.22.  Post balance sheet

Recognised amounts in the financial statements are adjusted to reflect events arising 

after the statement of financial position date that provide evidence of conditions that 

existed at the statement of financial position date. Depending on materiality, events 

after the statement of financial position date that are indicative of conditions that 

arose after the statement of financial position date are dealt with by way of a note.

1.23.  Related parties

An entity is related to a reporting entity if the following condition applies:

• The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means 

that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services, or obligations between 

related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.



156 SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.8.  Accounting Policies

1.24.  PFMA Reportable Expenditure

In terms of section 55(2) (b) (i) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (PFMA) the 

financial statements must include particulars of any material losses through criminal 

conduct and any irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure.

Section 1 of the PFMA, as amended, defines irregular expenditure as expenditure, other 

than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not incurred 

in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, and defines fruitless 

and wasteful expenditure as expenditure that was made in vain and would have been 

avoided had reasonable care been exercised.

All PFMA reportable expenditure is accounted for in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income in the period in which it is identified.

PFMA reportable expenditure is recorded in the notes to the annual financial statements 

when confirmed. The amount recorded is equal to the value of the expenditure 

incurred, unless it is impractical to determine, in which case reasons therefore must 

be provided.

PFMA reportable expenditure receivables are derecognised when settled, or written 

off as irrecoverable or condoned by the relevant authority. 

1.25.  Government Grants

The Group recognises a conditional government grant as a trade payable when the 

grant is initially received. Other government grants related to assets are initially 

recognised as deferred income at fair value if there is reasonable assurance that 

they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with 

the grant; they are then recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic 

basis over the useful life of the asset. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 

incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the periods in which 

the expenses are recognised. 

1.26.   Research and Development

Research and development expenditure are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an 

asset in a subsequent period. The R12 434 expenditure incurred on research and 

development as a percentage of revenue is 1.50%. Research and development actual 

costs are more in line with the target because there is a negative target variance of 1%.

2.  New Standards and Interpretations

2.1.  Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations 

that are effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation: E!ective date: 
Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

IFRS 16 Leases 01 January 2019 Material Impact

Changes in accounting in accounting policy

Except for changes below, the company has consistently applied the accounting 

policies to all periods presented in the financial statements.
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Effects of changes in accounting policy
The Group adopted IFRS 16 with a transition date of 1 April 2019. The Group has chosen 
not to restate comparatives on adoption of the standards, and therefore, the revised 
requirements are not reflected in the prior year financial statements. Rather, these 
changes have been processed at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 April 2019) and 
recognised in the opening equity balances. Details of the impact these two standards 
have had are given below. Other new and amended standards and Interpretations 
issued by the IASB did not impact the Company as they are either not relevant to the 
Company’s activities or require accounting which is consistent with the Company’s 
current accounting policies. 

A. IFRS 16 Leases
Effective 1 January 2019, IFRS 16 has replaced IAS 17 Leases and IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.
IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of 
assets and liabilities for all leases, together with options to exclude leases where the 
lease term is 12 months or less, or where the underlying asset is of low value. IFRS 
16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting in IAS 17, with the distinction 
between operating leases and finance leases being retained. The Group does not have 
significant leasing activities acting as a lessor.

Transition Method and Practical Expedients Utilised
The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, with 
recognition of transitional adjustments on the date of initial application (1 April 2019), 
without restatement of comparative figures. The Group elected to apply the practical 
expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial 
application. Contracts entered into before the transition date that were not identified 
as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed. The definition of a lease under 
IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 31 March 

2020.

IFRS 16 provides for certain optional practical expedients, including those related to the 

initial adoption of the standard. The Group applied the following practical expedients 

when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17:

a. Apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 

characteristics;

b. Exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets at the 

date of initial application for leases where the right-of-use asset was determined 

as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date;

c. Reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as opposed to 

preparing an impairment review under IAS 36 as at the date of initial application; 

and

d. Applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for 

leases with less than 12 months of lease term remaining as of the date of initial 

application.

As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based 

on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership.

Under IFRS 16, the Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most 

leases. However, the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 

liabilities for some leases of low value assets based on the value of the underlying asset 

when new or for short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases 

of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or 

loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value 

assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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I.8.  Accounting Policies

Classification under IAS 17 Right-Of-Use Lease Liabilities

Operating Leases Land: Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the 

lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued 

lease payments. 

Office Space: The carrying value that would have resulted from IFRS 

16 being applied from the commencement date of the leases, subject 

to the practical expedients noted above.

Measured at the present value of the remaining lease 

payments, discounted using the Company’s incremental 

borrowing rate as at 31 March 2020.

The Company’s incremental borrowing rate is the rate 

at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from 

an independent creditor under comparable terms and 

conditions. The weighted-average rate applied was 

12.13%.

Finance leases Measured based on the carrying values for the lease assets and 

liabilities immediately before the date of initial application (i.e. 

carrying values brought forward, unadjusted).

2.2.  Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective in the prior years

The standard listed below has been issued but is not yet effective.

IFRS pronouncement E!ective date

IFRS 17 - Insurance contracts 1 January 2021

The standard is not applicable to the company and will not have an impact on the financial statements. 
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3.  Property, plant and equipment

Group (R’m) 2020 2019 

Restated 5*

Cost or revaluation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying value Cost or revaluation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Land 2 481 - 2 481 2 481 - 2 481

Buildings 37 183 (21 993) 15 190 36 185 (18 309) 17 876

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 18 535 (7 116) 11 419 107 (64) 43

Plant and machinery 289 314 (201 085) 88 229 280 236 (179 945) 100 291

Furniture and fixtures 4 563 (3 775) 788 4 417 (3 668) 749

Motor vehicles 153 353 (108 511) 44 842 161 108 (106 658) 54 450

O"ce equipment - - - - - -

Computer equipment 45 582 (29 589) 15 993 31 616 (21 415) 10 201

Leasehold improvements: Roads, Telephone lines & fences 43 263 (18 628) 24 635 60 575 (22 003) 38 572

Capital work in progress 13 325 - 13 325 4 751 - 4 751

Total 607 599 (390 697) 216 902 581 476 (352 062) 229 414

* See Note 43



Company (R’m) 2020 2019 

Restated*

Cost or revaluation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying value Cost or revaluation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Buildings 3 138 (304) 2 834 3 138 (178) 2 960

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 107 (72) 35 107 (64) 43

Plant and machinery 94 (72) 22 94 (64) 30

Furniture and fixtures 2 725 (2 687) 38 2 725 (2 669) 56

Motor vehicles 3 615 (2 611) 1 004 3 615 (2 248) 1 367

Computer equipment 5 159 (4 974) 185 5 159 (4 603) 556

rounding 2 2

Total 14 838 (10 720) 4 118 14 838 (9 824) 5 014

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

Group 2020 (R’m)

Opening balance Additions Other changes: 

write-backs & 

write-o!s

Transfers Depreciation Total

Land 2 481 - - - - 2 481

Buildings 17 876 - (1 463) - (1 223) 15 190

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 43 506 11 820 - (950) 11 419

Plant and machinery 100 290 9 919 805 - (22 785) 88 229

Furniture and fixtures 749 146 59 - (166) 788

Motor vehicles 54 451 377 2 171 - (12 157) 44 842

Computer equipment 10 201 13 558 515 - (8 281) 15 993

Leasehold improvements: Roads, Telephone lines & Fences 38 572  - (11 490) - (2 447) 24 635

Capital  Work in progress 4 751 12 445 (3 871) - - 13 325

229 414   36 951   (1 454) - (48 009) 216 902

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

Group (R’m) – 2019 (restated6*) 

Opening balance Additions Other changes Other changes: 

write-backs & 

write-offs

Depreciation Total

Land 2 481 - - - - 2 481

Buildings 16 278 950 (467) 2 495 (1 380) 17 876

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 48 - - - (5) 43

Plant and machinery 96 625 32 134 (2 630) - (25 839) 100 291

Furniture and fixtures 844 47 (41) - (101) 749

Motor vehicles 57 594 9 071 1 339 44 (13 597) 54 450

Computer equipment 13 295 4 163 132 115 (7 505) 10 201

Leasehold improvements: Roads, Telephone lines and fences 41 765 1 626 (1 107) - (3 712) 38 572

Capital  Work in progress 3 233 1 718 (200) - - 4 751

232 163      49 709      (2 974) 2 655 (52 139) 229 414

* See Note 43
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2020 (R’m)

Opening balance Additions Other changes Depreciation Total

Buildings 2 960 - - (126) 2 834

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 43 - - (7) 36

Plant and machinery 30 - - (8) 22

Furniture and fixtures 57 - - (19) 37

Motor vehicles 1 367 - - (363) 1 004

Computer equipment 557 - - (372) 185

5 014 - - (896) 4 118

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment  Company – 2019 (restated *) (R’m)

Opening balance  Additions Other changes: 

write-backs & 

write-offs

        

Depreciation

Total

Buildings 267 216 2 495   (18) 2 960

Leasehold improvements: Buildings 48 - -   (5) 43

Plant and machinery 36 - -   (6) 30

Furniture and fixtures 71 - -   (14) 57

Motor vehicles 1 700 - 44     (377) 1 367

Computer Equipment 1 041 - 116      (600) 557

3 163 216 2 655        (1 020) 5 014
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A schedule containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

4.  Investment property

Group 2020 2019

Cost / 

Valuation

Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying value Cost / Valuation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying value

Investment property 456 - 456 456 - 456

Reconciliation of investment property – Group 2020

Opening 

balance

Additions Impairments Depreciation Total

Non-current 456 - - - 456

Reconciliation of investment property – Group 2019

Non-current 456 - - - 456
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements
Investment property consists of land, which is part of the remainders of portions 1 and 

2 of the Farm Mooiplaats No. 537; and Portion 1 of the Farm Zaagkuil No. 777 situated 

at R618 Ngome, Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa. The fair value of the land as determined 

by an independent valuator is R9.7 million.

The level of hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised as level 3. 

A register containing the details of the investment property is available for inspection 

at the registered office of the company.

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent 

property valuers, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent 

experience in the location and category of the property being valued.

The fair value measurement for all of the investment properties has been categorised 

as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used:

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of 

investment property, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs 

and fair value measurement

Discounted cash flows: The valuation model considers the 

present value of net cash flows to be generated from the 

property, taking into account the expected rental growth 

rate, void periods, occupancy rate, lease incentive costs such 

as rent-free periods and other costs not paid by tenants. The 

expected net cash flows are discounted using risk adjusted 

discount rates. Among other factors, the discount rate 

estimation considers the quality of a building and its location 

(prime vs secondary), tenant credit quality and lease terms.

The method of valuation employed to determine the fair value 

of the property is the comparable sales approach. The value is 

established by comparing the subject property with similar 

properties. 

The international valuation standards 2007 defines the sales 

comparison method as “The comparative approach considers 

the sales of similar or substitute properties and related market 

data, and related market data, and establishes value estimated 

by processes involving comparison.

The estimated fair value would increase / (decrease) if:

a. expected market rentals increase / decrease

b. growth were higher / (lower);

c. void periods were shorter / (longer); 

d. the occupancy rate were higher / (lower);
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Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

5. Investment in subsidiaries

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited                                                                                                            - -  294 042 294 042

ABACUS Forestries SOC Limited                                                                                                                     - -  456 456

Kamhlabane Timber SOC Limited - -  - -

294 498 294 498

Comprise of Investments held in Komatiland Forests SOC Limited, ABACUS Forestries SOC Limited and Kamhlabane Timber SOC Limited, which are wholly owned subsidiaries of SAFCOL. The 

investments in Komatiland and ABACUS are in the form of loans, which bear no interest. The investment in Kamhlabane is at R100.  SAFCOL entity applies the cost method for measurement of 

all investments in subsidiaries.

6. Biological assets

The Group recognises biological assets when, and only when, the Company controls the assets as a result of past events, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 

such assets will flow to the Group and the fair value or cost of the assets can be measured reliably. Expenditure incurred on biological assets are measured on initial recognition and 

at the end of each reporting period at its fair value less costs to sell in terms of IAS 41. The gain or loss arising on initial recognition of such biological assets at fair value less costs to 

sell and from a change in fair value less costs to sell of biological assets are included in Statement of Profit and Loss for the period in which it arises.
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

Group 2020 2019

Fair valuation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Fair valuation Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Non-current portion 3 303 758 - 3 303 758 3 213 285 - 3 213 285

Current portion 457 359 - 457 359 369 652 - 369 652

Total 3 761 117 - 3 761 117 3 582 937 - 3 582 937

Reconciliation of biological assets  Group – 2020

Opening 

balance

Movements Total

Non-current portion 3 213 285 90 473 3 303 758

Current portion 369 652 87 707 457 359

3 582 937 178 180 3 761 117

Reconciliation of biological assets  Group – 2019

Opening balance Movements Total

Non-current portion 3 311 366 (98 081) 3 213 285

Current portion 381 465            (11 813) 369 652

3 692 831 (109 894) 3 582 937



167SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Measurement of fair values

i.  Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurements for the standing timber have been categorised as Level 3 fair values based on the inputs to the valuation techniques used.     

  

ii.  Level 3 fair values                                                                                                                                                                                         

The following table shows a breakdown of the total gains / (losses) recognised in respect of Level 3 fair values (standing timber).

- Fair value gain   903 440 823 377 - -

iii.  Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 3 fair values, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Type Valuation Techniques Significant unobservable inputs
Inter-relationship between unobservable 

inputs and fair value measurement

Standing timber 

Standing timber older than 30 

years (the age at which it becomes 

marketable)

Discounted cash flows: The valuation model 

considers the present value of the net cash flows 

expected to be generated by the plantation. The 

cash flow projections include specific estimates 

for 30 years. The expected net cash flows are 

discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

• Estimated future timber market 

prices weighted average per cube 

(2020: R732.75;  

2019: R646.67).

• Actual volumes  

(2020: 975 669;  

2019: 1 434 198).

• Risk-adjusted discount rate (2020: 

9.75%; 2019: 9.0%).

The estimated fair value would increase (de-

crease) if:

• the estimated timber prices per tonne were 

higher (lower);

• the estimated yields per hectare were 

higher (lower);

• the estimated harvest and transportation 

costs were lower (higher); or

• the risk-adjusted discount rates were lower 

(higher).

Risk management strategy related to agricultural activities

The Group is exposed to the following risks relating to its pine tree plantations.
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

i.  Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in various countries in which it operates. The Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed at compliance with 

local environmental and other laws.

ii.  Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and sales volume of pine. When possible, the Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market 

supply and demand. Management performs regular industry trend analyses for projected harvest volumes and pricing.

iii.  Climate and other risks

The Group’s pine plantations are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases, forest fires and other natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in place aimed 

at monitoring and mitigating those risks, including regular forest health inspections and industry pest and disease surveys. The Group is also self-insured against natural disasters 

such as floods and hurricanes.

Components of biological assets:

Biological assets is made up of the following plantation trees:

%� Pine trees

%� Eucalyptus trees

%� Wattle tree
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7.  Intangible assets

Group 2020 2019

Cost / Valuation Accumulated amortisation Carrying value Cost / Valuation Accumulated amortisation Carrying value

Computer software 66 158 (63 310) 2 848 66 158 (62 215) 3 943

Company 2020 2019

Cost / Valuation Accumulated amortisation Carrying value Cost / Valuation Accumulated amortisation Carrying value

Computer software 59 202 (56 354) 2 848 59 202 (55 259) 3 943

Reconciliation of intangible assets  Group – 2020

Opening balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 3 943 (1 095) 2 848

Reconciliation of intangible assets  Group – 2019

Opening balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 15 766 (11 823) 3 943

Reconciliation of intangible assets  Company – 2020

Opening balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 3 943 (1 095) 2 848

Reconciliation of intangible assets  Company – 2019

Opening balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 15 766 (11 823) 3 943

The remaining amortization period of the intangible asset is 2 years. Refer to note 44.
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

8.  Loans to group companies

Subsidiaries
Komatiland Forests SOC Limited

The loan is an intercompany loan; it is unsecured, bears interest at the prime rate of 8.75% (2019: 10%) and has 

no fixed terms of repayment.

85 798 154 632

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

9. Other financial assets

Investments 2 735 3 096 992 1 353

Noncurrent assets

Other financial assets 2 735 3 096 992 1 353

2 735 3 096 992 1 353

Fair value hierarchy of available for sale financial assets

For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements. 

Level 1 represents those assets, which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets. 

Level 2 applies inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 applies inputs, which are not based on observable market data.
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Level 1

Risk finance policy  Guardrisk 990 1 351 990 1 351

Level 3

Transvaal Wattle Growers CoOp Agriculture Company 1 1 1 1

KAAP Agri 1 1 1 1

NTE Investments 1 743 1 743 - 1

1 745 1 745 2 2

2 735 3 096 992 1 353

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at level 3

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at level 3  Group – 2020

Opening balance Total

Transvaal Wattle Growers CoOp Agriculture Company 1 1

KAAP Agri 1 1

NTE Investments 1 743 1 743

1 745 1 745

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at level 3  Group – 2019

Opening balance Total

Transvaal Wattle Growers CoOp Agriculture Company 1 1

KAAP Agri 1 1

NTE Investments 1 743 1 743

1 745 1 745
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at level 3  Company  2020

Opening balance Total

Transvaal Wattle Growers CoOp Agriculture Company 1 1

KAAP Agri 1 1

2 2

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at level 3  Company  2019

Opening balance Total

Transvaal Wattle Growers CoOp Agriculture Company 1 1

KAAP Agri 1 1

2 2

Other financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 3 096 2 730 1 353 2 087

Movement for the year (361) 366 (361) (734)

2 735 3 096 992 1 353

The directors value all unlisted investments at cost.

None of the available for sale assets are past due or impaired.
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10.  Retirement benefit asset

Retirement funds

All employees were members of the South African Forestry Company SOC Limited Provident Fund at year-end.

The plan is a defined contribution fund. 

Alexander Forbes is the administrator of the South African Forestry Company SOC Limited Provident Fund.

The surplus amount of the South African Forestry Company SOC Limited Provident Fund at year-end was fully utilised.

Carrying value

Pension and provident fund - 201 - 13

Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive

Pension and provident fund
- 27 257 - 873

Key economic assumptions used

The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate - 7,80% - 7,80%

Inflation rate - 4,20% - 4,20%

Salary increase rate - 5,20% - 5,20%

The reconciliation of fair value plan assets is made up of the following:

Assets at fair market value at the beginning of the year - 185 - 3

Interest income on assets - 14 - 1

Actuarial Gain or Loss - 2 - 9

Assets at fair market value at end of the year - 201 - 13
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

Estimated asset composition

The assets of the SAFCOL Provident Fund were invested as follows:

Cash - 10,79% - 10,79%

Equity - 22,44% - 22,44%

Bonds - 33,42% - 33,42%

Property - 6,80% - 6,80%

International - 26,55% - 26,55%

11.  Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2020

Loans and receivables Other financial assets Total

Trade and other receivables 186 613 - 186 613

Other financial assets - 2 735 2 735

Cash and cash equivalents 252 358 - 252 358

438 971 2 735 441 706

Group – 2019

Loans and receivables Other financial assets Total

Trade and other receivables 465 604 - 465 604

Other financial assets - 3 096 3 096

Cash and cash equivalents 156 079 - 156 079

621 683 3 096 624 779
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Company – 2020

Loans and receivables Other financial assets Total

Loans to group companies 85 798 - 85 798

Trade and other receivables 1 690 - 1 690

Other financial assets - 992 992

Cash and cash equivalents 231 037 - 231 037

318 525 992 319 517

Company – 2019

Loans and receivables Other financial assets Total

Loans to group companies 154 632 - 154 632

Trade and other receivables 1 884 - 1 884

Other financial assets - 1 353 1 353

Cash and cash equivalents 129 886 - 129 886

286 402 1 353 287 755
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I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

12.  Deferred tax

Deferred tax asset 114 367 107 900 62 820 64 402

Deferred tax liability (850 273) (1 017 553) - -

Total net deferred tax asset / (liability) (735 906) (909 653) 62 820 64 402

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability) 

At beginning of year (909 652) (941 952) 64 402 63 315

Prior year under/(over) provision 17 035 - (550)  -

Reversing / Originating temporary differences on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 

assets

(41 730) 9 146 (603) 3 357

Reversing / Originating temporary differences on provisions 14 446 387 1 172

Translation reserve 7 746 - - -

Reversing / Originating temporary differences on other allowances (19 104) (16 189) - (38)

Reversing / Originating temporary differences on fair value (42 533) 41 954 - -

Reversing / Originating temporary differences on retirement benefit asset 56 (4) 4 (3)

Reversing/Originating temporary differences on borrowings 187 305 (593) 1 056 -

Originating temporary difference on assessed loss 50 525 (2 402) (1 490) (2 401)

(735 906) (909 653) 62 820 64 402
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Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019

Restated* Restated*

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000

13.    Inventories

Raw materials 9 518 13 659 - -

Work in progress 15 210 14 364 - -

Finished goods 57 621 30 154 - -

Consumables 24 841 16 491 483 226

107 190 74 668 483 226

Inventories (writedowns) (5 206) (3 470) - -

101 984 71 198 483 226

Assigning costs to inventories

The costs of individual items of inventory are determined using weighted average costs. The exception is harvested logs, which are valued at fair value at the point of harvest.
Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to R583 million (2019 was – R780 million). These were included in cost of sales.
Inventory  write downs

We have provided inventory allowance based on the history on write-downs in the prior years. This has been assumed to estimate correct provisions as the business model and 
products have not changed over the years. 

An allowance of 15% for nursery stock due to nongermination has been made; this estimate is based on historical data. 
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Inventories items listed below are held at fair value less cost to sell:

Raw materials 9 518 13 659 - -

9 518 13 659 - -

As at the signing of the financial statements, there are no inventories that are pledged as security.

14.  Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 216 911 476 462 - - 

Prepayments 3 121 2 613 - -

Other receivables 14 486 7 572 1 715 1 899

Provision for impairment (44 785) (18 429) (25) (15)

189 733 468 218 1 690 1 884

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for settlement within 30 days 

and therefore are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing 

components, when they are recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Details about the group’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance are provided in note 12(c).

Fair values of trade receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered the same as their fair value.

Impairment and risk exposure

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the group’s exposure to credit risk and interest rate risk can be found in the Risk Management Note.
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Trade and other receivables pledged as security

In the current year, there are no trade and other receivables pledged as security.

Fully performing trade and other receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables

Fully performing trade receivables 60 252 392 888 - -

Fully performing other receivables 1 262 - 602 771

61 514 392 888 602 771

Trade and other receivables which would have been past due or impaired, but which have been renegotiated are as follows:

Included in the Group’s trade and other receivables are trade and other receivables with a carrying amount of R59 million (2018: R40 million) and for the Company R0.7 million (2018: 

R1.3 million) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has been a significant change in the credit quality and the amounts are still 

considered recoverable.

Trade receivables 118 505 68 060 - -

Other receivables 105 217 - -

118 610 68 277 - -
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Trade and other receivables not impaired:

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

3060 days 62 148 61 132 12 720

6090 days 25 773 7 086 - 39

90120 days 3 620 59 - 508

120150 days  - - - 442

More than 150 days 27 069  - 14 298

118 610 68 277 26 2 007

Reconciliation of impairment of provision for impairment:

Opening balance (18 430) (7 695) (15) (142)

Provision for impairment (26 355) (10 735) (11) 127

(44 785) (18 430) (26) (15)

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks for trade receivables is included in Note 43.

15.  Current tax receivables / (payable)

Consists of:

SA Norm Tax: Normal Taxation 24 658 24 736 - -

24 658 24 736 - -

Tax receivable relates to an overestimated taxable income, which resulted in a higher provisional tax payment made to SARS. The refund is expected to be paid after the submission 

of the income tax return this financial year.



181SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

16.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:     

Bank balances 22 434 26 507 1 114 314

Shortterm deposits 229 924 129 572 229 923 129 572

252 358 156 079 231 037 129 886

17.  Noncurrent assets held for sale

Non-current Assets held for sale consists of property, plant and equipment.  As at 31 March 2020 all assets held for sale were stated at fair value less costs to sell. Gains realised through 

the sale of assets held for sale are normally recognised in other income in the current year. In the current year, no assets held for sale were disposed off through the auction process. 

At 31 March 2019, assets held for sale had been disposed off through an auction process. 

Assets and liabilities

Noncurrent assets held for sale

Property, plant and equipment 673 - - -

Measurement of fair values:

i.  Fair values

The non-recurring fair value measurement for assets held for sale of R673 has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Cost approach and discounted cash flows: The valuation of property, plant and equipment was based on comparable fair values 

of assets in the market in the same location and condition of assets held for sale. Inferences to previous selling prices were used 

for specialised assets that did not have a readily available market information. 

There are no significant unobservable inputs used by 

management to determine the fair values of assets held 

for sale in the prior year.



182 SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

I.9.  Notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements

18.  Share capital

Authorised

1 500 000 000 Ordinary shares of R 1 each 1 500 000 1 500 000

Issued

318 013 254 Ordinary shares of R1 each 318 013 318 013

19.  Foreign currency translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries.

Foreign exchange  IFLOMA 76 570 100 757 - -

20.  Retirement fund reserve

Lumpsum payment to retirement funds 20 000 20 000 20 000 20 000

Pension fund shortfall funded by Government 44 000 44 000 44 000 44 000

64 000 64 000 64 000 64 000

21.  Capital profit reserve

Capital surplus on sawmill insurance claims 37 061 37 061 37 061 37 061

Cancellation of provision for cost of transfer of land 27 982 27 982 27 982 27 982

65 043 65 043 65 043 65 043
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22.  Finance lease liabilities

Minimum lease payments due

•  within one year 171 134 25 289 3 771  -

•  in second to fifth year inclusive 9 908 004 35 078 - -

10 079 138 60 367 - -

less: future finance charges (9 360 408) (9 250) - -

Present value of minimum lease payments 718 730 51 117  3 771  -

Present value of minimum lease payments due

•  within one year 140 665 21 087 3 771  -

•  in second to fifth year inclusive 578 065 30 029 - -

718 730 51 117 3 771  -

Noncurrent liabilities 578 065 30 029 - -

Current liabilities 140 665 21 087 3 771  -

718 730 51 117 3 771  -
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Financial liabilities

Minimum lease payments due

 within one year  -  - - 1 333

 in second to fifth year inclusive - - - -

 -  - - 1 333

Noncurrent liabilities - - - -

Current liabilities - - - 1 333

- - - 1 333

Finance lease obligations are capitalised between prime plus 0.34% and prime less 2.65% (2019: prime plus 1.15% and prime less 2.45%). The e!ective interest rate prevailing at year-end was 

10.47% (2019: 10.33%). The lease terms are five years with between 1 and 5 years (2019: 1 and 5 years) remaining. These liabilities are secured by instalment sale agreements over assets with 

a carrying value R40.33 million (2019: R63.54 million). Monthly repayments are R2 million (2019: R2.2 million).

There are no lease payments later than five years.

23.  Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions  Group – 2020

Opening balance Additions Reversed during 

the year

Total

Provisions  IFLOMA 6 831 770 - 7 601

Provision for quality claims on log products 7 080 29 386  - 36 466

13 911 30 156  - 44 067

Provision on logs relates to claims as a result of poor quality of log products. The provision on IFLOMA relates to withholding tax payable to the Mozambique tax authority. 
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Reconciliation of provisions  Group – 2019*restated

Opening balance Additions Reversed during 

the year

Total

Provisions  IFLOMA 5 662 1 169 - 6 831

Provision for quality claims on log products 12 632 - (5 552) 7 080

18 294 1 169 (5 552) 13 911
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24.  Financial liabilities by category 

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group – 2020 Financial liabilities at amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables 208 338 208 338

Group – 2019 Financial liabilities at amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables 346 899 346 899

Company – 2020 Financial liabilities at amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables 137 457 137 457

Company – 2019 Financial liabilities at amortised cost Total

Trade and other payables     109 854 109 854

25.  Trade and other payables 

Trade payables 38 265 74 278 5 548 2 825

Value Added Tax (VAT) 1 973 3 659 2 643 5 042

Other payables 4 346 138 717 - -

Accruals 67 820 51 871 17 068 9 610

Minority Shareholders 116 368 96 582 116 368 96 582

DPE Grant 9 927 8 657 9 927 8 657

238 699 373 764 151 554 122 716
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DPE Grant: 

In the 2016/17 financial year the company received a conditional grant of R9 million from The Department of Public Enterprises (DPE). The conditions of the grant stipulate that the 

grant will be used in the below listed circumstances where DPE has partnered with SAFCOL for the implementation of the following projects: 

Timber-Frames Public Facilities, Pole Treatment Plant, Charcoal Commercialization, Broadband Service for Rural Communities, Furniture Manufacturing and other projects for public 

facilities, and the Development and Construction of a science school concept.

To date, the company has utilized R343 000 of the grant. 

Minority Shareholders:

Included in trade and other payables is dividends and interest of R74.5 million which is held on behalf of minority shareholders. 

26. Right of Use 

The Group leases land from the Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries. The lease term has been estimated over 70 years. This corresponds to the rotation period of pine 

trees that is the main product of the Group. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. The Group also has certain leases of machinery 

and equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition 

exemptions for these leases. There are several lease contracts that include extension and termination options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed below. Some 

of the Group’s vehicles, property, plant and equipment are financed through finance leasing for a maximum period of five (5) years. The current year is the first year of adoption of IFRS 

16 Leases. The disclosure therefore presents the total impact of right of use in the current year.

Right-of-use assets 2020           Land Lease           Property Lease          Property Lease

The Group leases land from the Department of Environment, Forestry and Fisheries. The lease term has been estimated over 70 years. This corresponds to two rotation periods of 

pine trees. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.     

Right-of-use assets 2020

Balance at 01 April 2019                                                                                                             337 967                         -                       8 069                         -

Depreciation charge for the year                                                                                              (14 780)                          -                      (4 611)                       -               

Balance at 31 March 2020                                           323 187                          -                        3 458                         -
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Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows  

-  within one year 166 908                   28 182 4 226  -

-  in second to fifth year inclusive  613 561                   35 080 - -

 - more than five years 9 294 443                    - - -

                                                                                          10 074 912                           63 262           4 226                                   -

less: future finance charges  (9 359 953)                  (9 707) (455)                                                    -

Present value of minimum lease payments 714 959                 53 555                      3 771                 -

Present value of minimum lease payments due

 within one year 136 894 23 526 3 771  -

 in second to fifth year inclusive 326 792 30 029 - -

 more than five years 251 273 - - -

 714 959 53 555 3 771  -

Amount recognised in the statement of cash flows

Total cash outflow for leases 31 531 35 314 5 285  -

Lease Liability included in Statement of financial position

Noncurrent liabilities 578 065 30 029 - -

Current liabilities 136 894 23 526 3 771  -

 714 959 53 555 3 771  -



South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

The above Lease obligations are capitalised between prime plus 1.15% and prime less 2.45% (2019: prime plus 1.15% and prime less 2.45%). The effective interest rate prevailing 
at year-end was 10.33% (2019: 10.33%). The lease terms are five years with between 1 and 5 years (2019: 1 and 5 years) remaining. These liabilities are secured by instalment sale 
agreements over assets with a carrying value R63.54 million (2019: R63.54 million). Monthly repayments are R2.2 million (2019: R2.2 million).

Reconciliation of Finance Leases

Opening balance 49 783 51 902  -  -

Additions 472 804 26 914  8 488 -

Disposals - (308) - -

Interest 223 093 4 952                        568                              -

Payments (30 721) (29 905) (5 285) -

Closing balance 714 959 53 555 3 771  -

27. Revenue 
The group harvests, manufactures and sells timber products in the timber market. Sales are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are 
delivered to the customer. Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, 
and either the customer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the group has objective evidence that all criteria 
for acceptance have been satisfied. 

It is the group’s policy to sell its products to the end customer with a right of return within a reasonable time. Therefore, a refund liability (included in provisions) and a right to the 
returned goods (included in other current assets) are recognised for the products expected to be returned. Accumulated experience is used to estimate such returns at the time of 
sale at a portfolio level (expected value method). Because the number of products returned has been steady for years, it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative 
revenue recognised will not occur. The validity of this assumption and the estimated amount of returns are reassessed at each reporting date.
The effect of initially applying IFRS 15 on the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers is described in significant changes in accounting policies. Due to the transition method 
chosen in applying IFRS 15, comparative information has not been restated to reflect the new requirements.

Revenue streams

The Group generates revenue primarily from the sale of Logs and Lumber products. Other sources of revenue include rental income from its tourism facilities.

Provision of services: Management fees - - 166 232 170 082

Sale of goods: Log sales 587 325 783 967 - -

Sale of goods: Lumber sales 203 829 232 006 - -

Other Revenue 33 164 26 141 - 1

824 318 1 042 114 166 232 170 083
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Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies:
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. 
The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, 

and the related revenue recognition policies. 

Type of product/
services

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including significant payment terms

Revenue recognition under IFRS 15 
(applicable from 1 April 2018)

Revenue recognition under IAS 18 (applicable 
before 1 April 2018) 

Timber products Customers obtain control of timber products when the 
goods are dispatched from the Company’s warehouse. 
Invoices are generated and revenue is recognised at 
that point in time. Invoices are usually payable within 
30 days. No discounts, loyalty points or returns are 
offered for timber products.

Revenue is recognised when the goods are 
dispatched from the Company’s warehouse

Revenue for timber products was recognised 
when the goods were dispatched from the 
Company’s warehouse.

Forestry products Customers obtain control of forestry products when 
the goods are delivered at the delivery point. Invoices 
are generated at the point of delivery. 

Invoices are usually payable within 30 days. No 
discounts are provided for standard products, but 
customers may earn loyalty points instead (see below). 
Some contracts permit the customer to return an item. 
Returned goods are exchanged
only for new goods – i.e. no cash refunds are offered..

Revenue is recognised when the goods are 
delivered and have been accepted by customers 
at the delivery point. 
The company’s contracts permit the customers 
to return an item,
revenue is thus recognised to the extent that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue 
recognised will not occur. Therefore, the amount 
of
revenue recognised is adjusted
for expected returns, which are estimated based 
on the historical data for specific products. 
In these circumstances, a refund liability is 
recognised.
Company reviews its estimate of expected 
returns at each reporting date and updates the 
amounts of the liability accordingly

Revenue is recognised when the goods were 
delivered to the delivery point, which was taken 
to be the point in time at which the customer 
accepted the goods and the related risks and 
rewards of ownership transferred, provided that 
a
reasonable estimates of the returns could be 
made. If a reasonable estimate could not be 
made, then revenue recognition was deferred 
until the return period lapsed or a reasonable 
estimate of returns could be made



191SAFCOL  I  INTEGRATED REPORT

South African Forestry Company SOC Limited and its subsidiaries

(Registration number 1992/005427/30)
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Other revenue includes: 

Other revenue arises mainly from property management, eco-tourism and sundry sales. The Group does not consider this to be part of main revenue generating activities.

Property & Housing Management 14 622 11 773 - 1

Eco-Tourism 8 126 6 411 - -

Sundry Products 10 416 7 957 - -

33 164 26 141 - 1

28.  Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes only expenses directly or indirectly attributable to the production process. Cost of harvested logs at point of harvest is valued at fair value less cost to sell. 

The fair value of harvested logs has been estimated to equal the prevailing market price in an open market between a willing buyer and a willing seller. The costs of harvesting are 

negligible and thus selling price is assumed to approximate fair value less costs to sell.

Harvested timber 583 130 791 262 - -

Lumber processing 236 551 241 876 - -

Other 201 342 - -

819 882 1 033 480 - -

29.  Other operating Income

Other recoveries 330 2 540 - 4

Other income 5 896 9 229 3 463                     1 275

6 226 11 769 3 463 1 279

Other operating income comprises of insurance claims, settlement discount received and FP&M Seta rebate.
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30.  Other operating gains / (losses)

Fair value gains

Biological assets 903 440 823 377 - -

31.  Operating profit / (loss)

Operating profit for the period is stated after charging the following, amongst others:

Auditor’s remuneration  external

Audit fees 8 375 7 247 7 526 5 626

Income from subsidiaries

Administration and management fees - - 166 232 170 082

Fees for services

Administrative and legal services 5 946 3 719 5 946 3 559

Managerial services 28 563 36 160 15 508 20 179

34 509 39 879 21 454 23 738

Employee costs 

Salaries and wages 324 067 349 787 80 851 77 199

Other short term costs 39 420 39 971 20 978 20 256

Retirement benefit contribution 32 295 32 871 7 904 6 949

Total employee costs 395 782 422 629 109 733 104 404
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Leases

Operating lease charges

Premises - 78 582  130  5 450

Equipment 4 223 4 268 - -

4 223 82 851  130  5 450

32.  Employee costs

Employee costs

Basic 292 226 312 747 76 546 72 485

Incentive Bonus – (Production) 12 792 18 699 1 497 1 396

Unemployment Insurance Fund 1 861 2 095 322 300

Workmen Compensation Association 5 514 5 637 952 866

Skills Development Levy 2 921 3 204 814 771

Leave pay provision charge 3 639 960 721 1 207 

Other short term costs 44 333 46 416 20 977 20 430

Retirement benefit plans 32 496 32 871 7 904 6 949

395 782 422 629 109 733 104 404
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33.  Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment 48 009 52 138 896 1 020

Right of use 14 780 - 4 611  -

Amortisation

Intangible assets 1 095 11 824 1 095 11 824

Impairment losses

Property, plant and equipment - - - -

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 63 884 63 962 6 602 12 844

34. Other Operating Costs

Repairs and maintenance 38 695 57 929 875 930

Risk management 16 889 21 560 9 317 11 095

Inventory Write Down 44 897 54 179 - -

Travel and Accommodation 7 014 9 420 4 772 5 677

Contractors 178 044 159 786 189 198

Indirect taxes 2 602 3 242 750 790

Subscriptions and Levies 14 964 10 952 52 200

O"ce and Admin 104 867 27 298 5 479 8 240

Bursaries 3 310 4 122 3 310 4 216

Corporate Social Investment 9 802 8 933 9 802 5 169

421 084 357 421 34 546 36 515
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35. Investment income

Dividend income

From group entities:

Dividends received from NTE - 1 1 1

Interest income

From loans to:

Monetary assistance - 59 - 3

From investments in financial assets:

Bank and other cash 5 536 5 768 5 536 5 768

Other interest 1 551 584 666 468

From loans to group and other related parties:

Subsidiaries - - 8 625 6 990

Total interest income 7 087 6 411 14 827 13 229

Total investment income 7 087 6 412 14 828 13 230

36.  Finance costs

Finance leases – IFRS 16 Finance costs 223 661 4 384 568  -

Other interest 1 796 77 1 352 42

Total finance costs 225 457 4 461 1 920  42
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37.  Cash generated from/ (used in) operations      

Profit / (loss) before taxation (232 124) (128 257) 2 613 (4 028)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 63 883 63 961  6 601 12 844

Dividend income (59) (1) (1) (1)

Interest income - (6 410) (8 625) (6 990)

Finance costs: IFRS 16 adjustment  225 457  -  568  -

Movement on biological assets (178 180) 109 894 - -

Movements on retirement benefit assets 201 (16) 13 (10)

Movement on other financial assets (Guardrisk) 361 734 361 734

Non-current assets held for sale - 1 013 - -

Right-of-use assets  - (7 229)

Adjustments on: retained earnings - - 2 211 -

Profit on asset disposals - (1 782) - (147)

Movements in provisions  30 156 (4 382) - -

Movement in bad debt provisions  - 12 366 111 (127)

Movement on leave pay - - 721 -

Movement in deferred tax - - 1 581 -

Other expenses non-cash transactions  - (3 514) 1 096 -

Non-cash flow shareholder loan movements - - (13 236) 32 603

Changes in working capital:

Movement in Inventories (30 786) 44 529 (256) 61

Movement in Trade and other receivables 278 484 (115 303) 195 9 452

Movement in Trade and other payables   (1 212) 92 155 28 839 7 548

156 181 64 987 15 563 51 939
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38.  Taxation

Major components of the taxation

Current Tax 

Current period  211  2 420  - -

  211  2 420  - -

Deferred Tax  

Current period  (166 000)  (32 301)  1 581 1 087

  (165 789)            (29 881)  1 581 1 087

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Accounting profit / loss                 (232 124)  (128 257)  2 613 (4 028)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%)  (64 995)  (35 912)  732 1 128

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income 

Net effect of (income)/expenses that are not (taxable)/deductible in determining taxable profit             27 704                 2 473                         259                -

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries operating in different jurisdictions                (10 001)                (15 890)  -  -

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to prior periods  (118 497)  19 448  590 (41)

Tax losses (utilised)/carried forward  -  -  - -

  (165 789)  (29 881)  1 581 1 087
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Tax  paid 

Balance at the beginning of the year 24 736 (7 730) - -

Current tax for the period recognised in profit or loss 211 - - -

Balance at the end of the year (24  609) 24 736 - -

338 17 006 - -

39.  Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for

•  Operational and Capital Commitments 695 484 416 338 1 613 16 028

This committed expenditure relates to operational expenditures and will be financed by available bank facilities, retained profits, rights issue of shares, issue of debentures, mortgage 

facilities, existing cash resources, funds internally generated, etc.

Operating leases commitment 

Minimum lease payments due

within one year 10 803 12 441 5 656 7 294

 in second to fifth year inclusive 4 465 8 236 - 3 771

 later than five years - - - -

15 268 20 677 5 656 11 065

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payable for building and printers. 
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40.  Contingencies

Land claims

In terms of section 3 of the MSFA, SAFCOL was established with inter alia a commercial 

mandate to manage and commercially exploit the State forest as defined in section 1 

of the NFA and other forestry related assets.

SAFCOL commercially manages State forest plantations in three provinces within 

the Republic, namely Limpopo, Mpumalanga and Kwa-Zulu Natal. The Government 

of the Republic owns the land that SAFCOL uses for its commercial forestry business 

operations within the Komatiland package and it lease the land from DAFF through 

a long-term lease. In this instance, DAFF act as a custodian of the State forestland as 

defined in section 1 of the NFA. Therefore, SAFCOL does not own the land on which it 

manages the commercial State forest operation within the Komatiland package and 

it only has the right to use the land for commercial purposes that are in line with its 

statutory business mandate in terms of MSFA. Approximately 57% of SAFCOL operated 

land is affected by land claims. SAFCOL has developed a business model that will 

ensure the successful settlement of land claims affecting its operated land.

SAFCOL Business Model

The SAFCOL Board approved the SAFCOL Draft business (Settlement) model. SAFCOL 

together with DRDLR is conducting workshops on the model with all relevant 

stakeholders including land claimants. The Model is underpinned by the following 

principles:

• SAFCOL is committed to the empowerment and socio economic advancement of 

successful claimant communities,

• SAFCOL plan to negotiate and agree, in good faith and fairly, on a medium to 

long-term relationship with the new owners,

• Commercial principles shall apply,

• Market related rates would be applicable in all negotiations,

• The proposed strategic partnership model shall be divided into three business 

areas: 

Commercial plantation beneficiation:

 » SAFCOL lease land from communities,

 » Economic participation by communities (CSI, ESD, value chain beneficiation, 

job opportunities)

Processing business opportunities:

• Power generation enterprise co ownership (NewCo) – community, SAFCOL, 

technology partner and investor, 

• Sawmill co ownership (community shareholding),

• Second level processing (e.g. bio chemicals).

Products manufacturing (e.g. furniture, hard boards).

• SAFCOL to use own and dedicated resources to assist, support and work with the 

land beneficiaries to ensure future business successes,

• Beneficiaries and SAFCOL jointly to identify business opportunities in the forestry 

sector to achieve economic expansion in the area,

• The partnership shall be always be for mutual beneficiation and advancement.

Land Claims Opportunities

Land beneficiaries should be given opportunities within the full SAFCOL Forestry Value 

Chain. The initial set-aside proportion of procurement spend on direct operational 

activities for land beneficiaries will be increased over time to ensure successful 

implementation.

Land beneficiaries will be assisted to establish independent business enterprises 

and provide services to the plantation management. This shall enable preferential 

procurement, i.e. contracting opportunities for members of the claimant communities. 

The land beneficiaries should be involved in the following activities: 
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Silviculture,

Harvesting,

%� Transport,

%� Firefighting,

%� Security, and

%� Maintenance of assets, etc.

Enterprise Development Initiatives

The promotion of entrepreneurship and small business remains an important priority of 

the development agenda within South Africa. As a State-owned Company (SOC) SAFCOL 

is committed to ensure that small businesses progressively increase their contribution in 

terms of growth and performance of the South African economy in critical areas such as 

job creation, equity and access to markets.

Land Beneficiaries who are also entrepreneurs should be considered and developed to 

become businesspersons. The following projects can be considered for land claimant 

groups:

• Furniture Manufacturing,

• Broom Stick Manufacturing,

• Pallet Making,

• Charcoal Production,

• Small Scale Farming,

• Mushroom Cultivation,

• Medicinal Plants Trade,

• Bee-Keeping, and

• Livestock Grazing.

Action Plan Going Forward

In consultation with the Department of Rural Develop and Land Reform (DRDLR), SAFCOL 

will conduct workshops with land beneficiaries to present and agree on the proposed 

settlement model.

Furthermore, the company will conduct workshops in order to educate these communities 

about the forestry value chain, in order to empower these communities in making informed 

decision regarding their involvement in the forestry business.

SAFCOL to ensure that at the end a strategic business partnership will be concluded based 

on agreements between land beneficiaries and SAFCOL.

Bank Facilities

There are contingent liabilities in respect of:

• Bank guarantees in respect of Group company liabilities to the amount of R 0.75 

million (2019: R 0, 75 million). 

• Cross suretyships between the subsidiaries and the holding company for any 

indebtedness which any of them may have to the specific financial institutions in 

respect of cash management and financial facilities.

• SAFCOL has provided a guarantee to the amount of R160 000 000 in respect of 

Komatiland Forests SOC Ltd obligations, including asset based finance

• SAFCOL has a credit card facility to the value of R2 500 000

• An automated clearing bureau credit facility of R5 440 000

• Fleet Card Facility of R200 000

• Daylight Limit of R52 000 000

Legal cases

The Group is currently involved in a number of legal disputes. The amount provided 

represents the directors’ best estimate of the Group’s liability having taken legal advice. 

Uncertainties relate to whether claims will be settled out of court or if not whether the 

Group is successful in defending any action. Because of the nature of the disputes, the 

directors have not disclosed future information on the basis that they believe that this 

would be seriously prejudicial to the Group’s position in defending the cases brought 

against it.
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Estimates and assumptions

The Group reviews outstanding legal cases following developments in the legal 

proceedings and at each reporting date, in order to assess the need for provisions 

and disclosures in its financial statements. Among the factors considered in making 

decisions on provisions are the nature of litigation, claim or assessment, the legal 

process and potential level of damages in the jurisdiction in which the litigation, claim 

or assessment has been brought, the progress of the case (including the progress 

after the date of the financial statements but before those statements are issued), the 

opinions or views of legal advisers, experience on similar cases and any decision of the 

Group’s management as to how it will respond to the litigation, claim or assessment.

1. Competition Law Infringement Investigations

1.1 SAFCOL vs PNM Short haulers (Pty) Ltd, Tingovho Transport cc & MM Simelane 

Transport cc Case No. 2016NOV0645

On November 2016, SAFCOL lodged a complaint with the Competition Commission 

(“Commission”) against PNM Shorthaulers (Pty) Ltd (“PNM”), Tingovho Transport cc 

(“Tingovho”) and MM Simelane Transport cc (“MM Simelane”).  

The complaint is on the allegation that there is a concerted practice that has been 

identified by SAFCOL between PNM, Tingovho and MM Simelane on collusive tendering 

in contravention of section 4(1)(b)(iii) of the Competition Act 89 of 1998 (“the Act”).

The complaint is still under investigation by the Commission and the period of this 

investigation was extended on 21 September 2020 in terms of section 50(4) of the Act.

1.2.  Masterbord SA (PTY) Ltd (MASTERBORD) V Komatiland Forests SOC Limited (KLF) 

and South African Forestry Company SOC Limited (SAFCOL) - 2018DEC0036

On 26 February, SAFCOL/KLF received a letter (“the Letter”) from the Competition 

Commission SA (“Competition Commission”).

In the Letter, the Competition Commission informed SAFCOL/KLF that Masterbord 

had lodged a complaint of abuse of dominance through exclusionary acts (including 

excessive pricing). SAFCOL/KLF has denied these claims and has submitted written 

representations to the Competition Commission.

This complaint is still under investigation.

2.1 Ladz Trading CC vs SAFCOL & Nomkhitha Mona

Late in March 2016, SAFCOL received summons from Ladz Trading cc for R498 980.28 

alleging breach of an ‘oral agreement’ and claiming damages as a result. 

SAFCOL has launched a counterclaim against Ms Nomkhita Mona for R807 560.04.  The 

matter is still pending at the High Court. 

2.2.  Economists.co.za (Pty) Ltd vs KLF

In November 2016, KLF received summons from Economists.co.za claiming payment 

of the sum of R399 000.00. KLF has entered an appearance to defend the matter due 

to issues related to the contraventions of the PFMA. The matter is pending in the High 

Court. The parties in the matter await a trial date from the Registrar of the High Court 

as the pleadings have closed.

2.3.  KLF vs Andre Moller

This matter arises from the findings of the forensic investigation that was conducted 

by SAFCOL. The summons was issued against Moller in the Mbombela High Court. The 

defendant (Mr. Moller) has entered appearance to defend. The matter is now in full 

litigation mode as the parties exchange pleadings in preparation for trial.

The full extent of the financial implications in the case is R942 016.62.
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2.4.  KLF vs Shaka Pallets CC & 2 Others

The summons was issued against the debtor for the repayment of R2 878 888.61. 

KLF has obtained judgment in this matter but the execution thereof is still underway, 

with an application being made to declare immovable property especially executable 

against the properties of the judgment debtors.  The defendant has been located and 

the writ of execution is due to be served by the Sheriff

2.5.  KLF vs 4 J Timbers CC & 2 Others

KLF initiated this legal action. KLF summons was issued against 4J Timbers CC and 

Others for the repayment of R1 035 852.51 for goods sold and delivered. Judgment 

was obtained against 4J Timber CC in favour of KLF. Part of the money has been 

recovered (R58 688.00) but a substantial amount is still outstanding. On 30 January 

2020, Motalane Kgariya attorneys decided to withdraw from rendering services to KLF.

2.6.  KLF vs Mason & Mason Trust

The summons was issued against Mason and Mason Trust for damages resulting from 

the fire that occurred on 08 June 2012. The matter is still pending at the High Court.

The extent of the financial value anticipated in the case is R17 494 323.00.

2.7.  KLF vs Gildenhuys Malatjie Attorneys & Rivapro (Pty) Ltd

KLF pursued a professional negligence claim against the attorneys for mishandling 

the Rivapro matter as they acted contrary to KLF’s instructions and did not protect its 

interests despite numerous instructions over a long period. 

Summons was issued but in light of the escalating fees, KLF has instructed its attorneys 

not to proceed with litigation in an attempt to reduce costs for KLF and terminated 

their mandate. The parties are currently exploring settlement and it is hoped that 

these will yield positive results.

The extent of the financial value anticipated in the case is R286 647.60.

2.8.  KLF vs Jossephy Lounge and Furniture CC

The summons was issued in March 2016 against Jossephy Lounge and Furniture cc 

in the Kwazulu-Natal High Court in Pietermaritzburg for the recovery of R303 046.28 

that is owed to KLF for lumber that was supplied. In February 2020, KLF learned that 

the Defendant (Josseppy Lounge) was officially under liquidation. KLF’s attorneys are 

currently communicating with the appointed liquidators and await to be notified of 

the first meeting of creditors and the list of assets to register KF’s claim.

2.9.  The IFIRM Trading & Project (Pty) Ltd vs SAFCOL & NP Mona

In March 2017, SAFCOL received summons from iFIRM claiming payment of the sum 

of R873 053.95 from SAFCOL and NP Mona jointly and severally. The matter is pending 

in the High Court. SAFCOL still awaits a plea by IFIRM on the counter-claim filed to set 

aside the unlawful contract entered into with IFIRM by Ms Mona.

Judgment has been granted against MS Mona and she has launched proceedings to 

rescind the judgment. SAFCOL will not be opposing the rescission application and will 

abide the Court’s decision. There have been no further steps taken by the Plaintiff.

2.10.  John Wright Veneers (Pty) Ltd vs KLF

JWV has instituted legal action against KLF in the High Court, Pretoria on the basis of 

an alleged breach of contract claim. KLF is defending the action. This matter will be 

heard in court on 14 May 2020.

The full extent of the financial exposure in the case is R2 809 442.96.

2.11.  John Wright Veneers (Pty) Ltd vs KLF (credit notes)

This is a dispute about a contract between JWV and KLF in terms of which JWV alleges 

it rendered custom-cut services for which it was not paid by 21 June 2019(due date 

for payment). However, KLF disputes its liability to pay this particular invoice and is 

defending the action. This matter is still proceeding in Court.
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The extent of the financial value in the case is R412 000.00.

2.12.  John Wright Veneers (Pty) Ltd vs KLF (Arbitrator appointment)
JWV has launched application proceedings in the High Court for an order directing the 
Chairman of the Gauteng Provincial Council of the Legal Practice Council to appoint an 
arbitrator from its members to adjudicate an alleged dispute between KLF and itself.
The dispute that JWV alleges exists relates to a written contract (“the Contract”) 
entered into between KLF and itself in 2017. The dispute is essentially about whether 
the processing fee should be increased or not as JWV alleges it should be increased as 
purportedly provided for in the Contract. According to JWV, this is an arbitral dispute, 
which interpretation KLF disputes.  

2.13.  Ukhamba Management Consultants CC vs KLF
Ukhamba issued two summons against KLF in the High Court of South Africa, 
Johannesburg for an alleged breach contract for services rendered but not paid for 
by KLF, which claim KLF is disputing and defending. Ukhamba applied for default 
judgment against KLF, which KLF resisted successfully as the applications for summary 
judgment were dismissed. The matters are now proceeding normally and KLF has 
requested various documents from Ukhamba on which its claims are based. 

The full extent of the financial exposure in the case is R10 702 883.33.

2.14.  KLF vs Phakamoli (Pty) Ltd
This is a collection matter. The claim is one based on breach of contract for goods 
purchased and delivered. Summons has been issued and the matter is currently before 
court. The extent of the financial value in the case is R63 406.97.

2.15.  KLF vs Marian Aaron Shiviri
This is a collection matter instituted by KLF for goods delivered purchased but not paid 
for by the debtor. The matter is currently before court for recovery. The extent of the 
financial value in the case is R26 015.95.

2.16.  KLF vs Greengold Timber cc
KLF launched a summary judgement application on 12 August 2019. The court found 
in KLF’s favour and the attorneys are now executing on the court order granted. 
The extent of the financial value in the case is R251 329.16.

2.17.  KLF vs Lowveld Lumber & Pallet cc
Although the matter is pending in court for a judgment, the debtor has been repaying 
the amount owed in small instalment. Judgment has been obtained but the execution 
of it is still underway, with an application being made to declare immovable property 
especially executable against the properties of the judgment debtors. Extent of the 
financial value in the case is R74 269.61.

2.18.  KLF vs Kloofsige Saagmeule
Although the matter is pending in court for a judgment, the debtor has been repaying 
the amount owed in small instalments. The matter is ongoing. 
The extent of the financial value in the case is R263 049.03. 

2.19 KLF vs Diggersest (Pty) Ltd
KLF initiated the legal action.  KLF issued summons to recover R9 304 867.14 in monies 
outstanding because of a breach of a sale agreement. In the meanwhile, Diggerrest 
has paid an amount of R4 million. KLF has determined that the amount that will be 
acceptable to finalize the matter will be R2 545 223.36. Therefore, KLF is negotiating 
with Diggerrest for the payment of this amount to close out the matter. 
The extent of the financial value in the case is R2 545 223.36.

2.20 SAFCOL vs Tamarin Jacobs
The employee referred an unfair dismissal dispute to the Commission for Conciliation, 
Mediation and Arbitration(“CCMA”) after her dismissal for various acts of misconducts. 

The matter proceeded to arbitration and the Commissioner found in the employee’s 
favour and ordered her reinstatement. However, SAFCOL has launched review 
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proceedings (“the Review”) against the arbitration award on the ground that the 
Commissioner misdirected herself and committed irregularities in the manner in which 
the evidence was evaluated and other grounds. 
The matter is now in the Labour Court and the employee is opposing the Review.

2.21.  SAFCOL vs Bathobile Gabela
This is a review application in the Labour Court launched by SAFCOL against a former 
employee. The matter is proceeding in the Labour Court. The attorneys await a court 
date.

The extent of the financial value in the case is R917 664.72.

2.22.  KLF v Fanta Forestry
This is a breach of contract matter. The attorneys have been instructed to collect and 
have commenced with the litigation proceedings.  The extent of the financial value in 
the case is R223 588.36.

2.23.  MB Mnisi N.O & Others vs Chief Land Claims Commissioner, SAFCOL & Others
An application has been launched by land claimants in the Land Claims Court against 
the Land Claims Commissioner on the disputed land claim that concerns various 
farms that include the Nelshoogte Plantation and Morgenzon which are managed by 
SAFCOL.  Therefore, SAFCOL is listed as an interested party on the dispute due to its 
management of Nelshoogte Plantation.  

The outcome of the application will have an impact in the business of SAFCOL at 
the Nelshoogte Plantation. Therefore, SAFCOL has taken a position not to oppose 
the application but only to have a watching brief so that they have access to all the 
information that pertains to the land claim in order to make timeous intervention if 
necessary to protect it business interest.

The application is directly against the Land Claims Commissioner.

2.24.  York Timbers (York) vs SAFCOL and KLF
This application is based on Section 78 of the Promotion of Access to Information 
Act. York seeks an order to compel SAFCOL/KLF to grant it access to some detailed, 
comprehensive and confidential commercial information. The matter is awaiting York 
set down of the matter for hearing.

2.25.   White River Sawmills vs KLF
White Rivers Sawmill instituted a claim to declare KLF liable for BBBEE discounts on 
sales that were concluded between the parties from 2016 until 2018. The matter was 
heard in court on 09 March 2020 and the judgment is reserved.

2.26.   Frano Toich vs SAFCOL
This is a review application against SAFCOL by one of its former employees. SAFCOL 
attorneys have applied for the dismissal of the application.

2.27.  Mokoena v SAFCOL
This is a review application instituted by one of SAFCOL’s former employees, Mr 
Mokoena. A court date for the hearing has already been obtained.

2.28.  Morajane du Plessis Attorneys vs SAFCOL
This is a collection matter instituted by Morajane du Plessis Attorneys against SAFCOL 
claiming that there are invoices that had not been paid. The matter is currently before 
court for a trial date.

The extent of the financial value in the case is R72 858.11.

2.29.  Clara Margherita vs SAFCOL/KLF
This is an application for access to information in terms of the Promotion of Access 
to Information Act. The matter has now been settled as the applicant has withdrawn 
the application and the issue of costs is now being attended to by SAFCOL internally. 
SAFCOL wants to recover all the costs incurred. The attorneys’ mandate has been 

terminated in an attempt to reduce costs for SAFCOL/KLF.
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41.  Related parties

Relationships

Ultimate shareholder Government of the Republic of South Africa represented by the Minister of 

the Public Enterprises

Subsidiaries Komatiland Forests SOC Limited 

Abacus Forestries SOC Limited 

Kamhlabane Timber SOC Limited 

Industrias Florestias de Manica.

Related party balances

Investment Subsidiaries
Investment in ABACUS

- - 456 456
Investment in KLF

- - 294 042 294 042
Investment in Kamhlabane at cost R100

- - - -
Loan accounts  Owing (to) / by related parties

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited
- - 85 798 154 632

Payables to related parties

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited
- - 470 1 917

Other State Owned Entities
(11 761) (7 875) - -

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
(197 800) (132 097) - -

Recievables from Related parties

Other state owned entities
55 327 - -

Interest received

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited
- 8 625 6 990
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Interest paid

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited - - -

Other State Owned Entities (32) - - -

Sale of goods and services

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited - - 166 232 170 082

Eskom 894 850 - -

Other State Owned Entities 8 735 1 445 3 086 1 062

Purchase of goods and services

Komatiland Forests SOC Limited - - (540) (540)

Eskom (14 094) (12 467) - -

Other State Owned Entities (92 786) (86 999) (9 241) (6 750)

Compensation to directors and other key management

Shortterm employee benefits 3 832 3 449 3 832 3 449

Transactions between SAFCOL and its subsidiaries are mainly to settle third party obligations on behalf of each other. The Group also has a centralised treasury function where cash 

resources are pulled together to ensure that the Group obtains maximum interest benefits.

The Group leases land from the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries through an undefined operating lease agreement.
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42.  Directors’ emoluments 

Executive

2020

Emoluments Reimbursement Retirement fund Total

OT Monaheng 2 744 14 316 3 074

J Maruma 1 359 - 142 1 501

D Hlatshwayo 1 189 -  159 1 348

5 292 14 617 5 923

2019

Emoluments Reimbursement Retirement fund Total

OT Monaheng 2 744 3 298 3 045

J Maruma 1 329 - 132 1 461

VZ Tlale 109 - - 109

4 182 3 430 4 615
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Nonexecutive

2020

Directors’ fees Reimbursements Total

N Balton  308  7  315 

P Derby  281  17  297 

Y Pillay  343  4  346 

L Mnisi  343  1  344 

Z Zatu  343  13  356 

L Mokgatle  308  2  310 

M Baleni  400  8  408 

P Makwana  915  -    915 

B Hanise  337  21  357 

J Yawitch  383  5  387 

 3 958  78  4 036 

Current board: 01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019 

Directors’ fees Reimbursements Total

N Balton 154 2 156

P Derby 168 1 169

Y Pillay 171 1 172

L Mnisi 171 2 173
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Z Zatu 171 3 175

L Mokgatle 154 7 161

M Baleni 198 5 203

P Makwana 447 - 447

B Hanise 168 3 171

J Yawitch 191 3 194

1 995 27 2 022

Previous board: 01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sep 2018 

Directors’ fees Reimbursements Total

MJ Rachidi 151 6 157

PE Molokwane 144 2 146

0PM Mahlangu 151 2 153

RL Mabece 398 - 398

S Baduza 126 1 127

SM Mnguni 108 4 112

CPM Ngwenya 159 - 159

GC Theron 108 1 109

1 344 16 1 360
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43.  Prior period error

In the prior year the Group disclosed that it had a right of return policy. This was incorrect and has been subsequently been amended in the current year. The Group does not have a 

right of return policy for its products. 

The following were adjusted in the current year:

Statement of financial performance  

 Restated values

 

   Previously 

reported

 

 Restated values

 

  Previously 

reported

Cost of Sales (1 033 480) (1 088 116) - -

Other operating income 11 769 13 792 - -

Other operating expenses (973 989) (933 186) - -

(1 995 700) (2 007 510) - -

Statement of financial position

1. Property, plant & equipment 229 414 226 759 5 014 2 359

2. Trade and other receivables  468 218  468 356 1 884 2 023

3. Retained earnings (2 898 649) (2 891 360) (84 747) (82 231)

4. Reserves (28 286) (33 058) - -

(2 229 303) (2 229 303) (77 849) (77 849)
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Group & Entity:

Statement of financial performance:

The calculation for cost of sales was reassessed based on cost of production inventory sold during the year. The error was caused by using cost instead of lower of cost and net realisable value 

to calculate the value of inventory. This had a corresponding impact on cost of sales value calculated. The error was corrected resulting in cost of sales being determined on the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. The error identified in inventory had a corresponding e!ect on the operating expenses.

Other operating income, error was caused by an incorrect allocation.

The operating expenses balance is also a!ected by the corresponding balance that was calculated from cost of sales. Furthermore, operating expenses further disclosed inventory write down 

which had not been disclosed in the prior year. This was a reclassification of costs.

Statement of financial position:

� PPE (company): Adjustment passed to correct prior year PPE. The adjustments are mainly based on the assets verification process, there was also an error caused by incorrect formulas 

used to finalise the asset register. 

� Cost Building & utilities: adjusted due to other change additions of Timber frames structures,

� Accumulated depreciation on buildings & utilities: was adjusted due to the inclusion of Timber frames structure,  

� Cost Vehicle: adjusted due to other changes additions /scraps of vehicle transfers between KLF & SAFCOL

� Accumulated depreciation vehicle: adjusted due to other changes additions /scraps of transfers of vehicle.

� Cost Computers: adjustment due to other changes scraps for assets either transferred or not found.

� Retained earnings was a!ected by changes made on PPE class. 

�
� Accounts receivables (company): Adjustment passed due to an invoice pertaining to installations allowance was incorrectly recorded as utility deposit. Retained earnings was a!ected 

by the correction due to prior period error.

� Restatement on retained earnings relates to: 

� Correction of adjustment on PPE class due to year-end verification process.

� Accounts receivable adjustment to correct incorrect recording on JDE. 
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Disclosures: Group 

  Restated values

Group 

      Previously 

reported

Company 

  Restated values

Company 

   Previously 

reported

Other operating expenses

Material management                                                                                                                                                                           -                                        -                                   -                            1 152

Office & administration                                                                                                                                                                        27 298                               29 512                             8 240                           5 545

Promotion & advertising                                                                                                                                                                        -                               1 622                                   -                           1 543

Reclassification of costs out of material management and promotion & advertising, into office and administration costs

Cash flow statement

Operating activities                                                                                                                                                          49 931                        21 202                           58 137                         57 403

Investing activities                                                                                                                                                                         49 709                         20 981                          73 198                         72 463

Cash flow statement changed due to prior year restatement on Group and reclassification on SAFCOL entity

Related parties       

Misstated was caused by formula error. Disclosure has been corrected.                                                                             1 455                              2 300                                    -                                    -

Investment in subsidiaries: Kamhlabane                                                                                                                                              -                                      -                                     -                                    -

Financial assets by category                                                                                     465 604        465 742               1 884                             2 023

Accounts receivables corrected, an invoice pertaining to installations allowance was incorrectly recorded as utility deposit

Irregular expenditure                                                                                     443 250         447 922              65 422                         71 462
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In the current year, the Group embarked on a process to address completeness of 

irregular expenditure. Irregular expenditure incurred in the prior year were identified 

and included in the register.  There were irregular expenditure items that had been 

included in the register. The error was caused by inadequate systems to identify and 

record irregular expenditure. These have been subsequently included on the irregular 

expenditure register. The Group also corrected the register casting and cross casting 

errors to ensure mathematical accuracy. Furthermore, the irregular expenditure 

population was retested in order to rectify the amounts that were erroneously 

disclosed and ultimately removed from the register. Errors relating to the accuracy of 

the amounts relating to irregular expenditure were also corrected before determining 

the irregular expenditure incurred by the Group.                                                       

Fruitless & Wasteful expenditure                  496                      443                      370                      353

In the prior year fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred was not included on the 

register. This fruitless and wasteful expenditure has been subsequently been included 

on the register in the current year. An error was identified on the fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure opening balance. The error was caused by an inadequate system to 

recognise and correctly capture fruitless and wasteful expenditure. This was corrected 

in the current year.

44.   Change in estimate

Intangible Assets

The remaining useful life of the JDE ERP system was re-assessed during the year with 

the remaining useful life being amended to 2 years. The assessment/change was made 

to more accurately reflect the book value of the software system which is still in use 

by the entity.

The Impact of the change in the current financial year is fully depicted in note 7 with a 

change in amortisation amounting to R1 095 million for the year as opposed to R3 943 

million per the initial useful life of the asset.  

45.   Risk management

The Group is exposed to various financial risks due to the nature of its activities and 

the use of various financial instruments. The Board has the overall responsibility for the 

establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to 

continue as going concern. The Group’s overall strategy is to position itself as an 

attractive business partner by continuous management of the Group’s statement of 

financial position, preserve cash and seek alternative funding alternatives.

The management of financial risks takes place within South African Forestry Company 

SOC Limited’s centralised treasury and risk management functions. The objective is to 

ensure that the Group is not unduly exposed to financial risks and is governed by a 

Treasury Mandate.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes short and longterm 

borrowings and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued 

capital, reserves and retained earnings. As a contingency plan, in order to manage the 

liquidity of the Group, a facility (combination of an assetbased finance and multioption 

facility) has been secured with a financial institution during the 2010 financial year. No 

dividends have been declared in the current financial year (2018: R 0 million). Equity 

and other reserves have been disclosed in the statement of change in equity note.
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Risk management policies have been compiled and approved by the Board. The Group’s risk management policies have been established to identify and analyse the risks, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the progress made in addressing those risks. The internal audit conducts ad hoc reviews to assess compliance with risk management 

policies.

The gearing ratio at 2020 and 2019 respectively were as follows:

Total borrowings

Finance lease obligation 20 (718 730) (51 117) (3 771)  -

Total debt (718 730) (51 117) - -

Total equity (3 139 249) (3 191 834) (532 417) (531 803)

Total capital (3  857 979) (3 242 951) (536 188) (531 803)

Gearing ratio 23% 1.6% 0.0% 0.0%

Major financial risks.

The following major financial risks that the organisation is exposed to have been identified:

• Liquidity Risk

• Forward Exchange Risk

• Credit Risk

• Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

• Market Risk

• Compliance Risk

• Operational Risk

• Price Risk
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group has insufficient funds or marketable securities available to fulfil its cash flow obligations on time. Liquidity risk arises primarily from variation 

in revenue flows as well as the Group’s ability to repay principle debt and interest.

The Group’s approach to liquidity risk management includes:

• Regular monitoring of liquidity through periodic forecast cash flow management and maintaining an adequate level of short 

term marketable securities;

• Implementation of longterm and shortterm funding and investment strategies; and

• Diversification of funding and investing activities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the contractual 

maturity dates.

Group

At 31 Mar 2020 Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
amount

Less than 1 year 25 years

Finance lease obligation 718 730 718 730 140 665 578 065

Trade and other payables 208 338 208 338 208 338 -

927 068 927 068 349 003 578 065

At 31 March 2019 Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
amount

Less than 1 year 25 years

Finance lease obligation 51 117 51 117 21 087 30 029

Trade and other payables 346 899 346 899 346 899 -

398 016 398 016 367 986 30 029
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Company

At 31 Mar 2020 
Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

amount

Less than 1 year 25 years

Finance lease obligation 3 771 3 771 3 771

Trade and other payables 137 457 137 457 137 457 -

141 228 141 228 141 228

At 31 March 2019 
Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

amount

Less than 1 year 25 years

Trade and other payables 109 854 109 854 109 854 -

109 854 109 854 109 854
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Forward Exchange Risk

Forward exchange risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in the exchange rate 

from one currency to another through higher payments or lower receipts in the local 

currency.

The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to buy and sell specified amounts of 

various foreign currencies in the future at predetermined exchange rates. The contracts 

are entered into in order to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign 

currency exchange rates on specific transactions. The contracts are matched with 

foreign currency commitments and anticipated future cash flows in foreign currencies 

consisting primarily of exports. No significant export transactions were concluded 

during the year.

Funding for the IFLOMA subsidiary in Mozambique is mainly paid in US Dollars, whilst 

expenses are mainly denominated in Metical. This has the effect that the Group 

is exposed to fluctuations in the Rand, the US Dollar and the Metical. No forward 

exchange cover was used during the year.

Financial risk management

The group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s 

financial performance. The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 

certain risk exposures. A central treasury department (group treasury) under policies 

approved by the board carries out risk management. Group treasury identifies, 

evaluates and hedges financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s operating 

units. The board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as 

written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate 

risk, and credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and nonderivative financial 

instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 

securities and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 

credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. At 

the end of the reporting period the group held deposits at call of R113 million (2019 – 

R124 million) that are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity 

risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, group treasury maintains 

flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve (comprising the 

undrawn borrowing facilities below) and cash and cash equivalents based on expected 

cash flows. These limits vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market 

in which the entity operates. In addition, the group’s liquidity management policy 

involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to 

meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 

regulatory requirements and maintaining debt-financing plans.

The Group manages its liquidity risk through review of its daily cash flow position. 

The Board monitors the liquidity position of the Group through review of six months 

cash flow forecasts. The liquidity position of the company has been assessed as part of 

going concern assessment. Management has assessed and concluded that the Group 

has access to sufficient cash resources to continue in the foreseeable future.
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Liquidity Position

Total Current Assets 1 026 092 1 089 883 319 008 286 628

Total Current Liabilities 423 431 408 762 155 325 124 048

The Group is able to meet its current obligations as they become due.

Credit risk

Trade receivables

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The group has therefore concluded 

that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates.  The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period 

of 36 month before 1 April 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 

forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 

The Group makes use of Credit Rating agencies to assess credit worthiness of costumers. The current credit profiles of customers is used to assess the future credit behaviour of 

customers before they are provided with a credit limit. The impact of Covid-19 pandemic on the economy has been assessed against the future payment behaviour of our customers. 

The Group mainly provides saw logs to its customers. We are currently the main supplier of saw logs in Mpumalanga and Limpopo. Our customers are therefore less likely to default 

on their accounts with the company as we are the only suppliers of raw materials. The historical losses are used as a basis of determining future losses based on the term of the debt. 

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined as follows for trade receivables:

2020 Current More than 30 
days past due

More than 60 
days past due

More than 120 
days past due

Total

Expected loss rate 2% 5% 50% 100%

Gross carrying amount – trade receivables 63 417 27 129 7 240 50 708 148 492

Loss allowance 1 268 1 356 3 620 38 515 44 759
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The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 

2019 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and a failure to 
make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due. The Group 
actively follows up on all outstanding debtors to ensure that they are recovered. Group 
Legal is also involved in credit disputes that require their services. CGIC insurance is 
then engaged at the point where the Legal team fails to recover.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net 
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the same line item.
Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables
In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was assessed based on the 
incurred loss model. Individual receivables which were known to be uncollectible 
were written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. The other receivables were 
assessed collectively to determine whether there was objective evidence that an 
impairment had been incurred but not yet been identified. For these receivables the 
estimated impairment losses were recognised in a separate provision for impairment. 
The group considered that there was evidence of impairment if any of the following 
indicators were present:

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor

Probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
Default or late payments (more than 30 days overdue).

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised were written off against 

the provision when there was no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Compliance risk

Compliance risk is the risk of noncompliance with any statutory requirement of 

National or local Government and includes the South African 

Compliance risk is the risk of non-compliance with any statutory requirement of 

National or local Government and includes the South African Reserve Bank, Financial 

Services Board and various financial exchanges.

This is minimised through effective monitoring and reporting to ensure compliance 

with the Public Finance Management Act, the Occupational Health & Safety Act, 

Companies Act, Income Tax Act, The Corporate Laws Amendment Act, applicable 

environmental legislation and the requirements of statutory and other bodies; 

including the Competition Authorities, South African Reserve Bank, Financial Services 

Board and the Forestry Stewardship Council. 

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 

people, and systems, or from external events. The Group’s approach to managing 

operational risk has led to the establishment of the following practices:

• Policies and procedures to sustain effective risk management; and

• The ongoing assessment of the effects of changes in the regulatory environment 

and adaptation of the processes accordingly.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that changes in log prices have on the financial performance and 

cash flows of the Group.

The impact of the slowdown in the economy has a negative impact on current and 

future demand and prices. As a result, prices have been adjusted in accordance with 

market expectations.
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Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position, are as follows:

Group

Financial assets
2020 

Carrying amount
2020 

Fair value
2019 

Carrying amount
2019 

Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 252 358 252 358 156 079 156 079

Trade and other receivables 186 613 186 613 465 604 465 604

438 971 438 971 621 683 621 683

Financial liabilities 2020 
Carrying amount

2020 
Fair value

2019 
Carrying amount

2019 
Fair value

Finance lease obligations 718 730 718 730 51 117 51 117

Trade and other payables 208 338 208 338 346 899 346 899

927 068 927 068 398 016 398 016
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Company

Financial Assets
2020 

Carrying amount

2020 

Fair value

2019 

Carrying amount

2019 

Fair value

Other financial assets        992        992 1 353 1 353

Cash and cash equivalents 231 037 231 037 129 886 129 886

Trade and other receivables     1 690     1 690 1 884 1 884

Loans to group companies  Noninterest bearing loans 85 798 85 798 154 632 154 632

319 517 319 517 287 755 287 755

Financial liabilities
2020 

Carrying amount

2020 

Fair value

2019 

Carrying amount

2019 

Fair value

Finance lease obligations 3 771 3 771  -  -

Trade and other payables 137 457 137 457 109 854 109 854

141 228 141 228 109 854 109 854
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Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in interest rates 
through higher interest payments or lower interest receipts. The Group does not have 
significant liabilities financed through finance lease. The interest rate associated with 
each finance lease is negotiated and agreed before the finance lease is concluded. 
Financial institutions consider the company to be medium risk with its interest 
payments linked to prime. 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the Group funds working capital shortfalls 
and assets, and invests surplus funds from time to time. The Group utilises limited 
asset based finance leases to fund assets. These finance leases rates are fixed interest 
rates linked to prime. The Group also invests funds in the money market at both fixed 
and floating interest rates. The underlying interest rate risk associated with this risk is 
managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating interest rates.

Shortfalls are funded by the holding company, South African Forestry Company SOC 
Limited, as and when required. Surplus funds from operations are transferred to the 
holding company on a daily basis. These surpluses or shortfalls bear interest on a 
floating interest intercompany account. 

Basis for determining fair values
The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating 
the fair values of financial instruments reflected above.
Available for sale financial assets

The fair value of available for sale financial assets is determined by reference to the 
deemed cost price or quoted price at the reporting date.
Trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future 
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. Carrying 
amount approximates fair value due to the shortterm nature of trade and other 
receivables.

Other loans and receivables
The fair value of other loans and receivables is based on cash flows discounted using 
the effective interest rate at the reporting date. Carrying amount approximates fair 
value due to the shortterm nature of other loans and receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is based on cash flows discounted using the 
effective interest rate at the reporting date. Carrying amount approximates fair value 
due to the shortterm nature of cash and cash equivalents.

Borrowings
Additional text the fair value of borrowings is based on cash flows discounted using 
the effective interest rate at the reporting date. For finance leases, the market rate of 
interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

Other financial liabilities
The fair value of other financial liabilities is based on cash flows discounted using the 
effective interest rate at the reporting date. Carrying amount approximates fair value 
due to the shortterm nature of other financial liabilities.

Trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other payables is estimated as the present value of future 

cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. Carrying 

amount approximates fair value due to the shortterm nature of trade and other 

payables.
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Interest rates used for determining fair values

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows were as follows:

• 31 March 2020: 8% to 10.5%

• 31 March 2019: 8% to 10.5%

Interest rate risk sensitivity:

Finance costs

%� 5% Increase in interest rate 236 729  4 684 2 009     45

%� 5% Decrease in interest rate  214 184  4 238 1 832     40

Profit / Loss after tax

%� 5% Increase in interest rate 69 651 123 517  1 080  3 088

%� 5% Decrease in interest rate  63 018  111 753  985 2 794

5% rate used linked to the average CPI rate for the year. 

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Levels of fair value measurements

Level 3

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets

Biological assets

Biological assets 3 303 758 3 213 285 - -

Other financial assets

Unlisted shares (NTE & Guardrisk) 2 735 3 096 992 1 353

Total 3 306 493 3 216 381 992 1 353

* Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss are included in other income on the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 

45.  Fair values

Information about valuation techniques and inputs used to derive level 3 fair values

Biological assets  standing timber

The valuation methodology used to determine the fair value of the biological assets at yearend is the discounted cash flow method, which is complex, highly judgemental and based 

on significant assumptions.

The most significant judgements and assumptions relate to:

• The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) calculation;

• A volume adjustment factor due to susceptibility of the plantations to the environment;

• The price per cubic metre based on the current and future expected market prices per log class (profit margin); and

• Operating costs based on unit cost of the forest management activities.
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A variation of 10% on the significant assumptions will have the following impact on the valuation of biological assets fair value.

Weighted average range of 

probabilities

High Low

10% change in Weighted Average Capital 3 812 775 3 235 892

10% change in Price 4 310 558 2 695 341

10% change in Costs 3 157 961 3 847 938

10% change in Volume 4 161 206 2 844 692

The higher the timber price and yield per hectare, the higher the fair value. The lower the discount rate, the higher the fair value.

Level 3 Reconciliation:

Opening balance 3 582 937 3 692 831

Harvested timber (725 260) (933 271)

Fair value 903 440 823 377

Closing balance 3 761 117 3 582 937
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46.  Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies 

applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to 

finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 

contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group reported a loss after tax R 66 335 (2019:  

loss R 98 376). In the same period the Group had operating cash inflows of R 252 358 

(2019: R 156 079). A cash flow forecast for the next 12 months prepared by management 

has indicated that the consolidated Group will have sufficient cash assets to be able to 

meet its debts as and when they are due. 

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of 

factors. The most significant of these is that the directors continue to procure funding 

for the ongoing operations for the Group. The directors believe the Group has ability 

to raise funds to continue operating in the near future. 

47.  Events after the reporting period

Since December 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely affected the local and 

international economy. The pandemic resulted in the limitation and restriction of how 

the company does and is able to do its normal business operations. Measures taken to 

contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, 

and closures of non-essential services have triggered significant disruptions to the 

business. 

The government and central bank have responded with monetary and fiscal 

interventions to stabilise economic conditions. The company has been able to access 

funding through the UIF-Covid 19 TERS system. The Company has determined that 

these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the financial position 

and results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 March 2020 have not been 

adjusted to reflect their impact. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, 

as well as the effectiveness of government and central bank responses, remains 

unclear at this time. It is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of 

these consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and results of the 

Company for future periods.

The company holds weekly Covid-19 meeting to assess the risk and impact of the 

disease on its operations. As at the date of the report; apart from the mandatory 

lockdown, the pandemic has not affected the financial performance of the company. 

The company has been able to realise more than budgeted revenue. The company has 

also been able to reduce its operational costs to mitigate the effects of the pandemic. 

The company order cover and projected sales are in line with budget. The company 

believes that it will be able to recover from the effects of the lockdown at the beginning 

of the year.
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Other than above, there were no other material adjusting or non-adjusting events that were identified after year-end. 

48.  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

There were a number of incidents of fruitless and wasteful expenditure which were individually or collectively (where items are closely related) below the materiality threshold. 

Management continues to institute preventive and corrective measures, including disciplinary action, as considered appropriate. Funds are also recovered as relevant based on the 

outcome of the disciplinary hearings.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure movement

Opening balance 495 352 370 234

Incurred for the year  2 146  144 20 136

Closing balance 2 641 496 390 370

49.  Irregular Expenditure

Section 55(2)(b)(i) of the PFMA requires that the particulars of any irregular expenditure, fruitless and wasteful expenditure as well as material losses due to criminal conduct be 

disclosed in the annual financial statements. The group has to report any losses that individually or collectively (where items are closely related) exceed R25 million in terms of the 

significance and materiality framework agreed with the shareholder.

Irregular expenditure is defined as expenditure, other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable 

legislation. The scope is very broad as it includes all transgressions of any laws and regulations as well as internal policies and procedures regardless of whether the breaches were 

deliberate or accidental, or if they happened unknowingly or in good faith, or if value was received or not.
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Condonation of the irregular expenditure is obtained from the relevant internal governance structure, government department or National Treasury.

Irregular 2020 2019 2020 2019

Opening balance 443 250 273 015 65 422 49 879

Irregular expenditure identified in current year 183 260 170 235 9 071 15 543

Condoned in current year relating to prior year - - - -

Condoned in current year relating to current year -  - - -

626 510 443 250 74 493 65 422

Non-compliance with SCM Policies

rregular expenditure relating to non-compliance with SCM policies has been identified. The majority of the expenditure relates to costs incurred through contracts and quotations 
that were awarded without following prescribed SCM policies and Treasury Regulations. 
In order to ensure that these findings will not be repeated various measures have been put in place to ensure that all SCM Policies and Treasury Regulations are followed before 
awarding a contract and when quotations are sourced. 
Furthermore, investigations have been instituted to identify root causes of the irregular expenditure and assist with consequence management. The investigations also review and 
test whether the company for services and goods provided received value for money.
The SCM environment is continuously been strengthened and supported by appropriate oversight to eliminate future non-compliance. Irregular expenditure incurred in the current 
year has been further sub-divided into the following categories

Due to other service providers being unfairly disqualified                                             61 823 85 026  -  -

Minimum quotes not obtained                    80 186 85 026 2 095            1 880

Other non-compliance with supply chain policy                                                            484 501 273 198 72 398           63 542

Irregular expenditure identified in the current year                                                     626 510 443 250 74 493           65 422
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PO Box 1771, Silverton, 0127

43 Ingersol, Lynnwood Glen, Pretoria, 

0081 012-436-6300

info@safcol.co.za

www.safcol.co.za

GET IN TOUCH


	_GoBack
	Back5
	Back6
	Back7
	Back8
	E6a
	Back22
	Back23
	Back14B
	Back14C
	Introduction_scope
	Back14D
	Properly_presented
	Back14E
	Back14
	Insert_programme
	Back14F
	Back14G
	Back24
	_GoBack
	Back16
	Companies_Act
	Back17
	EE14
	Back18
	Annexure
	Deletegroups
	_GoBack
	_GoBack
	_GoBack
	_GoBack

